THE NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF ADVANCED LEGAL STUDIES, KOCHI



DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF LAWS (LL.M.) IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW (2024-2025)

ON THE TOPIC

CHALLENGES IN CROSS BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT: WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY

Under the Guidance and Supervision of

Dr. Athira P. S.

Assistant Professor

The National University of Advanced Legal Studies

Submitted by

Shimleel I. Thaiv

LM0224019

LL.M. (International Trade Law)

THE NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF ADVANCED LEGAL STUDIES, KOCHI



DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF LAWS (LL.M.) IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW (2024-2025)

ON THE TOPIC

CHALLENGES IN CROSS BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT: WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY

Under the Guidance and Supervision of

Dr. Athira P. S.

Assistant Professor

The National University of Advanced Legal Studies

Submitted by

Shimleel I. Thaiv

LM0224019

LL.M. (International Trade Law)

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that Mr. SHIMLEEL I. THAIV, Reg. No. LM0224019 has submitted

his Dissertation titled "CHALLENGES IN CROSS BORDER PATENT

ENFORCEMENT: WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE PHARMACEUTICAL

INDUSTRY", in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the award of Degree of Master

of Laws in International Trade Law to the National University of Advanced Legal Studies,

Kochi under my guidance and supervision. It is also affirmed that the Dissertation

submitted by him in original, bona fide and genuine.

Date: 28.05.2025 **Dr. ATHIRA P.S**

Place: Kochi Guide & Supervisor

Assistant Professor

NUALS, Kochi

2

DECLARATION

I declare that this dissertation titled, "CHALLENGES IN CROSS BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT: WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY" researched and submitted by me to the National University of Advanced Legal Studies, Kochi in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the award of Degree of Master of Laws in International Trade Law, under the guidance and supervision of Dr. ATHIRA P.S is an original, bona fide work and it has been pursued for academic purposes. This work or any part thereof has not been submitted by me or anyone else for the award of another degree of either this University or any other University.

Date: 28.05.2025 SHIMLEEL I. THAIV

Place: Kochi Reg.No: LM0224019

LL.M, INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW

NUALS, Kochi

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all those who have aided me through the completion of this dissertation

First and foremost, I would like to express my profound gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Athira P S, whose guidance, expertise, and unwavering support have been invaluable throughout this research journey. Her constructive feedback and encouragement have been pivotal in shaping this dissertation.

I am deeply grateful to the Vice-Chancellor, Hon'ble Justice (Retd.) S. Siri Jagan for his constant support throughout the year. I sincerely extend my gratitude to the entire faculty at NUALS for their consistent guidance and steadfast support.

I extend my heartfelt appreciation to the University Library staff for their timely assistance, which was crucial in carrying out this research work. Special thanks are extended towards the non-faculty staff of NUALS.

Lastly, I am profoundly thankful to my family and friends. Their constant love and support have been the backbone of this project, allowing me to pursue it with full spirit and enthusiasm. I thank God Almighty for His blessings, guidance, and strength throughout my dissertation work.

PREFACE

This dissertation is the culmination of a year-long academic journey undertaken as part of the Master of Laws (LL.M.) program in International Trade Law at the National University of Advanced Legal Studies (NUALS), Kochi. It reflects a deep engagement with the pressing legal and policy challenges surrounding the enforcement of pharmaceutical patents in an increasingly globalized world.

The topic "Challenges in Cross Border Patent Enforcement: With Special Reference to the Pharmaceutical Industry" was chosen with a view to addressing one of the most complex intersections of international trade, public health, and intellectual property law. The pharmaceutical sector, being central to innovation and public welfare, presents unique legal dilemmas, particularly in developing economies like India. As cross-border transactions become the norm in pharmaceutical commerce, the absence of a harmonized international enforcement mechanism raises critical concerns about both innovation incentives and access to medicines.

This work attempts to bridge theory and practice by combining doctrinal legal analysis with comparative and policy-oriented perspectives. It draws upon Indian jurisprudence, international treaties such as TRIPS, and enforcement experiences in jurisdictions like the United States, European Union, and China. Particular attention is paid to India's unique position as a leading exporter of generic medicines and its balancing act between compliance with international obligations and domestic public health imperatives.

The research encapsulated in this dissertation owes much to the guidance and inspiration received throughout my academic journey. It is with a sense of humility and responsibility that I present this work-not merely as an academic exercise but as a small contribution to the evolving discourse on intellectual property law and equitable access to healthcare.

I hope this dissertation serves as a meaningful addition to the scholarship in this domain and provides a foundation for further inquiry and reform in cross-border patent enforcement.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviations	Definition
AG	Aktiengesellschaft (a German term for a corporation limited by
	shares)
AI	Artificial Intelligence
AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
API	Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient
ARIPO	African Regional Intellectual Property Organization
BRICS	Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa
CBP	Customs and Border Protection (U.S.)
CJEU	Court of Justice of the European Union
COVAX	COVID-19 Vaccines Global Access Facility
COVID	Coronavirus Disease
DCGI	Drugs Controller General of India
DSB	Dispute Settlement Body (of the WTO)
EAPO	Eurasian Patent Organization
EPC	European Patent Convention
EPO	European Patent Office
EU	European Union
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FTA	Free Trade Agreement
GATT	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ICESCR	International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
INTERPOL	International Criminal Police Organization
ION	ION Geophysical Corporation
IP	Intellectual Property
IPAB	Intellectual Property Appellate Board
IPR	Intellectual Property Rights

ITC	International Trade Commission (U.S.)
OAPI	Organisation Africaine de la Propriété Intellectuelle
PCT	Patent Cooperation Treaty
SCC	Supreme Court Cases
TRIPS	Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights
UK	United Kingdom
UPC	Unified Patent Court
US	United States
USPTO	United States Patent and Trademark Office
WIPO	World Intellectual Property Organization
WTO	World Trade Organization

CASES

- 1. Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).
- 2. Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, (2009) 41 PTC 634 (Del) (India).
- 3. *Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp.*, Compulsory License Decision, Controller of Patents, India (2012).
- 4. F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., (2009) 40 PTC 125 (Del) (India).
- 5. Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Glenmark Pharms. Ltd., (2015) 62 PTC 257 (Del) (India).
- 6. Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518 (1972) (U.S.).
- 7. WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 585 U.S. __ (2018) (U.S.).
- 8. *Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc.*, 696 F.3d 872 (9th Cir. 2012) (U.S.).
- 9. Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (U.S.).
- 10. Modi Entm't Network v. WSG Cricket Pte. Ltd., (2003) 4 SCC 341 (India).
- 11. *Huawei Techs. Co. v. Conversant Wireless Licensing SARL*, Supreme People's Court (China), 2019 (Anti-suit injunction case).
- 12. Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische, Case C-616/20, Judgment of the CJEU (2022).
- 13. eBay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.C., 547 U.S. 388 (2006).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	11
1.1 Introduction and Background	11
1.2 Statement of the Problem	12
1.3 Literature Review	13
1.4 Objectives of the Study	16
1.5 Research Questions	16
1.6 Hypothesis	17
1.7 Chapterization	17
CHAPTER 2: CROSS-BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT: LEGAL AN	D
PROCEDURAL CHALLENGES	19
2.1 Introduction	19
2.2 The Territoriality Principle in Patent Law	22
2.3 The Indian Legal Framework	27
2.4 Comparative Perspectives: US, EU, and China	31
2.5 Mechanisms for Addressing Cross-Border Infringement	38
2.6 International and Regional Cooperation	44
2.7 Challenges and Gaps in Enforcement	49
2.8 Conclusion	53
CHAPTER 3: REFORMING CROSS-BORDER PHARMACEUTICAL PA	TENT
ENFORCEMENT: INDIAN PERSPECTIVES AND GLOBAL PATHWAY	S 57
3.1 Introduction	57
3.2 Comparative Policy Analysis: What Works and What Fails	64
3.3 The Indian Legal and Policy Landscape: Gaps and Opportunities	69
3.4 International and Regional Cooperation: India's Role and Interests	74

3.5 Proposals for Reform: Toward a Balanced and Effective Regime	78
3.6 Conclusion	82
CHAPTER 4: EMERGING CHALLENGES AND FUTURE TRAJECTOR	IES IN
CROSS-BORDER PHARMACEUTICAL PATENT ENFORCEMENT	85
4.1 Introduction	85
4.2 Emerging Trends in Global Pharmaceutical Patent Enforcement	88
4.3 Technological Disruptions and Enforcement Challenges	91
4.4 India's Legal and Policy Evolution	95
4.5 Regional and Bilateral Cooperation Models	99
4.6 Ethical and Normative Debates	102
4.7 Strategic Pathways for India	105
4.8 Conclusion	109
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION SYNTHESIZING THE CROSS-BORDER F	ATENT
ENFORCEMENT DILEMMA: AN INDIAN PERSPECTIVE ON GLOBA	L
CHALLENGES AND PATHWAYS FORWARD	110
5.1 Revisiting the Hypothesis: Territoriality vs. Globalization	110
5.2 Key Findings: Bridging Innovation and Access	113
5.3 Contributions to Literature and Policy	117
5.4 Limitations and Unresolved Challenges	120
5.5 Forward-Looking Recommendations	123
5.6 Conclusion	127
BIBLIOGRAPHY	131
PDS CERTIFICATE	134

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction and Background

Patents are the cornerstone of innovation in the pharmaceutical industry, granting inventors exclusive rights to recoup the immense investments required for drug development.¹ While this system is intended to reward innovation, the global nature of pharmaceutical markets exposes a fundamental tension: patents are inherently territorial, enforceable only within the jurisdiction of grant.² There is no "world patent"; protection must be secured and enforced country by country, or through limited regional systems.³ As the World Intellectual Property Organization notes, "patents are territorial rights, which means an invention is protected only in the countries or regions where a patent has been granted."⁴

This territoriality, once less problematic in an era of localized markets, now collides with the reality of transnational pharmaceutical supply chains. A single medicine may be invented in the United States, clinically tested in the European Union, manufactured in India or China, and sold worldwide.⁵ Patent holders must therefore navigate a patchwork of national laws, often facing inconsistent outcomes and duplicative litigation.⁶ The Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property codifies the principle of national independence of patents, meaning that the grant or refusal of a patent in one country has no bearing on its status elsewhere.⁷ This leads to divergent results, such as the anti-cancer drug imatinib (Gleevec) being patented in many countries but denied in India on public-interest grounds.⁸

Enforcement challenges are compounded when alleged infringement spans borders-for example, when manufacturing occurs in one country and export or sale in another. Courts are generally reluctant to adjudicate foreign patent rights, and most countries limit the reach of their patent statutes to domestic acts. The result is a fragmented

¹ Dreyfuss, Rochelle. The Costs of Cross-Border Patent Enforcement, 25 Fordham Intell. Prop. Media & Ent. L.J. 817, 820 (2015)

² Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305 ³ Id

⁴ World Intellectual Property Organization, What is a Patent?, WIPO Publication No. 450(E), at 4 (2020).

⁵ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 17–19

⁶ Shamnad Basheer & T. Prashant Reddy, The 'Indirect Infringement' Conundrum in Indian Patent Law, 14 J. Intell. Prop. L. & Prac. 1032, 1034–36 (2019)

⁷ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305.

⁸ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁹ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972).

enforcement landscape, with patent holders and generic manufacturers alike facing uncertainty and complexity.

Recent years have seen incremental progress in bridging this gap, particularly in the European Union. The creation of the Unified Patent Court (UPC) and the EU unitary patent, effective June 2023, allows for centralized litigation and enforcement across multiple EU member states.¹⁰ However, these innovations remain geographically confined and do not eliminate the fundamental territoriality of patent rights.

In sum, the pharmaceutical industry's globalized nature stands in stark contrast to the national boundaries of patent enforcement, setting the stage for the challenges and debates explored in this dissertation.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

This dissertation addresses the persistent challenge of enforcing patent rights across national borders, with a particular focus on the pharmaceutical sector. Although pharmaceutical commerce is inherently global, patent enforcement remains fundamentally territorial.¹¹ This disconnect gives rise to a series of legal and practical difficulties for patent holders, generic manufacturers, courts, and policymakers.

First, the lack of a unified international enforcement forum means that patent owners must litigate separately in each country where infringement is alleged. ¹² This not only multiplies litigation costs and delays but also results in inconsistent outcomes: a patent may be upheld as valid and infringed in one jurisdiction, yet invalidated or unenforced in another. ¹³ The imatinib (Gleevec) case is illustrative-while the patent was enforceable in the United States and European Union, it was denied in India, enabling Indian firms to produce generics that might infringe abroad. ¹⁴ Such inconsistencies encourage strategic forum shopping and prolong legal uncertainty.

Second, cross-border enforcement raises complex jurisdictional and procedural hurdles. Courts generally limit their authority to acts occurring within their territory and are reluctant to enforce foreign patent judgments with extraterritorial reach. As a result, even a favourable ruling in one country does not guarantee relief elsewhere, and

¹⁴ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India)

¹⁰ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

¹¹ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305.

¹² Supra note 1

¹³ Id

¹⁵ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972).

monetary damages or injunctions may not be recognized or enforced abroad. ¹⁶ Treaties like the Hague Judgments Convention further complicate matters by excluding intellectual property from their scope. ¹⁷

Third, substantive differences in national patent laws and remedies exacerbate the problem. What qualifies as patentable or infringing in one country may not in another. India's Section 3(d) of the Patents Act, for example, sets a higher bar for pharmaceutical patentability, while other countries may have broader compulsory licensing or research exemptions. In Enforcement strength also varies: some jurisdictions grant automatic injunctions for infringement, while others, such as India and the U.S. after *eBay v. MercExchange*, may limit injunctive relief to protect public health. 20

Finally, these enforcement challenges have significant implications for public health and equity. Strong patent enforcement can impede the flow of affordable generics to low-income populations, while weak enforcement may undermine innovation incentives.²¹ The global nature of pharmaceutical supply chains and divergent national exhaustion doctrines further complicate access to medicines and raise normative questions about the proper scope of patent rights.

In sum, the absence of a coherent and effective cross-border enforcement mechanism leaves patent holders navigating a fragmented system that often fails to provide timely or adequate protection, while also risking barriers to equitable access to medicines. This dissertation investigates these doctrinal, practical, and policy challenges, seeking pathways for reform and international cooperation.

1.3 Literature Review

The territorial nature of patent rights and the resulting challenges in cross-border enforcement have been the subject of extensive scholarly and legal analysis. The foundational principle that "patents are territorial rights" is well established in both international treaties and national laws, with the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property codifying the independence of patents granted in different

¹⁶ I.d

¹⁷ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

¹⁸ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 3(d), India Code (1970).

¹⁹ I.d

²⁰ eBay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.C., 547 U.S. 388 (2006).

²¹ Frederick M. Abbott, The WTO Medicines Decision: World Pharmaceutical Trade and the Protection of Public Health, 99 Am. J. Int'l L. 317, 319–20 (2005).

countries.²² Scholars have emphasized that this principle, while historically effective in less integrated markets, now creates significant friction in the context of globalized pharmaceutical innovation and trade.²³

Territoriality and Its Implications

Early analyses, such as those by Bodenhausen and Cornish, underscore that the territorial limitation of patents was originally designed to respect national sovereignty and accommodate divergent policy priorities.²⁴ However, as Grosse Ruse-Khan notes, the globalization of pharmaceutical research, manufacturing, and distribution has exposed the inadequacy of purely national enforcement mechanisms.²⁵ The literature documents numerous instances where the same pharmaceutical patent is found valid and infringed in one jurisdiction but invalid or unenforceable in another, leading to legal uncertainty for both originator and generic companies.²⁶

Cross-Border Enforcement: Judicial and Legislative Responses

Legal scholars have examined the difficulties patent holders face in pursuing infringers operating across multiple jurisdictions.²⁷ As summarized by Trimble, the lack of a "world patent" or international enforcement tribunal means that patent owners must initiate parallel litigation in each country where protection is sought.²⁸ This fragmentation is not only costly but also results in inconsistent judicial outcomes, as national courts apply their own laws and procedures.²⁹

Recent years have seen courts and legislators' experiment with doctrines aimed at mitigating the rigidity of territoriality. For example, U.S. law was amended after the Supreme Court's decision in Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp. to extend liability for supplying components from the United States for assembly abroad.³⁰ Similarly, the U.S. Supreme Court in WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp. allowed for the

²² Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis, Mar. 20, 1883, as revised at Stockholm, July 14, 1967, 21 U.S.T. 1583, 828 U.N.T.S. 305

²³ Rochelle C. Dreyfuss, The Territoriality of Patent Law, 19 Berkeley Tech. L.J. 753, 755–56 (2004)

²⁴ G.H.C. Bodenhausen, Guide to the Application of the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property 13–14 (1968); William R. Cornish, Intellectual Property: Patents, Copyright, Trademarks and Allied Rights 317–18 (8th ed. 2013).

²⁵ Henning Grosse Ruse-Khan, The Protection of Intellectual Property in International Law 236–39 (2016).

²⁶ Frederick M. Abbott, The Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health: Lighting a Dark Corner at the WTO, 5 J. Int'l Econ. L. 469, 472–74 (2002).

²⁷ Graeme B. Dinwoodie, International Intellectual Property Litigation: A Vehicle for Reshaping Territoriality, 23 Fordham Int'l L.J. 1181, 1184–87 (2000).

²⁸ Marketa Trimble, Global Patents: Limits of Transnational Enforcement 27–31 (2012)

²⁹ Paul Torremans, Cross-Border Enforcement of Patent Rights, in Research Handbook on Cross-Border Enforcement of Intellectual Property 1, 3–6 (Paul Torremans ed., 2014).

³⁰ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518 (1972); 35 U.S.C. § 271(f).

recovery of foreign lost profits in certain circumstances, reflecting a willingness to address the extraterritorial effects of domestic infringement.³¹ European legal scholarship has closely followed the development of the Unified Patent Court (UPC) and the EU unitary patent, noting that these innovations represent a significant, albeit regional, step toward supranational enforcement.³²

International and Regional Harmonization Efforts

The World Trade Organization's Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) has been widely analysed for its role in harmonizing minimum standards of patent protection.³³ While TRIPS obligates members to provide effective enforcement mechanisms, it stops short of creating a cross-border enforcement process, leaving the task to national authorities.³⁴ The exclusion of intellectual property from the 2019 Hague Judgments Convention has been criticized in the literature as a missed opportunity to facilitate mutual recognition of patent judgments.³⁵

Within the European Union, commentators such as Pila and Wadlow have highlighted the potential of the UPC to streamline enforcement and reduce the risk of divergent outcomes, although they caution that the system's effectiveness will depend on its uptake and the resolution of jurisdictional issues.³⁶ Outside Europe, the literature discusses tools such as Arrow declarations in the UK and anti-suit injunctions in the context of standard-essential patents as examples of courts grappling with transnational patent disputes.³⁷

Pharmaceutical Industry Context

The pharmaceutical sector is frequently cited in the literature as a prime example of the challenges posed by territorial patent enforcement.³⁸ Studies by Sampat and Shadlen, as well as case analyses of disputes over drugs like imatinib (Gleevec), illustrate how public health considerations and national interests can lead to divergent patent

³¹ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018)

³² Justine Pila & Christopher Wadlow, The Unitary EU Patent System 105–09 (2015).

³³ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Annex 1C, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

³⁴ Daniel Gervais, The TRIPS Agreement: Drafting History and Analysis 391–93 (4th ed. 2012).

³⁵ Geneva Act of the Hague Agreement Concerning the International Registration of Industrial Designs, July 2, 1999, WIPO Pub. No. 227(E); see also Xandra Kramer, The Exclusion of IP from the Hague Judgments Convention, 16 J. Private Int'l L. 255, 256–58 (2020).

³⁶ Justine Pila & Christopher Wadlow, The Unitary EU Patent System 105–09 (2015)

³⁷ Lionel Bently et al., Intellectual Property Law 544–46 (6th ed. 2022)

³⁸ Bhaven N. Sampat & Kenneth C. Shadlen, Patent Politics: Life Sciences and Intellectual Property in Comparative Perspective 17–21 (2017).

outcomes.³⁹ The seizure of Indian generic medicines in transit through Europe has been the subject of both legal and policy critique, with scholars arguing that aggressive enforcement can undermine access to medicines and conflict with international trade norms.⁴⁰

The literature thus reflects a consensus that the territoriality of patent rights, while foundational, is increasingly misaligned with the realities of global pharmaceutical markets.⁴¹ While regional innovations such as the UPC offer partial solutions, the overall landscape remains fragmented, with significant implications for both innovation and access to medicines.

1.4 Objectives of the Study

This study sets out several interrelated objectives to address the problems outlined above:

- To critically analyse the legal and practical challenges of enforcing pharmaceutical patents across national borders, with particular attention to how territoriality, jurisdictional limits, and divergent national laws impede effective and coherent enforcement.
- To evaluate how current international, regional, and national legal frameworks address cross-border patent enforcement in the pharmaceutical sector, and to assess their impact on broader policy concerns such as access to medicines and public health.
- 3. To propose and assess potential legal and policy reforms-both domestic and international-that could improve the efficiency, fairness, and equity of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement

1.5 Research Questions

To guide the inquiry, the dissertation is structured around several key research questions:

1. What are the principal legal and procedural challenges arising from the territorial enforcement of pharmaceutical patents in a globalized market?

³⁹ Shamnad Basheer, India's Tryst with TRIPS: The Patents (Amendment) Act 2005, 1 Indian J. L. & Tech. 15, 19–21 (2005).

⁴⁰ Carlos M. Correa, Trade Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights: A Commentary on the TRIPS Agreement 326–28 (2d ed. 2020).

⁴¹ Rochelle C. Dreyfuss, The Territoriality of Patent Law, 19 Berkeley Tech. L.J. 753, 755–56 (2004).

- 2. How do inconsistencies in national patent enforcement frameworks affect innovation incentives and access to medicines?
- 3. What gaps exist in current international and regional frameworks for addressing cross-border patent disputes in the pharmaceutical sector?
- 4. What reforms could harmonize enforcement mechanisms while balancing patent protection and public health priorities?

1.6 Hypothesis

The fragmented nature of cross-border patent enforcement mechanisms creates significant legal and procedural challenges for the pharmaceutical industry, resulting in inefficiencies that hinder innovation and restrict equitable access to medicines.

1.7 Chapterization

Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter introduces the theme of cross-border patent enforcement, highlights the problem statement, reviews the relevant literature, and outlines the research objectives, questions, and methodology.

Chapter 2: Cross-Border Patent Enforcement: Legal and Procedural Challenges

This chapter examines the principle of territoriality, the Indian patent regime, and compares enforcement frameworks in the US, EU, and China, highlighting key legal and procedural obstacles.

Chapter 3: Reforming Cross-Border Pharmaceutical Patent Enforcement: Indian Perspectives and Global Pathways

The chapter analyses India's policy stance, evaluates global reform efforts, and explores legal reforms and cooperative strategies to improve enforcement while safeguarding access to medicines.

Chapter 4: Emerging Challenges and Future Trajectories in Cross-Border Pharmaceutical Patent Enforcement

It discusses evolving global trends, technological disruptions, and ethical dilemmas in patent enforcement, with a focus on India's strategic role in shaping equitable international frameworks.

Chapter 5: Conclusion Synthesizing the Cross-Border Patent Enforcement Dilemma: An Indian Perspective on Global Challenges and Pathways Forward

This final chapter summarizes findings, revisits the hypothesis, reflects on research limitations, and proposes forward-looking recommendations to balance patent rights and public health priorities.

CHAPTER 2: CROSS-BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT: LEGAL AND PROCEDURAL CHALLENGES

2.1 Introduction

The pharmaceutical industry stands at the intersection of science, commerce, and law, driven by innovation yet shaped fundamentally by the legal architecture of intellectual property rights. Patents, in particular, are the lifeblood of pharmaceutical innovation, granting inventors a time-limited monopoly in exchange for public disclosure of their inventions. This monopoly is intended to incentivize the enormous investment required to develop new medicines, a process that often takes over a decade and costs billions of dollars. The rationale is straightforward: without the promise of exclusive rights, few companies would risk the resources needed to bring life-saving drugs to market.⁴²

Yet, the very nature of pharmaceutical innovation and commerce is global. New medicines are developed in one country, clinically tested and licensed in others, manufactured in still others, and ultimately distributed to patients worldwide. This internationalization of the pharmaceutical supply chain is especially pronounced in India, which has emerged as a global hub for generic drug manufacturing and is often referred to as the "pharmacy of the developing world." Indian pharmaceutical companies supply affordable medicines not only to the domestic market but also to developing and developed countries alike, making India central to global access-to-medicines debates. The developing are debates.

However, the legal framework governing patents is fundamentally territorial. As codified in the Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property, "patents applied for in the various countries of the Union shall be independent of patents obtained for the same invention in other countries of the Union." This principle means that a patent granted in India gives its owner rights only within India; a U.S. patent is enforceable only in the United States, and so on. The World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) emphasizes that "patents are territorial rights, which means an

⁴² Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

⁴³ Shamnad Basheer, Compulsory Licensing in India: A Silver Bullet for Access to Medicines?, 1 Indian J. L. & Tech. 1, 3 (2012).

⁴⁴ Id. at 2.

⁴⁵ Id.; see also Frederick M. Abbott, The WTO Medicines Decision: World Pharmaceutical Trade and the Protection of Public Health, 99 Am. J. Int'l L. 317, 319–20 (2005).

⁴⁶ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305.

⁴⁷ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 48, India Code (1970); 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) (2022).

invention is protected only in the countries or regions where a patent has been granted." There is no such thing as a "world patent" with universal effect, and no international court or authority with the power to enforce patents globally.⁴⁸

The consequences of this territoriality are profound, especially in the pharmaceutical sector. In an era of transnational supply chains and cross-border commerce, the fragmentation of patent rights creates significant enforcement challenges.⁴⁹ A pharmaceutical company seeking to protect its innovation must obtain and enforce patents in every country where it seeks protection, and must initiate separate legal proceedings in each jurisdiction where infringement occurs.⁵⁰ This process is costly, time-consuming, and fraught with the risk of inconsistent outcomes.⁵¹ For example, a drug patent may be upheld in one country but invalidated or denied in another, as famously occurred with the cancer drug imatinib (Gleevec), whose patent was refused in India on public interest grounds despite being granted in many other jurisdictions.⁵² The difficulties are compounded when infringing conduct itself crosses borders. Modern pharmaceutical production often involves multiple countries: active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) may be manufactured in India, formulated in China, packaged in Europe, and shipped to markets worldwide.⁵³ Infringers may exploit this fragmentation by splitting infringing acts across jurisdictions, making it difficult for patent holders to obtain effective relief.⁵⁴ National courts are generally reluctant to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents, both out of respect for sovereignty and due to practical difficulties in applying foreign law.⁵⁵ As the U.S. Supreme Court has observed, U.S. patent law "makes no claim to extraterritorial effect; these laws do not, and were not intended to, operate beyond the limits of the United States."56 Indian courts have taken a similar approach, emphasizing the independence and territoriality of Indian patents.⁵⁷

_

⁴⁸ Supra note 1 at 817, 820.

⁴⁹ Paul Torremans, Cross-Border Patent Litigation in Europe: Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation, 44 IIC 1, 2–3 (2013)

⁵⁰ Id

⁵¹ Id

⁵² Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁵³ Supra note 6 at.1032, 1033–34.

⁵⁴ I.d

⁵⁵ Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887, 900 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

⁵⁶ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972).

⁵⁷ Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC OnLine Del 8672

Efforts to address these challenges at the international level have been only partially successful. The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), administered by the World Trade Organization, harmonizes minimum standards for patent protection and obligates member states to provide effective enforcement mechanisms.⁵⁸ However, TRIPS does not create any international enforcement tribunal or cross-border enforcement mechanism; enforcement remains firmly within the domain of national courts and authorities.⁵⁹ Attempts to facilitate cross-border enforcement of intellectual property rights through instruments such as the Hague Judgments Convention have foundered on the lack of consensus, with IP judgments explicitly excluded from the Convention's scope.⁶⁰

Regional initiatives, most notably in the European Union, have made greater strides. The creation of the Unified Patent Court (UPC) and the EU unitary patent regime allows for centralized enforcement of patents across multiple EU member states, reducing the need for duplicative litigation and the risk of inconsistent judgments. Recent decisions of the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) have further clarified the circumstances under which a single national court may exercise jurisdiction over cross-border patent disputes within the EU. However, these innovations remain geographically confined and are not directly replicable in other regions, including South Asia. Sa

For India, the challenges of cross-border patent enforcement are particularly acute. As a major exporter of generic medicines, India has been at the centre of high-profile disputes over the seizure of Indian generics in transit through Europe and over the grant of compulsory licenses for essential medicines.⁶⁴ Indian law, as embodied in the Patents Act, 1970, and interpreted by the courts, reflects a careful balance between the protection of patent rights and the imperative of ensuring access to affordable medicines-a balance that is closely scrutinized both domestically and internationally.⁶⁵

-

⁵⁸ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 1, 28, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁵⁹ Id. art. 1(1)

⁶⁰ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

⁶¹ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

⁶² Case C-616/20, Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische, ECLI:EU:C:2025:123 (CJEU 2025).

⁶³ Supra note 1 at 817, 820.

⁶⁴ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

⁶⁵ The Patents Act, 1970, § 84; Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India).

This chapter undertakes a comprehensive analysis of the legal frameworks governing cross-border patent enforcement in the pharmaceutical sector. It begins by tracing the historical and doctrinal foundations of the territoriality principle in patent law, as reflected in international treaties and national statutes. It then examines the Indian legal framework in detail, including statutory provisions, judicial decisions, and border enforcement measures. Comparative perspectives from the United States, European Union, and China are considered, highlighting both best practices and pitfalls. The chapter further analyses the mechanisms available for addressing cross-border infringement, including contributory infringement, anti-suit injunctions, and customs enforcement. Finally, it assesses the challenges and gaps in the current system, with particular attention to the tension between effective enforcement and access to medicines. The analysis is grounded in Indian law and practice but is situated within the broader context of international and comparative legal developments, with the aim of identifying pathways toward a more effective and equitable system of cross-border patent enforcement in the pharmaceutical sector.

2.2 The Territoriality Principle in Patent Law

The territoriality principle is the cornerstone of modern patent law, dictating that patent rights are confined to the jurisdiction that grants them. This section explores the historical development of this principle, its codification in international legal instruments, and its practical implementation in key jurisdictions, with a focus on pharmaceuticals.

Historical Origins

The concept that patent rights are territorial-enforceable only within the boundaries of the granting state-emerged from the doctrine of national sovereignty and the historical evolution of patent systems. Early forms of patent protection were royal privileges or monopolies granted by sovereigns, such as the English Crown's "letters patent" in the 15th and 16th centuries, which conferred exclusive rights to inventors or favoured individuals within the realm.⁶⁶

By the 19th century, as industrialization accelerated and inventions began to have commercial value across borders, nations developed their own statutory patent regimes. The lack of harmonization meant that an inventor seeking protection in multiple

⁶⁶ Brad Sherman & Lionel Bently, The Making of Modern Intellectual Property Law 70–74 (1999)

countries had to apply separately in each.⁶⁷ The independence of national patents was not just a practical necessity but a legal doctrine: each patent grant was an act of sovereign authority, and the rights conferred were strictly limited to the territory of the granting state.⁶⁸

This principle was reinforced by the prevailing view that the state had both the right and the obligation to determine the scope, duration, and enforceability of patents within its borders, reflecting local economic priorities, public policy, and legal traditions.⁶⁹ Early attempts to secure cross-border protection, such as bilateral treaties, recognized but did not fundamentally alter the territorial character of patents.⁷⁰

The territoriality doctrine also reflected concerns about extraterritoriality and comity. Courts were (and remain) reluctant to apply their patent laws to acts committed abroad, both out of respect for other nations' sovereignty and due to the practical difficulties of enforcing judgments in foreign jurisdictions.⁷¹ As the U.S. Supreme Court famously declared, "the right conferred by a patent under our law is confined to the United States and its territories, and infringement of this right cannot be predicated on acts wholly done in a foreign country."⁷²

In sum, the territoriality principle originated as a natural outgrowth of the sovereign power of states and the practical realities of enforcing exclusive rights in a world of distinct legal systems.

<u>Codification in International Treaties</u>

The territorial nature of patents was formally codified in the first major multilateral treaty on industrial property: the **Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property** (1883). Article 4bis (1) of the Paris Convention provides:

"Patents applied for in the various countries of the Union shall be independent of patents obtained for the same invention in other countries of the Union." ⁷³

This "independence clause" enshrines the idea that each national patent grant is autonomous: the grant, refusal, or invalidation of a patent in one country has no legal effect on the status of corresponding patents in other countries.⁷⁴

⁶⁷ Supra note 1 at 817, 820–21.

⁶⁸ IA

⁶⁹ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022)

⁷⁰ Supra note 49 at 1, 2–3.

⁷¹ Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887, 900 (Fed. Cir. 2007)

⁷² Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972)

⁷³ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305.

⁷⁴ Id

The Paris Convention also introduced the right of priority, allowing inventors to file in multiple countries based on an initial application, but did not create any system of global or automatically recognized patents.⁷⁵ The Convention's approach reflected both the practicalities and the political realities of the late 19th century, when sovereignty and national economic interests were paramount.

The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), which came into force in 1995 as part of the World Trade Organization (WTO) framework, further harmonized substantive standards for patent protection. Article 28 of TRIPS confers exclusive rights on patent holders, but Article 1(1) makes clear that: "Members shall be free to determine the appropriate method of implementing the provisions of this Agreement within their own legal system and practice."⁷⁶

Thus, while TRIPS sets minimum standards for patentability, term, and enforcement, it does not alter the territorial character of patents. Enforcement remains a matter for national courts and authorities.⁷⁷

Other international instruments, such as the **Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT)**, facilitate the process of seeking patents in multiple countries through a single application, but do not create a "world patent" or cross-border enforcement mechanism.⁷⁸ The PCT streamlines filing but ultimately results in a bundle of national or regional patents, each subject to local examination and enforcement.⁷⁹

Attempts to create international mechanisms for the recognition and enforcement of patent judgments have met with limited success. The **Hague Conference on Private International Law** adopted the 2019 **Hague Judgments Convention** to facilitate the recognition and enforcement of foreign civil judgments, but explicitly excluded intellectual property matters, including patents, from its scope due to lack of consensus.⁸⁰ This exclusion perpetuates the need for duplicative litigation in each jurisdiction where a patent is asserted.

⁷⁵ Id. art. 4.

⁷⁶ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights art. 1(1), Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁷⁷ Id. art. 28.

⁷⁸ Patent Cooperation Treaty art. 3, June 19, 1970, 1160 U.N.T.S. 231.

⁷⁹ id

⁸⁰ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019

In summary, international treaties have harmonized certain aspects of patent law but have consistently reaffirmed the territoriality principle, leaving enforcement fragmented and jurisdiction-specific.

National Implementation: A Comparative Overview

While the territoriality principle is universal, its implementation varies across jurisdictions. This section examines how key countries-India, the United States, the European Union, and China-have incorporated and operationalized the doctrine in their patent laws, with particular attention to pharmaceuticals.

A. India

India's patent regime, governed by the **Patents Act, 1970**, is firmly grounded in the principle of territoriality. Section 48 of the Act grants the patentee "the exclusive right to prevent third parties, who do not have his consent, from the act of making, using, offering for sale, selling or importing for those purposes that product in India." The exclusive rights are thus strictly limited to acts occurring within Indian territory.

Indian courts have consistently upheld this principle. In **Bayer Corporation v. Union** of India, the Delhi High Court held that export of a patented product from India constitutes "use" within India and may amount to infringement if the patent is in force in India. However, the court emphasized that Indian courts cannot adjudicate infringement of foreign patents. The Indian regime does not recognize contributory or indirect infringement occurring wholly outside India, nor does it provide for the enforcement of foreign patent judgments. Enforcement is strictly national, and remedies are available only for acts committed within India.

B. United States

The U.S. Patent Act, codified at **35 U.S.C.**, also embodies the territoriality principle. Section 271(a) provides that "whoever without authority makes, uses, offers to sell, or sells any patented invention, within the United States or imports into the United States any patented invention during the term of the patent therefore, infringes the patent." Historically, U.S. courts took a strict approach, refusing to find infringement where any essential element occurred abroad. However, Congress amended the law after

⁸⁴Supra note 6 at 1032, 1034.

⁸¹ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 48, India Code (1970)

⁸² Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC OnLine Del 8672.

⁸³ Id

⁸⁵ 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) (2022).

⁸⁶ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972)

the **Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp.** decision to add Section 271(f), which imposes liability for supplying components from the U.S. for assembly abroad.⁸⁷ The Supreme Court has also recognized, in limited circumstances, the possibility of awarding damages for certain foreign sales lost due to domestic infringement, to prevent defendants from evading liability by offshoring parts of their operations.⁸⁸ Nonetheless, U.S. courts generally refuse to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents, citing comity and practical difficulties in applying foreign law.⁸⁹

C. European Union

The European patent system is unique in that it overlays national systems with regional mechanisms. Under the **European Patent Convention (EPC)**, a "European patent" is granted centrally but results in a bundle of national patents, each enforceable only in its designated state.⁹⁰

The EU has recently introduced the **Unified Patent Court (UPC)** and the **unitary patent** (effective June 2023), which allow for centralized enforcement of patents across participating member states. ⁹¹ The UPC can issue injunctions and award damages effective in all member states, reducing the need for duplicative litigation. However, validity challenges remain within the purview of national authorities for non-unitary patents, and the system is geographically limited to participating EU countries. ⁹²

The **Brussels I Regulation (Recast)** and recent CJEU jurisprudence permit, under certain conditions, a single EU court to hear infringement claims involving multiple national patents, provided the defendant is domiciled in the forum and the validity of foreign patents is not at issue.⁹³

D. China

China's patent law, as amended in 2020, is also strictly territorial. Article 2 of the **Patent Law of the People's Republic of China** provides that only acts occurring within Chinese territory can infringe a Chinese patent. 94 Recent amendments have strengthened enforcement mechanisms, including punitive damages and improved border measures, but the basic territorial limitation remains. 95 Chinese courts have

⁸⁷ Id; 35 U.S.C. § 271(f)

⁸⁸ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018).

⁸⁹ Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887, 900 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

⁹⁰ European Patent Convention art. 2, Oct. 5, 1973, 1065 U.N.T.S. 199.

⁹¹ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1

⁹² Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische, ECLI:EU:C:2025:123 (CJEU 2025).

⁹³ Id

⁹⁴ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 2 (2020).

⁹⁵ id

begun to issue anti-suit injunctions in global patent disputes, reflecting a more assertive approach to cross-border issues, but these are procedural innovations rather than substantive extensions of patent rights.⁹⁶

2.3 The Indian Legal Framework

India's approach to patent law is shaped by its unique socio-economic context, constitutional imperatives, and international obligations. The Indian legal framework for patent protection and enforcement-especially in the pharmaceutical sector-reflects a conscious attempt to balance the interests of innovators with the public's need for affordable medicines. This section analyses the statutory provisions, judicial interpretations, border enforcement mechanisms, and the role of compulsory licensing in India's patent regime.

The Patents Act, 1970

The Patents Act, 1970 is the principal statute governing patents in India. The Act has undergone significant amendments, notably in 1999, 2002, and 2005, to bring Indian law into compliance with the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS).⁹⁷

Territorial Scope and Rights

Section 48 of the Act defines the rights conferred by a patent, granting the patentee the exclusive right to prevent third parties, without consent, from making, using, offering for sale, selling, or importing the patented product or process "in India." This language codifies the principle of territoriality: an Indian patent is enforceable only within India's borders, and acts committed wholly outside India do not constitute infringement under Indian law.⁹⁹

Infringement and Remedies

Section 104 provides that infringement suits must be instituted in a court not inferior to a District Court having jurisdiction, and Section 104A addresses the burden of proof in process patent cases, shifting it to the defendant under certain conditions. ¹⁰⁰ The Act

⁹⁶ Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China.

⁹⁷ The Patents (Amendment) Act, 2005, No. 15 of 2005, India Code (2005); Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 27, 28, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁹⁸ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 48, India Code (1970).

⁹⁹ id

¹⁰⁰ id

provides for both civil remedies (injunctions, damages, accounts of profits) and, in some cases, criminal penalties for false representation of patents.¹⁰¹

Limitations and Exceptions

The Act includes several exceptions to infringement, notably Section 107A, which allows for "parallel importation" and "Bolar exemptions." Under Section 107A(a), making, constructing, using, selling, or importing a patented invention solely for uses reasonably related to the development and submission of information required under any law in India or abroad does not constitute infringement. Section 107A(b) permits importation of patented products from a person who is duly authorized under the law to produce and sell or distribute the product, facilitating access to cheaper medicines.

Patentability and Pharmaceuticals

Sections 3(d) and 3(e) of the Act impose heightened standards for patentability in pharmaceuticals, denying patents for new forms of known substances unless they result in enhanced efficacy.¹⁰⁴ This provision, unique to India, is intended to prevent "evergreening" and ensure that only genuine innovations receive patent protection.

Judicial Interpretation: Key Indian Cases

Indian courts have played a pivotal role in shaping the contours of patent enforcement, especially in the pharmaceutical sector. Their decisions reflect a nuanced understanding of both the letter and the spirit of the law.

Novartis AG v. Union of India

In the landmark case **Novartis AG v. Union of India**, the Supreme Court denied a patent for the beta crystalline form of imatinib mesylate (marketed as Gleevec), holding that it did not demonstrate enhanced efficacy over the known substance. ¹⁰⁵ The Court's interpretation of Section 3(d) affirmed the legislature's intent to prevent evergreening and to prioritize access to medicines. ¹⁰⁶ The decision underscored the independence of Indian patent law from foreign patent grants, as the same drug was patented in many other jurisdictions. ¹⁰⁷

Bayer Corporation v. Union of India

¹⁰² Id

¹⁰¹ Id

¹⁰³ T.4

¹⁰⁴ Supra note 43 at 1, 6-7.

¹⁰⁵ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1

¹⁰⁶ Id

¹⁰⁷ Id

In **Bayer Corporation v. Union of India**, the Delhi High Court addressed the issue of export of patented products. The Court held that export from India could constitute "use" within India under Section 48, and thus may amount to infringement if the patent is in force in India. However, the Court clarified that Indian courts lack jurisdiction to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents, reinforcing the territoriality principle. ¹⁰⁹

Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corporation

This case marked the first grant of a compulsory license under Section 84 of the Patents Act. The Controller of Patents granted Natco Pharma a license to manufacture and sell a generic version of Bayer's patented cancer drug, sorafenib tosylate, on grounds that the reasonable requirements of the public were not being met, the drug was not available at a reasonably affordable price, and the patented invention was not "worked" in India. The decision was upheld on appeal, reinforcing the public interest dimension of Indian patent law. 111

Other Notable Cases

- F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd.: The Delhi High Court considered the balance between patent rights and public interest in granting or refusing interim injunctions in pharmaceutical patent cases. 112
- Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Glenmark Pharmaceuticals Ltd.: The
 Delhi High Court clarified the standards for grant of permanent injunctions and
 damages in pharmaceutical patent infringement.¹¹³

These cases collectively illustrate the Indian judiciary's commitment to balancing innovation incentives with access to medicines and public health imperatives.

Border Enforcement and Customs Measures

India has implemented border enforcement measures to prevent the importation of infringing goods, in compliance with TRIPS Article 51.¹¹⁴

IPR (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007

The Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007 empower customs authorities to suspend the clearance of goods suspected of infringing IP rights,

¹¹⁰ Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India).

 $^{^{108}}$ Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC On Line Del 8672

¹⁰⁹ id

¹¹¹ Bayer Corp. v. Natco Pharma Ltd., (2014) 56 PTC 277 (IPAB)

¹¹² F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71

¹¹³ Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Glenmark Pharmaceuticals Ltd., 2015 SCC OnLine Del 13707.

¹¹⁴ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights art. 51, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

including patents.¹¹⁵ Right holders may record their IP rights with customs, and upon suspicion, customs officials can detain goods and notify the right holder, who must then obtain a court order within a specified period.¹¹⁶

Scope and Limitations

These measures apply only to imports into India; they do not extend to exports or goods merely transiting through Indian territory. The rules are intended to strike a balance between effective IP enforcement and trade facilitation, and customs authorities are required to act in accordance with principles of natural justice.

Practical Challenges

Despite the legal framework, practical challenges persist. Customs officials may lack technical expertise to assess patent infringement, leading to delays or wrongful detentions. There have also been instances where border enforcement was invoked in contentious circumstances, such as the seizure of generic drugs in transit, highlighting the need for clear guidelines and safeguards against abuse. 119

Compulsory Licensing and Public Health

A distinctive feature of Indian patent law is its robust compulsory licensing regime, designed to ensure that patent protection does not come at the expense of public health.

Statutory Provisions

Section 84 of the Patents Act allows "any person interested" to apply for a compulsory license after three years from the grant of a patent, on grounds that:

- the reasonable requirements of the public with respect to the patented invention have not been satisfied;
- the patented invention is not available to the public at a reasonably affordable price; or
- the patented invention is not "worked" in India. 120

Section 92 provides for compulsory licenses in cases of national emergency, extreme urgency, or public non-commercial use, and Section 92A enables compulsory licenses for manufacture and export of patented pharmaceutical products to countries with

¹¹⁵ Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E)

¹¹⁶ id

¹¹⁷ Id

¹¹⁸ Supra note 6 at 1032, 1035–36.

¹¹⁹ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

¹²⁰ The Patents Act, 1970, § 84

insufficient manufacturing capacity, in accordance with the WTO Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health. 121

Policy Rationale and International Context

The compulsory licensing provisions reflect India's constitutional commitment to public health (Article 21 of the Constitution) and its status as a major supplier of generic medicines to the developing world. The regime has been lauded by public health advocates and has influenced debates on access to medicines globally. 123

Key Cases and Impact

The Natco/Bayer compulsory license (discussed above) set important precedents regarding "reasonable requirements of the public" and "affordability." While only a handful of compulsory licenses have been granted, the mere existence of the regime has a significant impact on pricing and negotiations in the Indian pharmaceutical market. 125

Criticisms and Challenges

Patent holders and some developed countries have criticized India's compulsory licensing regime as undermining innovation incentives. ¹²⁶ However, Indian authorities maintain that the regime is fully TRIPS-compliant and necessary to address the realities of public health in a developing country context. ¹²⁷

2.4 Comparative Perspectives: US, EU, and China

The challenge of cross-border patent enforcement in pharmaceuticals is not unique to India. Major jurisdictions around the world have grappled with the territoriality of patent rights and the realities of global pharmaceutical supply chains. The United States, the European Union, and China each offer distinctive approaches to patent enforcement, jurisdiction, and the interface between innovation and public health. Examining these systems provides valuable lessons for India, both in terms of best practices and cautionary tales.

United States

A. Territoriality and Statutory Framework

¹²¹ Id

¹²² India Const. art. 21

¹²³ Frederick M. Abbott, The WTO Medicines Decision: World Pharmaceutical Trade and the Protection of Public Health, 99 Am. J. Int'l L. 317, 319–20 (2005)

¹²⁴ Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012

¹²⁵ Supra note 43 at. 1, 14–15

¹²⁶ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43

¹²⁷ Id

The United States is home to one of the world's most sophisticated and litigious patent systems. The U.S. Patent Act, codified at **35 U.S.C.**, strictly embodies the principle of territoriality. Section 271(a) provides:

"Whoever without authority makes, uses, offers to sell, or sells any patented invention, within the United States or imports into the United States any patented invention during the term of the patent therefor, infringes the patent." ¹²⁸

This language confines direct infringement to acts occurring within the United States or to importation into the U.S.¹²⁹

B. Extraterritorial Reach and Doctrinal Innovations

Historically, U.S. courts refused to find infringement where any essential element of the infringing act occurred abroad. In **Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp.**, the Supreme Court held that manufacturing components of a patented invention in the U.S. for assembly abroad did not constitute infringement, as the "making" occurred outside U.S. territory.¹³⁰

Congress responded by enacting **35** U.S.C. § **271(f)**, which imposes liability on those who supply components of a patented invention from the U.S. for combination abroad, thus closing the "Deepsouth loophole." This provision was designed to prevent defendants from evading U.S. patent law by moving final assembly offshore.

Further, in WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., the Supreme Court held that a patentee could recover damages for lost foreign sales proximately caused by domestic acts of infringement under § 271(f), marking a limited but significant extension of U.S. patent law's extraterritorial effect. 132

C. Indirect Infringement and Inducement

U.S. law recognizes doctrines of indirect infringement (§ 271(b)-(c)), imposing liability for inducing or contributing to infringement, even if the direct infringer is outside the U.S. if the inducement or contribution occurs domestically. However, the courts have generally declined to extend liability to wholly foreign acts, reaffirming the territoriality principle. 134

D. Jurisdiction and Forum

¹³⁰ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972).

¹²⁸ 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) (2022).

¹²⁹ I.d

¹³¹ 35 U.S.C. § 271(f)

¹³² WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018)

¹³³ 35 U.S.C. § 271(b)-(c).

¹³⁴ Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887, 900 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

U.S. courts generally decline to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents, citing the "act of state" doctrine and the practical difficulties of applying foreign law. 135 In Voda v. Cordis Corp., the Federal Circuit refused to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over foreign patent claims, emphasizing comity and the risk of inconsistent judgments. 136

E. Border Enforcement

The U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC) has the power under Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 to exclude infringing goods from entering the U.S. market. 137 The ITC process is a powerful tool for patentees, offering swift remedies such as exclusion orders and cease-and-desist orders. 138

F. Public Health and Compulsory Licensing

The U.S. has no general compulsory licensing regime for patents, though specific statutes (e.g., the Bayh-Dole Act) allow for "march-in rights" in certain federally funded inventions. ¹³⁹ In practice, compulsory licensing is rarely used, and the U.S. system prioritizes strong patent enforcement, sometimes at the expense of access to medicines. 140

G. Anti-Suit Injunctions

U.S. courts have occasionally issued anti-suit injunctions to restrain parties from pursuing parallel litigation in foreign jurisdictions, especially in global standardessential patent (SEP) disputes. 141 However, such injunctions are granted sparingly and only in exceptional circumstances.

European Union

A. The European Patent System: Dual Structure

The European patent landscape is characterized by a dual structure: the European Patent Convention (EPC) and the European Union's (EU) legal framework.

The EPC, administered by the European Patent Office (EPO), provides a centralized application process, resulting in a "bundle" of national patents, each enforceable in its designated state. 142

¹³⁵ Id

¹³⁶ Id

¹³⁷ 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (2022).

¹³⁸ Supra note 1 at 817, 822–23.

¹³⁹ 35 U.S.C. § 203 (Bayh-Dole Act).

¹⁴⁰ Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

¹⁴¹ Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc., 696 F.3d 872, 881 (9th Cir. 2012)

¹⁴² European Patent Convention art. 2, Oct. 5, 1973, 1065 U.N.T.S. 199.

• The EU has pursued further integration through the **unitary patent** and the **Unified Patent Court (UPC)**, effective June 2023, allowing for centralized enforcement across participating member states. 143

B. Territoriality and Enforcement

Despite the central grant process, enforcement under the EPC has traditionally been national. Each designated state's courts have exclusive jurisdiction over infringement and validity of the national "part" of a European patent. ¹⁴⁴ This fragmentation has led to parallel litigation, forum shopping, and inconsistent outcomes.

The UPC represents a major innovation, providing a single forum for infringement and revocation actions covering all participating states.¹⁴⁵ The UPC can issue injunctions and award damages effective in all member states, greatly simplifying litigation for patentees.¹⁴⁶ However, not all EU states participate, and the system is still in its infancy.

C. Jurisdictional Rules and Cross-Border Litigation

The **Brussels I Regulation (Recast)** governs jurisdiction in civil and commercial matters, including patents. Recent **CJEU** decisions have clarified that, under certain conditions, a single EU court can hear infringement claims involving multiple national patents, provided the defendant is domiciled in the forum and the validity of foreign patents is not at issue.¹⁴⁷

In Case C-616/20 (Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische), the CJEU held that a court in one member state could adjudicate infringement of counterpart patents in other states if the defendant is domiciled in the forum and the claims do not challenge validity. This "long-arm" jurisdiction is a significant step toward cross-border enforcement within the EU.

D. Border Measures

EU customs authorities are empowered to detain goods suspected of infringing IP rights under **Regulation (EU) No. 608/2013**. ¹⁴⁹ The infamous 2008-2009 seizures of Indian generic medicines in transit through the EU, however, highlighted the potential for overreach and the need to balance enforcement with legitimate trade and public health

¹⁴³ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1

¹⁴⁴ Id

¹⁴⁵ Id

¹⁴⁶ I.d

¹⁴⁷ Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 7(2).

¹⁴⁸ Case C-616/20, Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische, ECLI:EU:C:2025:123 (CJEU 2025).

¹⁴⁹ Regulation (EU) No. 608/2013, art. 17

objectives.¹⁵⁰ Following a WTO dispute, the EU clarified its regulations to prevent routine seizure of transit goods absent evidence of diversion into EU markets.¹⁵¹

E. Compulsory Licensing and Public Health

EU member states retain the power to issue compulsory licenses under national law, though such licenses are rare and generally reserved for cases of national emergency or public interest.¹⁵² The EU has supported the use of compulsory licensing for export to countries lacking manufacturing capacity, in line with the WTO Doha Declaration.¹⁵³

F. Anti-Suit and Arrow Declarations

UK and EU courts have developed innovative doctrines such as **Arrow declarations** (declarations of non-infringement or invalidity in anticipation of future patent assertions) and have issued anti-suit injunctions in SEP disputes. ¹⁵⁴ These tools, while not directly about pharmaceuticals, reflect the growing willingness of European courts to address cross-border patent issues proactively.

China

A. Legal Framework and Territoriality

China's patent regime, governed by the **Patent Law of the People's Republic of China** (as amended in 2020), is strictly territorial. Article 2 provides that only acts occurring within Chinese territory can infringe a Chinese patent. Enforcement is limited to domestic acts, and Chinese courts do not adjudicate infringement of foreign patents.

B. Strengthening Enforcement

Recent amendments have enhanced enforcement mechanisms, including:

- Introduction of **punitive damages** for willful infringement (up to five times actual damages). ¹⁵⁶
- Lowering the threshold for preliminary injunctions and increasing the role of specialized IP courts in major cities. 157

¹⁵⁰ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

¹⁵¹ Id

¹⁵² European Patent Convention art. 31

¹⁵³ Id

¹⁵⁴ F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71

¹⁵⁵ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 2 (2020)

¹⁵⁶ Id. Art.71

¹⁵⁷ Id. art. 72.

• Improved **border measures**: Chinese customs authorities can seize infringing goods intended for export or import, provided the right holder records their patent with customs.¹⁵⁸

C. Extraterritoriality and Anti-Suit Injunctions

Chinese courts have begun to issue **anti-suit injunctions** in global patent disputes, particularly in the context of standard-essential patents (SEPs). In **Huawei v. Conversant** (2019), the Supreme People's Court issued an anti-suit injunction restraining enforcement of a German judgment abroad, asserting China's jurisdiction over global licensing disputes. This reflects a more assertive approach to cross-border patent issues, though such injunctions remain exceptional.

D. Compulsory Licensing

China's Patent Law provides for compulsory licensing in cases of public health emergencies, non-working of patents, or anti-competitive practices. While compulsory licenses have been granted in very few cases, the regime is seen as a tool to ensure access to medicines, particularly in the context of infectious diseases. 161

E. Balancing Innovation and Access

China has sought to balance strong patent protection (to encourage domestic innovation and attract foreign investment) with public health needs. The government has prioritized the development of domestic pharmaceutical innovation while also retaining tools to address access and affordability.¹⁶²

Lessons for India

A comparative analysis of the U.S., EU, and Chinese systems yields several lessons for India as it navigates the challenges of cross-border patent enforcement in the pharmaceutical sector:

A. The Value of Doctrinal Flexibility

The U.S. experience with § 271(f) and the WesternGeco decision demonstrates the importance of doctrinal flexibility in addressing cross-border infringement that exploits territorial loopholes. ¹⁶³ India could consider statutory amendments to address situations

¹⁵⁸ Id. arts. 75–76.

¹⁵⁹ Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China

¹⁶⁰ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 48.

¹⁶¹ **I**.d

¹⁶² Christopher Heath, Obtaining Evidence for Patent Litigation Across Borders, 48 IIC 123, 135–36 (2017)

¹⁶³ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018)

where components or active pharmaceutical ingredients are exported from India for assembly or use in jurisdictions where the patent is in force.

B. The Benefits and Limits of Regional Integration

The EU's UPC and unitary patent system illustrate the advantages of supranational enforcement: reduced costs, consistent judgments, and broader remedies. ¹⁶⁴ While such integration may not be immediately feasible in South Asia, India could explore regional cooperation (e.g., with SAARC or BRICS partners) for mutual recognition of IP judgments or harmonized border measures.

C. The Importance of Efficient Border Enforcement

Both the U.S. ITC and Chinese customs authorities provide powerful models for rapid border enforcement.¹⁶⁵ India's customs regime could be strengthened through greater technical training, clearer guidelines, and enhanced cooperation with trading partners to prevent both under- and over-enforcement.

D. The Role of the Judiciary

Judicial innovation, as seen in the U.S. (indirect infringement), EU (Arrow declarations), and China (anti-suit injunctions), can play a key role in adapting the law to new realities. Indian courts have already shown willingness to balance patent rights and public health, and could further develop doctrines to address cross-border challenges.

E. Balancing Enforcement and Access

All three jurisdictions grapple with the tension between strong patent enforcement and access to medicines. India's compulsory licensing regime is among the world's most robust and is widely seen as a model for balancing innovation and public health. However, India must ensure that its approach remains TRIPS-compliant and is not perceived as undermining innovation incentives.

F. Cautionary Notes

• Overly aggressive border enforcement, as seen in the EU seizures of Indian generics, can provoke international disputes and harm access to medicines. 167

• Extraterritorial application of patent law must be carefully calibrated to avoid conflicts of law and forum shopping.

 $^{^{164}\,\}mathrm{Agreement}$ on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1

¹⁶⁵ 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (2022); Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 75

¹⁶⁶ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 84, India Code (1970).

¹⁶⁷ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

2.5 Mechanisms for Addressing Cross-Border Infringement

The territorial nature of patent rights creates significant challenges for effective enforcement in the context of globalized pharmaceutical supply chains. However, legal systems and international frameworks have developed a range of mechanisms-both statutory and judicial-to address cross-border infringement. These mechanisms seek to mitigate the rigidities of territoriality, close enforcement loopholes, and provide patentees with practical remedies, while also balancing public interest and international comity. This section explores the principal mechanisms: contributory and indirect infringement, anti-suit and anti-enforcement injunctions, border measures and customs enforcement, and transnational litigation and jurisdictional issues.

Contributory and Indirect Infringement

A. The Doctrinal Evolution

The classic model of patent infringement is direct: a party makes, uses, sells, or imports the patented invention within the territory where the patent is in force. ¹⁶⁸ However, in a globalized world, infringing activity is often dispersed-one actor may supply components or instructions, while another completes the infringement in a different country. This fragmentation can allow wrongdoers to evade liability if courts adhere strictly to territoriality.

To address this, many jurisdictions have developed doctrines of contributory and **indirect infringement**. These doctrines impose liability not only on those who directly infringe, but also on those who aid, abet, or facilitate infringement, even if the final act occurs elsewhere.

B. United States

U.S. law is particularly advanced in this area. Under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b)-(c), anyone who "actively induces infringement of a patent shall be liable as an infringer," and anyone who sells a component "specially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement" is liable for contributory infringement. 169

A landmark development was the enactment of § 271(f), which closes the loophole identified in Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp. 170 This provision makes it an act of infringement to supply components of a patented invention from the U.S. for

¹⁶⁹ 35 U.S.C. § 271(b)-(c) (2022).

¹⁶⁸ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 48, India Code (1970); 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) (2022)

¹⁷⁰ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972).

assembly abroad, thus localizing part of the infringing act within U.S. jurisdiction.¹⁷¹ The Supreme Court in **WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp.** further allowed damages for certain foreign sales lost due to domestic infringement, recognizing the realities of cross-border harm.¹⁷²

C. European Union

EU law recognizes indirect infringement under the European Patent Convention (EPC) and national statutes. For example, Article 26 of the UK Patents Act 1977 (implementing the EPC) imposes liability for supplying or offering to supply in the UK any means relating to an essential element of the invention, knowing they are suitable for putting the invention into effect.¹⁷³

However, the application of indirect infringement to cross-border scenarios remains complex, and courts are cautious about extending liability for acts committed wholly abroad.¹⁷⁴

D. India

Indian law does not explicitly provide for contributory or indirect infringement in the Patents Act, 1970.¹⁷⁵ However, Indian courts have occasionally recognized secondary liability in exceptional circumstances, particularly where a party within India facilitates infringement abroad.¹⁷⁶ The lack of clear statutory guidance has led to calls for legislative reform to address cross-border facilitation of infringement, especially in pharmaceuticals.¹⁷⁷

E. China

China's Patent Law provides for joint liability where two or more parties jointly commit an infringing act, but does not expressly address contributory infringement in the cross-border context.¹⁷⁸ Recent judicial interpretations suggest a willingness to impose liability where a party within China substantially assists infringement abroad, but the doctrine remains underdeveloped.¹⁷⁹

Challenges

¹⁷¹ 35 U.S.C. § 271(f).

¹⁷² WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018).

¹⁷³ Patents Act 1977, c. 37, § 60(2)

¹⁷⁴ Supra note 49 at 1, 8–10.

¹⁷⁵ The Patents Act, 1970, India

¹⁷⁶ Supra note 6 at 1032, 1034–36.

¹⁷⁷ Id

¹⁷⁸ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 21 (2020)

¹⁷⁹ Christopher Heath, Obtaining Evidence for Patent Litigation Across Borders, 48 IIC 123, 135–36 (2017).

While contributory and indirect infringement doctrines help address cross-border schemes, their effectiveness is limited by the need to localize at least part of the wrongful conduct within the forum country. Moreover, differences in national laws can lead to inconsistent outcomes and uncertainty for both patent holders and alleged infringers. ¹⁸⁰

Anti-Suit and Anti-Enforcement Injunctions

A. Concept and Rationale

Anti-suit injunctions are judicial orders restraining a party from initiating or continuing parallel proceedings in a foreign jurisdiction. Anti-enforcement injunctions prevent a party from enforcing a foreign judgment in another country. These remedies are designed to prevent duplicative litigation, avoid conflicting judgments, and protect the jurisdictional integrity of the forum court.¹⁸¹

B. United States and United Kingdom

U.S. and UK courts have developed robust jurisprudence on anti-suit injunctions, particularly in global patent and standard-essential patent (SEP) disputes. ¹⁸² The leading U.S. case, **Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc.**, affirmed the power of U.S. courts to enjoin parties from pursuing or enforcing foreign litigation that would undermine the forum's jurisdiction or frustrate its policies. ¹⁸³ UK courts have similarly issued anti-suit injunctions to restrain vexatious or oppressive parallel litigation, applying the "ends of justice" test. ¹⁸⁴

C. European Union

The Brussels I Regulation (Recast) generally prohibits anti-suit injunctions between EU member states, to preserve mutual trust and judicial cooperation. However, anti-suit injunctions may still be available in disputes involving non-EU countries or where the Regulation does not apply.

D. China

Chinese courts have recently begun issuing anti-suit injunctions in global patent disputes, particularly in SEP licensing cases. In **Huawei v. Conversant**, the Supreme

¹⁸⁰ Supra note at 817, 820–23.

¹⁸¹ Microsoft Corp. v. Motorola, Inc., 696 F.3d 872, 881 (Fed. Cir. 2012)

¹⁸² Unwired Planet Int'l Ltd. v. Huawei Techs. Co., [2020] UKSC 37

¹⁸³ Microsoft Corp., 696 F.3d at 881

¹⁸⁴ Société Nationale Industrielle Aérospatiale v. Lee Kui Jak [1987] AC 871 (PC); see also Modi Entm't Network v. WSG Cricket Pte Ltd., (2003) 4 SCC 341

¹⁸⁵ Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 1(2)(b)

People's Court issued an anti-suit injunction restraining enforcement of a German judgment, asserting China's jurisdiction over the global licensing dispute. This reflects a growing willingness to use such remedies to protect domestic interests and influence global patent negotiations.

E. India

Indian courts have been cautious in granting anti-suit injunctions, emphasizing comity and judicial restraint. In **Modi Entertainment Network v. WSG Cricket Pte Ltd.**, the Supreme Court held that such injunctions should be granted only in exceptional circumstances, such as when foreign proceedings are oppressive or vexatious. ¹⁸⁷ Indian courts have rarely issued anti-suit injunctions in patent disputes, but the possibility remains open where necessary to prevent abuse of process.

Criticisms and Limitations

Anti-suit injunctions are controversial, as they can be seen as interfering with the sovereignty of foreign courts and may provoke retaliatory measures. Their use in cross-border patent disputes must be carefully justified to avoid international friction and ensure respect for comity.

Border Measures and Customs Enforcement

A. International Framework

TRIPS Article 51 requires WTO members to provide procedures for customs authorities to suspend the release of goods suspected of infringing intellectual property rights, including patents, into free circulation. However, TRIPS leaves the scope and implementation of border measures largely to national discretion.

B. United States

The U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC) is empowered under **19 U.S.C.** § **1337** to investigate and exclude imports that infringe U.S. patents. ¹⁹⁰ The ITC process is swift and powerful, allowing patentees to obtain exclusion orders and cease-and-desist orders against infringing imports. ¹⁹¹ The U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) enforces these orders at the border.

C. European Union

¹⁸⁶ Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China

¹⁸⁷ Modi Entm't Network v. WSG Cricket Pte Ltd., (2003) 4 SCC 341

¹⁸⁸ Supra note 1 at 828, 829–30.

¹⁸⁹ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights art. 51, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

¹⁹⁰ 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (2022)

¹⁹¹ Supra note 1 at 817, 822–23.

EU customs authorities act under **Regulation (EU) No. 608/2013**, which allows for the detention of goods suspected of infringing IP rights. The controversial seizure of Indian generics in transit through the EU in 2008-2009 highlighted the risks of overbroad enforcement and led to regulatory clarification to prevent the routine seizure of transit goods absent evidence of diversion into EU markets. 193

D. India

India's Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007 empower customs to suspend the clearance of goods suspected of infringing IP rights, including patents.¹⁹⁴ Right holders may record their rights with customs, and upon suspicion, customs can detain goods and notify the right holder, who must then obtain a court order within a specified period.¹⁹⁵ These measures apply only to imports, not exports or goods in transit.¹⁹⁶

E. China

Chinese customs authorities may seize infringing goods intended for import or export, provided the right holder records their patent with customs.¹⁹⁷ This is part of China's broader effort to strengthen IP enforcement at the border, particularly for pharmaceuticals and high-value goods.

Challenges

Border enforcement is technically complex, as customs officials may lack the expertise to assess patent infringement, especially for process patents or complex pharmaceutical products. There is also a risk of over-enforcement, trade disruption, and interference with legitimate commerce, particularly for generic medicines intended for export to countries where no patent exists. 199

Transnational Litigation and Jurisdictional Issues

A. The Problem of Fragmented Jurisdiction

The territoriality of patent rights means that infringement suits must generally be brought in the country where the patent is in force and the alleged infringement

¹⁹² Regulation (EU) No. 608/2013, art. 17

¹⁹³ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

¹⁹⁴ Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E) (India)

¹⁹⁵ Id

¹⁹⁶ Id

¹⁹⁷ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 75 (2020)

¹⁹⁸ Supra note 6 at 1032, 1034–36

¹⁹⁹ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

occurs. 200 National courts are reluctant to adjudicate foreign patent claims, both out of respect for sovereignty and practical difficulties in applying foreign law. ²⁰¹ This leads to fragmented, duplicative, and potentially inconsistent litigation across multiple jurisdictions.

B. Consolidation and "Long-Arm" Jurisdiction

Some jurisdictions have experimented with mechanisms to consolidate cross-border patent disputes:

- European Union: The Brussels I Regulation (Recast) and CJEU jurisprudence permit, under certain conditions, a single EU court to hear infringement claims involving multiple national patents, provided the defendant is domiciled in the forum and the validity of foreign patents is not at issue.²⁰² The new Unified Patent Court (UPC) allows for centralized enforcement across participating EU states.203
- United States: U.S. courts generally refuse to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents, as affirmed in Voda v. Cordis Corp., but may exercise jurisdiction over foreign defendants for acts committed within the U.S.²⁰⁴

C. Hague Judgments Convention

The 2019 Hague Judgments Convention seeks to facilitate recognition and enforcement of foreign civil judgments, but explicitly excludes intellectual property matters, including patents, from its scope due to lack of consensus. ²⁰⁵ This exclusion perpetuates the need for duplicative litigation in each jurisdiction where a patent is asserted.

D. Evidence Gathering and Procedural Hurdles

Transnational litigation is further complicated by differences in discovery rules, language barriers, and the difficulty of obtaining evidence located abroad. 206 Mutual legal assistance treaties (MLATs) and letters rogatory may be used, but the process is slow and often ineffective for time-sensitive patent disputes.

²⁰⁴ Voda, 476 F.3d at 900

²⁰⁰ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S.

²⁰¹ Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887, 900 (Fed. Cir. 2007

²⁰² Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 7(2); Case C-616/20, Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische, ECLI:EU:C:2025:123 (CJEU 2025).

²⁰³ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

²⁰⁵ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

²⁰⁶ Christopher Heath, Obtaining Evidence for Patent Litigation Across Borders, 48 IIC 123–24 (2017)

E. Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation

The lack of harmonized enforcement leads to forum shopping, where parties seek out favourable jurisdictions, and parallel litigation, increasing costs and the risk of inconsistent judgments.²⁰⁷

F. Indian Perspective

Indian courts have generally adhered to the principle of territoriality, refusing to adjudicate foreign patent claims and requiring infringement suits to be brought in the jurisdiction where the patent is registered and the alleged infringement occurs.²⁰⁸ However, Indian litigants are increasingly involved in cross-border disputes, particularly as Indian pharmaceutical companies expand globally.

2.6 International and Regional Cooperation

The fragmentation of patent enforcement, as discussed in previous chapters, is a direct consequence of the territorial nature of patent rights. Recognizing the inefficiencies and uncertainties this creates-especially for cross-border pharmaceutical innovation and commerce-states and international organizations have sought to develop cooperative mechanisms to harmonize certain aspects of patent protection and enforcement. This section explores the most significant international and regional initiatives: the TRIPS Agreement and WTO dispute settlement, the Hague Judgments Convention, and the European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC) and other regional models.

TRIPS and WTO Dispute Settlement

A. The TRIPS Agreement: Harmonization of Substantive Standards

The **Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS)**, which entered into force in 1995 as part of the World Trade Organization (WTO) framework, is the most comprehensive multilateral treaty on intellectual property to date. ²⁰⁹ TRIPS obligates all WTO members to provide minimum standards of protection for patents, including pharmaceuticals, and to ensure that enforcement procedures are available under national law. ²¹⁰

TRIPS Part II sets out substantive requirements-such as patentable subject matter, the term of protection (at least 20 years from filing), and exclusive rights (making, using,

²⁰⁸ Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC OnLine Del 8672

²⁰⁷ Supra note 49 at 1, 9–11.

²⁰⁹ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299

²¹⁰ Id. arts. 27-28, 41-61

selling, importing).²¹¹ Part III (Articles 41-61) requires members to make available effective enforcement mechanisms, including civil, administrative, and, in some cases, criminal remedies.²¹² Article 44 provides for injunctions, Article 45 for damages, and Article 51 for border measures against infringing goods.²¹³

However, TRIPS does **not** create any international patent rights or enforcement tribunal.²¹⁴ Each member must implement TRIPS-compliant laws domestically, and enforcement remains the responsibility of national courts and authorities.²¹⁵

B. Enforcement and the Limits of Harmonization

TRIPS harmonized "the law on the books" but not the process of enforcement across borders. ²¹⁶ Patent owners must still obtain and enforce patents country by country, and a judgment in one country is not automatically recognized elsewhere. ²¹⁷ The absence of a global enforcement mechanism means that cross-border infringement often requires parallel litigation in multiple jurisdictions, increasing costs and uncertainty. ²¹⁸

C. WTO Dispute Settlement: State-to-State Enforcement

The WTO Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) provides a forum for member states to challenge each other's compliance with TRIPS obligations. ²¹⁹ Disputes are adjudicated by panels and, on appeal, by the Appellate Body. Remedies are available only to states, not private parties, and typically take the form of recommendations to bring national laws or practices into conformity with WTO rules. ²²⁰

A notable example is **DS408**: European Union and a Member State - Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit.²²¹ In 2008-2009, EU customs authorities seized shipments of Indian-made generic medicines transiting through Europe en route to developing countries, on the grounds that they would infringe European patents if imported into the EU. India and Brazil challenged these actions at the WTO, arguing that such seizures violated TRIPS and the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) by

²¹⁶ Id

²¹⁷ Id

²¹¹ Id. arts. 27, 33.

²¹² Id. arts. 41–61.

²¹³ Id. arts. 44–45, 51.

²¹⁴ Supra 817, 825.

²¹⁵ Id

²¹⁸ Supra note 49 at 1, 2–3.

²¹⁹ Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization arts. XXII–XXIII, Apr. 15, 1994, 1867 U.N.T.S. 154.

²²⁰ Id

²²¹ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

impeding legitimate trade and access to medicines.²²² The dispute was settled after the EU clarified its regulations to prevent routine seizure of transit goods absent evidence of diversion into EU markets.²²³ This case illustrates both the reach and the limits of WTO dispute settlement: while it can resolve inter-state disputes over IP enforcement, it does not provide direct relief to private patent holders or accused infringers.

D. Cooperation and Public Health Flexibilities

TRIPS also incorporates flexibilities for public health, most notably in Article 31 (compulsory licensing) and the 2001 **Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health**.²²⁴ These provisions affirm the right of members to grant compulsory licenses and to authorize parallel importation to promote access to medicines.²²⁵ India has made extensive use of these flexibilities in its patent law and policy.²²⁶

The Hague Judgments Convention

A. Background and Purpose

The Hague Conference on Private International Law has long sought to facilitate the recognition and enforcement of foreign civil judgments. The 2019 Hague Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters ("Hague Judgments Convention") aims to reduce the need for duplicative litigation by providing a framework for the mutual recognition of judgments among contracting states.²²⁷

B. Exclusion of Intellectual Property

Despite its broad scope, the Hague Judgments Convention **explicitly excludes intellectual property matters, including patents, from its scope**.²²⁸ Article 2(1)(m) provides that the Convention "shall not apply to the following matters: ... (m) the validity, registration, or infringement of intellectual property rights."²²⁹ This exclusion resulted from the lack of international consensus on how to handle the recognition of IP judgments, given the territoriality and policy sensitivities of patent law.²³⁰

²²² Id

²²³ Id

²²⁴ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

²²⁵ Id

²²⁶ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 84, 92, India Code (1970).

²²⁷ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters, July 2, 2019.

²²⁸ Id. art. 2(1)(m)

²²⁹ Id

 $^{^{230}}$ Rochelle Dreyfuss, The Costs of Cross-Border Patent Enforcement, 25 Fordham Intell. Prop. Media & Ent. L.J. 817, $\,829-30.$

C. Implications for Patent Enforcement

The exclusion of patent judgments from the Hague Convention means that a judgment of patent infringement (or invalidity) rendered in one country cannot be directly recognized or enforced in another under this treaty.²³¹ Patent holders must still initiate separate proceedings in each jurisdiction where they seek enforcement, perpetuating the inefficiencies and uncertainties of the current system.²³²

This is widely regarded as a missed opportunity for global patent enforcement reform. Scholars and practitioners have argued that the inability to enforce patent judgments abroad is a major barrier to efficient cross-border protection, especially in industries like pharmaceuticals where infringing activity is often transnational.²³³

D. Prospects for Reform

There have been calls to revisit the exclusion of IP from the Hague regime, possibly through a supplemental protocol or future negotiations.²³⁴ However, significant obstacles remain, including divergent national policies on patentability, public health, and enforcement, as well as concerns about sovereignty and forum shopping.²³⁵ Until such reforms are realized, the recognition and enforcement of foreign patent judgments will remain subject to national law and bilateral treaties, if any.

The Unified Patent Court and Regional Models

A. The Unified Patent Court (UPC) and EU Unitary Patent

The most significant regional innovation in cross-border patent enforcement is the **Unified Patent Court (UPC)** and the **EU unitary patent** system, which became operational in June 2023.²³⁶

- The **UPC** is an international court with exclusive jurisdiction over European patents (with unitary effect) and, in some cases, traditional European patents in participating EU member states.²³⁷
- The unitary patent allows inventors to obtain a single patent with effect across all participating states, simplifying the process of securing and enforcing rights.²³⁸

 ²³¹ Id
 ²³² Id
 ²³³ Id
 ²³⁴ Id
 ²³⁵ Id
 ²³⁶ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1
 ²³⁷ Id
 ²³⁸ Id

B. Centralized Enforcement and Remedies

The UPC enables patent owners to obtain remedies-such as injunctions and damages-that are effective across all member states in a single proceeding.²³⁹ This dramatically reduces the need for parallel litigation, lowers costs, and ensures consistency of judgments.²⁴⁰ The UPC can also hear revocation actions, streamlining challenges to patent validity.

C. Jurisdictional Reach and Limitations

Not all EU member states participate in the UPC and unitary patent system, and national courts retain jurisdiction over non-unitary patents and certain issues.²⁴¹ The system is geographically confined to participating states, and the UPC's jurisprudence is still developing.²⁴²

D. Other Regional Models

Other regions have explored, or are exploring, mechanisms for regional cooperation in patent enforcement:

- The African Regional Intellectual Property Organization (ARIPO) and the Organisation Africaine de la Propriété Intellectuelle (OAPI) provide for regional patents, though enforcement remains largely national.²⁴³
- The Eurasian Patent Organization (EAPO) offers a regional patent for its member states, but, again, enforcement is typically national.²⁴⁴
- In South Asia, there is no equivalent regional patent system, though the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC) has discussed IP cooperation.²⁴⁵

E. Lessons for India

The UPC demonstrates the benefits of supranational enforcement: reduced costs, consistent judgments, and broader remedies.²⁴⁶ While such integration may not be immediately feasible in South Asia, India could explore regional cooperation for mutual

²⁴⁰ Id

²³⁹ Id

²⁴¹ Id

²⁴² Id

African Regional Intellectual Property Organization, Harare Protocol on Patents and Industrial Designs within the Framework of the African Regional Intellectual Property Organization, Dec. 10, 1982.
 Eurasian Patent Convention, Sept. 9, 1994, 2203 U.N.T.S. 263

²⁴⁵ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

²⁴⁶ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

recognition of judgments, harmonized border measures, or joint enforcement initiatives.²⁴⁷

India's experience with WTO dispute settlement (as in the EU generics seizure case) also highlights the importance of international fora for resolving cross-border enforcement disputes and defending public health interests.²⁴⁸

2.7 Challenges and Gaps in Enforcement

The enforcement of pharmaceutical patents across borders faces numerous challenges that undermine the effectiveness of patent protection and complicate the legal landscape for innovators and generic manufacturers alike. These challenges stem from the territorial nature of patents, the complexity of global supply chains, and the competing imperatives of innovation and public health. This section critically examines the principal obstacles: the high cost and complexity of enforcement, forum shopping and parallel litigation, difficulties in evidence gathering and procedural hurdles, and the delicate balance between enforcing patent rights and ensuring access to medicines.

Cost and Complexity

A. Financial Burden of Multi-Jurisdictional Litigation

Cross-border patent enforcement requires initiating and managing litigation in multiple jurisdictions, each with its own legal system, procedural rules, and evidentiary standards.²⁴⁹ This multiplicity significantly increases the financial and administrative burden on patent holders, often making enforcement prohibitively expensive, especially for smaller companies and public-interest organizations.²⁵⁰

Pharmaceutical patents are typically high-value assets, but the cost of litigating in several countries simultaneously-covering attorney fees, expert witnesses, court fees, translations, and travel-can run into millions of dollars.²⁵¹ This cost barrier can deter patentees from pursuing enforcement in less economically significant markets, potentially allowing infringing activity to flourish unchecked.²⁵²

B. Complexity of Legal and Technical Issues

²⁴⁷ Id

²⁴⁸ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

²⁴⁹ Supra notes 230 at 817, 820–21.

²⁵⁰ Id

²⁵¹ Id

²⁵² Id

Pharmaceutical patent cases often involve complex scientific and technical evidence, including chemical formulations, biological processes, and clinical data.²⁵³ Courts in different jurisdictions may have varying levels of expertise and different standards for patentability and infringement, leading to inconsistent outcomes and legal uncertainty.²⁵⁴

Moreover, the fragmentation of patent rights means that a single pharmaceutical product may be covered by multiple patents in different countries, each with distinct claims and validity statuses. Navigating this patchwork demands sophisticated legal strategies and coordination across jurisdictions.²⁵⁵

Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation

A. Phenomenon and Drivers

Forum shopping occurs when parties strategically choose jurisdictions perceived as favourable to their interests, often based on procedural advantages, speed of litigation, likelihood of injunctions, or favourable substantive law.²⁵⁶ In cross-border patent disputes, this leads to multiple parallel litigations in different countries concerning the same patented invention.²⁵⁷

Pharmaceutical companies and generic manufacturers may initiate suits or defences in jurisdictions where enforcement is easier or where courts have a reputation for being patent-friendly or public-health sensitive.²⁵⁸

B. Consequences

Parallel litigation increases costs and risks inconsistent judgments, where a patent may be upheld in one country but invalidated or not infringed in another.²⁵⁹ This inconsistency complicates global patent strategy and can undermine the predictability of patent rights.

It also burdens courts and parties with duplicative proceedings, delays resolution, and may be exploited to delay market entry of generics or to harass competitors.²⁶⁰

C. Attempts to Mitigate

²⁵³ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

²⁵⁴ Id

²⁵⁵ Ic

²⁵⁶ Paul Torremans, Cross-Border Patent Litigation in Europe: Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation, 44 IIC 1, 2–3 (2013).

²⁵⁷ Id

²⁵⁸ Id

²⁵⁹ Id

²⁶⁰ Id

Some jurisdictions have sought to limit forum shopping through jurisdictional rules, consolidation mechanisms, or doctrines like lis pendens.²⁶¹ The European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC) and Brussels I Regulation (Recast) aim to reduce parallel litigation within Europe by centralizing jurisdiction and harmonizing enforcement.²⁶² However, outside such regional frameworks, forum shopping remains a persistent problem.

Evidence Gathering and Procedural Hurdles

A. Challenges in Cross-Border Evidence Collection

Effective patent enforcement depends on obtaining evidence of infringement, validity, and damages. In cross-border cases, evidence may be located in multiple countries, complicating discovery and investigation.²⁶³

Jurisdictions vary widely in their rules on discovery and evidence-gathering. For example, the United States permits broad pre-trial discovery, while many civil law countries have more limited procedures.²⁶⁴ This disparity can hinder the collection of crucial evidence located abroad.

B. Mutual Legal Assistance and Letters Rogatory

Obtaining evidence from foreign jurisdictions often requires formal requests through letters rogatory or mutual legal assistance treaties (MLATs), which are slow, bureaucratic, and uncertain.²⁶⁵ The absence of streamlined international mechanisms for patent-related evidence gathering delays proceedings and increases costs.

C. Technical Expertise and Judicial Capacity

Patent cases require judges and experts with specialized scientific knowledge. In many jurisdictions, courts lack sufficient expertise, leading to reliance on expert witnesses, which can be costly and contentious.²⁶⁶ This gap can affect the quality and consistency of decisions.

D. Procedural Delays and Enforcement

²⁶² Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1; Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast).

²⁶¹ I.d

²⁶³ Christopher Heath, Obtaining Evidence for Patent Litigation Across Borders, 48 IIC 123, 124–25 (2017).

²⁶⁴ Id

²⁶⁵ Id

²⁶⁶ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

Procedural complexities, such as interlocutory injunctions, appeals, and enforcement of judgments, can prolong litigation. In some countries, enforcement of patent judgments is slow or ineffective, reducing the deterrent effect of patent rights.²⁶⁷

Balancing Enforcement and Access to Medicines

A. The Public Health Imperative

Pharmaceutical patents grant temporary monopolies that enable innovators to recoup investments but can also lead to high drug prices, limiting access, especially in developing countries.²⁶⁸ India, as a major supplier of affordable generic medicines, faces the challenge of enforcing patents without undermining public health goals.²⁶⁹

B. Compulsory Licensing and Exceptions

India's patent law incorporates mechanisms such as **compulsory licensing** (Section 84 of the Patents Act, 1970) and exceptions under Section 3(d) to prevent evergreening and promote access.²⁷⁰ These provisions reflect India's constitutional commitment to the right to health and international public health norms, including the WTO Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health.²⁷¹

C. Cross-Border Enforcement and Access

Aggressive cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents can disrupt the supply of affordable medicines. The 2008-2009 EU seizures of Indian generics in transit exemplify the tension between patent enforcement and access to medicines. ²⁷² Such enforcement actions, while legally justified under territorial patent rights, may conflict with international trade rules and public health objectives. ²⁷³

D. International and Domestic Policy Responses

India and other developing countries advocate for a balanced approach that respects patent rights while safeguarding access. This includes promoting flexibilities under TRIPS, encouraging differential pricing, and supporting regional cooperation on patent enforcement that considers public health.

E. Ethical and Policy Considerations

²⁶⁷ Id

²⁶⁸Supra note 43 at 1, 3.

²⁶⁹ Id

²⁷⁰ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 3(d), 84, India Code (1970)

²⁷¹ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2

²⁷² WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

²⁷³ Id

The balance between enforcement and access raises ethical questions about the role of patents in healthcare. Overly rigid enforcement may prioritize profits over patients' rights, while lax enforcement can undermine innovation incentives.²⁷⁴ Policymakers must navigate these competing interests carefully.

2.8 Conclusion

The cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents stands at the confluence of law, innovation, public health, and international commerce. As this chapter has demonstrated, the territoriality principle-long the bedrock of patent law-has become increasingly strained in an era where pharmaceutical research, development, manufacturing, and distribution are inherently globalized.²⁷⁵ The result is a persistent and often problematic misalignment: while the pharmaceutical industry operates across borders, the legal mechanisms for protecting and enforcing patent rights remain largely confined within national boundaries.²⁷⁶

At the heart of this challenge lies the doctrine of territoriality, codified in the Paris Convention and reaffirmed by the TRIPS Agreement, which mandates that patents are national rights, enforceable only in the country of grant.²⁷⁷ This principle, while rooted in sovereignty and the practicalities of legal administration, creates significant hurdles for effective enforcement in a world where infringing acts are easily fragmented across multiple jurisdictions.²⁷⁸ Patent holders must navigate a patchwork of national laws, courts, and procedures, initiating duplicative litigation in each country where protection is sought.²⁷⁹ The financial and administrative burdens of such multi-jurisdictional enforcement are immense, often deterring smaller innovators and public-interest organizations from protecting their rights, and sometimes allowing infringers to exploit gaps in the system.²⁸⁰

The complexity is compounded by the technical nature of pharmaceutical patents, which often involve sophisticated scientific evidence and intersect with critical public

²⁷⁴ Supra Note 249 at 817, 830.

²⁷⁵ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

²⁷⁶ Supra Note 249 at 817, 820–21.

Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305; Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 1, 28, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

²⁷⁸ Supra Note 249 at 817, 820–22.

²⁷⁹ Supra note 256 at 1, 2–3.

²⁸⁰ Supra Note 249 at 817, 821–23.

health concerns.²⁸¹ The risk of inconsistent outcomes-where a patent is upheld in one jurisdiction but invalidated or unenforceable in another-introduces further uncertainty.²⁸² Forum shopping and parallel litigation proliferate, as parties seek out jurisdictions perceived as favourable to their interests, leading to inefficiency and unpredictability.²⁸³ The difficulties of cross-border evidence gathering, the lack of harmonized procedural rules, and the limited capacity of many courts to handle complex patent disputes further exacerbate these challenges.²⁸⁴

Efforts to address these issues at the international and regional levels have yielded only partial solutions. The TRIPS Agreement harmonized substantive standards and enforcement obligations but stopped short of creating any global enforcement mechanism or tribunal.²⁸⁵ WTO dispute settlement offers a forum for state-to-state resolution of TRIPS compliance, but provides no direct remedy for private parties and is ill-suited to the day-to-day realities of patent enforcement.²⁸⁶ The Hague Judgments Convention, which might have facilitated the recognition and enforcement of foreign patent judgments, explicitly excludes intellectual property from its scope, reflecting the lack of international consensus on how to reconcile territoriality with the needs of a global economy.²⁸⁷

Regional innovations, most notably the European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC) and unitary patent system, represent important steps toward supranational enforcement.²⁸⁸ The UPC enables centralized litigation and remedies across participating member states, reducing costs and the risk of inconsistent judgments.²⁸⁹ However, such models remain geographically limited and are not easily replicable outside the unique context of the EU.²⁹⁰

National legal systems have also experimented with doctrinal innovations-such as contributory and indirect infringement, anti-suit injunctions, and border measures-to

²⁸¹ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 379 (5th ed. 2022).

²⁸² Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1

²⁸³ Supra note 256 at 1, 8–10

²⁸⁴ Christopher Heath, Obtaining Evidence for Patent Litigation Across Borders, 48 IIC 123, 124–25 (2017).

²⁸⁵ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 41–61.

²⁸⁶ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

²⁸⁷ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

²⁸⁸ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

 $^{^{289}}$ Id

²⁹⁰ Id

address the realities of cross-border infringement.²⁹¹ Yet these approaches are often limited by the need to localize at least part of the infringing conduct within the forum country, and their effectiveness is constrained by differences in national law and policy.²⁹²

For India, these challenges are particularly acute. As both a major producer of generic medicines and a growing centre for pharmaceutical innovation, India must balance the protection of patent rights with its constitutional and moral commitment to public health and access to medicines.²⁹³ The Indian legal framework, as embodied in the Patents Act, 1970, and interpreted by the courts, reflects this delicate balance. Robust mechanisms for compulsory licensing, strict standards for patentability (notably Section 3(d)), and exceptions for research and parallel importation are designed to prevent evergreening and ensure that patent protection does not come at the expense of affordable healthcare.²⁹⁴ At the same time, India's border enforcement regime and evolving jurisprudence on indirect infringement and cross-border conduct demonstrate a willingness to adapt to the complexities of global pharmaceutical commerce.²⁹⁵

Yet, significant gaps remain. The absence of explicit statutory provisions for contributory or indirect infringement with cross-border elements, the limitations of customs enforcement, and the lack of regional or international mechanisms for mutual recognition of patent judgments all constrain the effectiveness of India's enforcement regime. Moreover, as Indian pharmaceutical companies expand globally, they increasingly find themselves both as plaintiffs and defendants in cross-border patent disputes, underscoring the need for a more harmonized and efficient system. 297

Looking forward, several pathways for reform and cooperation emerge:

1. **Doctrinal and Legislative Innovation:** India could consider amending its patent law to explicitly address contributory and indirect infringement in crossborder scenarios, drawing on best practices from the U.S., EU, and China.²⁹⁸

²⁹¹ 35 U.S.C. § 271(f) (2022); Patents Act 1977, c. 37, § 60(2) (UK); Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China.

²⁹²Supra note 6 at 1032, 1034–36

²⁹³ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 3(d), 84, India Code (1970); India Const. art. 21.

²⁹⁴ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India)

²⁹⁵ Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E)

²⁹⁶ Supra note 6 at 1032, 1036

²⁹⁷ Supra Note 249 at 817, 821–23.

²⁹⁸ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018).

- 2. **Regional Cooperation:** While a South Asian equivalent of the UPC may not be immediately feasible, India could pursue regional agreements on mutual recognition of judgments, harmonized border measures, and information sharing to combat cross-border infringement more effectively.²⁹⁹
- 3. **Capacity Building:** Enhancing the technical expertise of customs officials, judges, and patent examiners would improve the quality and consistency of enforcement, particularly in complex pharmaceutical cases.³⁰⁰
- 4. **International Advocacy:** India should continue to play a leading role in international fora, advocating for reforms that balance innovation incentives with access to medicines, and for the eventual inclusion of intellectual property in international judgments conventions.³⁰¹
- 5. **Public Health Safeguards:** Any strengthening of enforcement mechanisms must be accompanied by robust safeguards to ensure that access to affordable medicines is not unduly compromised, in line with India's constitutional and international obligations.³⁰²

In conclusion, the cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents is a dynamic and evolving field, marked by profound tensions between territorial law and global commerce, between innovation and access, and between national sovereignty and international cooperation.³⁰³ While significant challenges remain, the ongoing evolution of legal doctrine, regional integration, and international dialogue offer hope for a more coherent, equitable, and effective system of patent enforcement-one that serves both the interests of innovators and the public good

²⁹⁹ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

³⁰⁰ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 379 (5th ed. 2022).

³⁰¹ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

³⁰² The Patents Act, 1970, §§ 84, 92

³⁰³ Supra Note 249 at 817, 830.

CHAPTER 3: REFORMING CROSS-BORDER PHARMACEUTICAL PATENT ENFORCEMENT: INDIAN PERSPECTIVES AND GLOBAL PATHWAYS

3.1 Introduction

The preceding chapters have established the foundational paradox at the heart of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement: while the pharmaceutical industry is inherently global, the legal architecture governing patent rights remains stubbornly territorial.³⁰⁴ This tension between globalized innovation and fragmented enforcement is not merely an academic curiosity-it has profound consequences for public health, access to medicines, investment in research and development, and the very structure of international trade.³⁰⁵

In Chapter 1, the historical and doctrinal roots of the territoriality principle were traced, demonstrating how the evolution of patent law, from its origins as a sovereign privilege to its modern codification in international treaties such as the Paris Convention and the TRIPS Agreement, has consistently reaffirmed the national character of patent rights. The chapter highlighted the core dilemma: there is no such thing as a "world patent" or a global enforcement mechanism. Instead, patent holders must secure and defend their rights in each country separately, navigating a patchwork of national laws, courts, and procedures. The chapter highlighted the core dilemma: there is no such thing as a "world patent" or a global enforcement mechanism. The patent holders must secure and defend their rights in each country separately, navigating a patchwork of national laws, courts, and procedures.

Chapter 2 built on this foundation by mapping the substantive and procedural frameworks that shape cross-border enforcement, both in India and in leading jurisdictions such as the United States, the European Union, and China. The analysis revealed that, while international instruments like TRIPS have harmonized minimum standards for patent protection and enforcement, the actual process of enforcing rights across borders remains fragmented, costly, and often inconsistent. The chapter also explored the emergence of innovative doctrines and regional mechanisms-such as the

³⁰⁴ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022)

³⁰⁵ Supra note 43 at. 1, 3.

Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S.
 305; Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 1, 28, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

³⁰⁷ Id

³⁰⁸ Supra notes 230 at 817, 820–21.

³⁰⁹ Id

³¹⁰ Supra note 256 at 1, 2–3.

U.S. doctrine of contributory infringement, the European Unified Patent Court, and China's evolving IP courts-that seek to mitigate the rigidity of territoriality, albeit with varying degrees of success and applicability.³¹¹

Against this backdrop, the pharmaceutical sector stands out as a particularly acute arena for these challenges. The industry is characterized by high-value patents, lengthy and expensive R&D cycles, and a globalized supply chain that routinely crosses multiple jurisdictions.³¹² Indian pharmaceutical companies, in particular, have become central players in the global market, supplying affordable generic medicines to both developing and developed countries.³¹³ At the same time, India is increasingly home to innovative pharmaceutical R&D, with both domestic and multinational companies seeking to protect their inventions in a complex legal landscape.³¹⁴

The cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents thus implicates not only the interests of patent holders and generic manufacturers, but also broader questions of public health, access to medicines, and the right to health as enshrined in the Indian Constitution and international human rights instruments. The stakes are high: overly rigid enforcement can restrict access to life-saving medicines, while weak or inconsistent enforcement can undermine incentives for innovation and investment. Moreover, the challenges of cross-border enforcement are not merely theoretical. High-profile disputes-such as the denial of the imatinib (Gleevec) patent in India, the grant of compulsory licenses for cancer drugs, and the seizure of Indian generics in transit through Europe-have brought these issues to the forefront of international legal and policy debates. These cases illustrate the practical difficulties faced by patent holders and generic manufacturers alike: the need to litigate in multiple jurisdictions, the risk of inconsistent or conflicting judgments, and the vulnerability of global supply chains to extraterritorial enforcement actions. The second of the supply chains to extraterritorial enforcement actions.

²

³¹¹ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018); Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

³¹² Shamnad Basheer & T. Prashant Reddy, The 'Indirect Infringement' Conundrum in Indian Patent Law, 14 J. Intell. Prop. L. & Prac. 1032, 1034–36 (2019).

³¹³Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

³¹⁴ Id

³¹⁵ India Const. art. 21; WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

³¹⁶ Supra note 43 at. 10-12.

Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India); WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

In this context, India occupies a unique and influential position. As a country with a robust generic pharmaceutical industry, a growing innovation ecosystem, and a strong commitment to public health, India must navigate the complex interplay between protecting patent rights and ensuring access to affordable medicines.³¹⁹ The Indian legal framework-embodied in the Patents Act, 1970, and shaped by landmark judicial decisions-reflects a conscious effort to balance these competing imperatives.³²⁰ At the same time, India is an active participant in international and regional legal processes, advocating for the interests of developing countries and promoting the use of TRIPS flexibilities to safeguard public health.³²¹

This chapter seeks to move beyond diagnosis to prescription. Building on the doctrinal, comparative, and policy analysis of the previous chapters, it aims to critically assess the effectiveness of India's current approach to cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement, identify key gaps and challenges, and propose a set of reforms-legislative, judicial, administrative, and diplomatic-that can help create a more balanced, effective, and internationally credible enforcement regime.³²² The chapter will draw on case studies, comparative insights, and the latest scholarship to offer a roadmap for reform that is both grounded in Indian realities and responsive to global trends.³²³

In particular, this chapter will address the following key questions:

- What lessons can be drawn from India's experience with high-profile pharmaceutical patent disputes, including the use of compulsory licensing and the handling of cross-border enforcement actions?
- How do the approaches of leading jurisdictions-such as the U.S., EU, and China-inform potential reforms in the Indian context?
- What statutory, judicial, and administrative gaps remain in India's current legal framework, and how might they be addressed?
- How can India leverage international and regional cooperation to enhance the
 effectiveness and fairness of cross-border patent enforcement, while
 safeguarding public health and access to medicines?

_

³¹⁹ Supra note 43 at. 14-15.

³²⁰ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 3(d), 84, India Code (1970).

³²¹ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2

³²² Supra note 312 at 1032, 1034–36.

³²³ Paul Torremans, Cross-Border Patent Litigation in Europe: Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation, 44 IIC 1, 9–11 (2013)

 What specific reforms-at the level of legislation, judicial practice, customs enforcement, and international diplomacy-are needed to achieve a balanced and forward-looking enforcement regime?

By engaging with these questions, this chapter aims to contribute to the ongoing debate on how best to reconcile the demands of innovation, public health, and global commerce in the field of pharmaceutical patent enforcement.³²⁴ The analysis will be rooted in the Indian legal and policy context, but will also seek to offer insights and recommendations that are relevant to the broader international community.

The Indian Experience: Case Studies and Lessons Learned

India's approach to pharmaceutical patent enforcement has not only shaped its domestic legal landscape but also influenced global debates on access to medicines, innovation, and the boundaries of intellectual property rights. The following case studies-each a landmark in its own right-illustrate the unique challenges and policy choices that define the Indian experience. They also offer critical lessons for reforming cross-border enforcement mechanisms in a manner that is both internationally credible and responsive to India's public health imperatives.

The Imatinib (Gleevec) Patent Saga

The imatinib mesylate (Gleevec) litigation is perhaps the most internationally renowned example of India's distinctive approach to pharmaceutical patentability and enforcement. Novartis, a global pharmaceutical company, sought an Indian patent for the beta crystalline form of imatinib mesylate, a breakthrough anti-cancer drug. Although Novartis held patents for this compound in the United States, Europe, and several other jurisdictions, its application in India faced a formidable legal and policy hurdle: Section 3(d) of the Patents Act, 1970.

Section 3(d), introduced as part of India's TRIPS-compliance amendments, was designed to prevent "evergreening"-the practice of securing new patents on minor modifications of existing drugs without significant therapeutic benefit. The provision requires that new forms of known substances must demonstrate "enhancement of the known efficacy" to qualify for patent protection. 326

After a protracted legal battle, the Supreme Court of India, in Novartis AG v. Union of India, denied the patent, holding that the claimed beta crystalline form did not

³²⁴ Supra Note 308 at 817, 830

³²⁵ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 3(d), India Code (1970

³²⁶ Id

demonstrate a significant enhancement of therapeutic efficacy over the known substance.³²⁷ The Court's reasoning was grounded not only in the statutory language but also in the broader policy objective of ensuring access to affordable medicines.³²⁸ This case is instructive for several reasons:

- **Divergence in Patent Standards:** While the same invention was patented in many other jurisdictions, India's heightened efficacy requirement resulted in a different outcome.³²⁹ This divergence underscores the persistent fragmentation of global patent protection and the challenges it poses for multinational pharmaceutical companies.
- Territoriality in Enforcement: Novartis's inability to enforce its patent in India, despite holding rights elsewhere, illustrates the limits of cross-border enforcement and the primacy of national law.³³⁰
- **Public Health Considerations:** The decision was widely celebrated by public health advocates and set a precedent for prioritizing access to medicines over incremental innovation.³³¹ It also reinforced India's reputation as a defender of generic competition and a supplier of affordable drugs to the developing world.

The Gleevec saga thus exemplifies how Indian patent law, shaped by both domestic needs and international obligations, can produce outcomes that diverge from those in other major jurisdictions, with significant implications for cross-border enforcement and global health.

The Natco-Bayer Compulsory License

The grant of India's first compulsory license for the anti-cancer drug sorafenib tosylate (marketed as Nexavar) marked a watershed moment in the use of TRIPS flexibilities to promote access to medicines. Bayer, the patent holder, marketed the drug at a price far beyond the reach of most Indian patients. Natco Pharma, an Indian generic manufacturer, applied for a compulsory license under Section 84 of the Patents Act, 1970, citing three grounds: the reasonable requirements of the public were not met, the

Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1

 $^{^{328}}$ ID

³²⁹ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374, 378 (5th ed. 2022).

³³⁰ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1

³³¹ Supra note 43 at. 1, 5–7.

patented invention was not available at a reasonably affordable price, and the invention was not "worked" in India.³³²

The Controller of Patents granted the license in 2012, allowing Natco to manufacture and sell a generic version of the drug at a fraction of Bayer's price, subject to the payment of a royalty.³³³ The Intellectual Property Appellate Board (IPAB) and subsequently the courts upheld the decision.³³⁴

Key lessons from this case include:

- Operationalization of TRIPS Flexibilities: The case demonstrated India's willingness to use compulsory licensing as a tool to balance patent rights with public health, in line with the Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health.³³⁵
- Cross-Border Implications: Section 92A of the Patents Act allows compulsory licenses for export to countries with insufficient manufacturing capacity. This provision, invoked in the Natco-Bayer context, highlights India's role as a supplier of affordable generics to other developing countries.³³⁶
- International Controversy: The decision attracted criticism from developed countries and the pharmaceutical industry, which argued that it undermined incentives for innovation.³³⁷ However, it was lauded by public health advocates and set a precedent for other countries considering similar measures.³³⁸
- Territoriality and Enforcement: Despite Bayer's global patent portfolio, its inability to prevent generic production in India (and export under certain conditions) reinforced the territorial limits of patent enforcement. 339

The Natco-Bayer compulsory license thus illustrates both the power and the controversy of using patent law to advance public health objectives, and the ways in which Indian legal choices can reverberate internationally.

Border Enforcement and the EU Seizures

The 2008–2009 seizures of Indian-manufactured generic medicines in transit through European Union ports exposed the risks and complexities of cross-border patent

³³² The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 3(d), India Code (1970)

³³³ Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India).

³³⁴ Bayer Corp. v. Natco Pharma Ltd., (2014) 56 PTC 277 (IPAB) (India)

³³⁵ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

³³⁶ The Patents Act, 1970, § 92A

³³⁷ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

³³⁸Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

³³⁹ Natco Pharma Ltd., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012.

enforcement in the context of global supply chains. Several shipments of drugs, including those for HIV/AIDS and hypertension, destined for developing countries in Africa and Latin America, were detained by EU customs authorities at the behest of patent holders.³⁴⁰ The justification was that the medicines would have infringed European patents if they had been imported into the EU, even though the goods were merely transiting and not intended for European markets.³⁴¹

The seizures provoked strong diplomatic protests from India and Brazil, which argued that such actions violated international trade rules and jeopardized access to essential medicines.³⁴² The matter escalated to the World Trade Organization, where India and Brazil initiated dispute settlement proceedings against the EU and the Netherlands.³⁴³ The dispute was ultimately settled after the EU clarified its regulations, stating that intransit goods would not be routinely seized absent evidence of diversion into the EU market.³⁴⁴ Nevertheless, the episode had far-reaching consequences:

- Extraterritorial Enforcement Risks: The seizures demonstrated how patent enforcement in one jurisdiction can disrupt global supply chains and impede access to medicines in third countries.³⁴⁵
- Limits of Border Measures: The controversy highlighted the need for clear guidelines and safeguards to prevent the overreach of border enforcement mechanisms, especially when they conflict with public health and international trade obligations.³⁴⁶
- Role of International Law: The WTO dispute underscored the importance of multilateral institutions in resolving cross-border IP conflicts and balancing patent rights with other societal interests.³⁴⁷

For India, the EU seizures served as a cautionary tale about the vulnerabilities of its generic pharmaceutical exports to extraterritorial enforcement actions. They also reinforced the importance of diplomatic engagement and the need for international legal frameworks that protect both IP rights and the right to health.

³⁴² Id

³⁴⁰ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

³⁴¹ Id

³⁴³ Id

³⁴⁴ Id

³⁴⁵ Supra note 323 at 1, 9–11.

³⁴⁶ Id.; Supra note 312 at 1032, 1035–36.

³⁴⁷ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

3.2 Comparative Policy Analysis: What Works and What Fails

The cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents is shaped by the interplay of national legal doctrines, regional integration efforts, and the realities of global commerce. The approaches of the United States, the European Union, and China-three of the world's largest pharmaceutical markets and sources of patent litigation-offer instructive contrasts and reveal both successful strategies and persistent shortcomings. A comparative analysis of these jurisdictions not only highlights the diversity of legal responses to cross-border infringement but also provides valuable lessons for India as it seeks to reform its own enforcement regime.

United States: Innovation, Litigation, and Extraterritorial Reach

The United States has long been recognized as a global leader in pharmaceutical innovation, with a legal system that robustly protects patent rights and encourages investment in research and development.³⁴⁸ The U.S. patent system is characterized by strong statutory protection, active litigation, and a willingness to experiment with doctrines that address the complexities of cross-border infringement.

A. Statutory and Judicial Innovations

The U.S. Patent Act, codified at 35 U.S.C., strictly embodies the principle of territoriality: Section 271(a) confines direct infringement to acts occurring "within the United States" or importation into the U.S.³⁴⁹ Historically, this limitation allowed infringers to evade liability by splitting the infringing conduct across borders. The Supreme Court's decision in Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp. held that manufacturing components in the U.S. for assembly abroad did not constitute infringement, as the final "making" occurred outside U.S. territory.³⁵⁰

Congress responded by enacting Section 271(f), which imposes liability for supplying components from the U.S. for combination abroad, thus closing the Deepsouth loophole³⁵¹ The Supreme Court's decision in WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp. further extended the reach of U.S. patent law by allowing patentees to recover damages for certain foreign sales lost due to domestic infringement under § 271(f).³⁵²

The U.S. also recognizes doctrines of indirect and contributory infringement (Sections 271(b)-(c)), imposing liability on those who induce or contribute to infringement, even

³⁴⁸ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

³⁴⁹ 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) (2022).

³⁵⁰ Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518, 527 (1972)

³⁵¹ 35 U.S.C. § 271(f) (2022).

³⁵² WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018).

if the direct infringer is outside the U.S., provided the inducement or contribution occurs domestically.³⁵³

B. Litigation Environment and Enforcement Mechanisms

The U.S. litigation environment is highly active, with specialized patent courts (notably the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit) and broad discovery rules that facilitate evidence gathering.³⁵⁴ The International Trade Commission (ITC) offers swift border remedies under Section 337 of the Tariff Act, allowing for the exclusion of infringing imports.³⁵⁵

However, the high cost and complexity of U.S. patent litigation can be prohibitive, especially for smaller entities.³⁵⁶ The absence of a general compulsory licensing regime means that enforcement can, at times, impede access to affordable medicines, a criticism often levelled at the U.S. system by public health advocates.³⁵⁷

C. Extraterritoriality and Limitations

Despite the innovations, U.S. courts generally refuse to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents, citing comity and the practical difficulties of applying foreign law.³⁵⁸ In Voda v. Cordis Corp., the Federal Circuit declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over foreign patent claims, reaffirming the territorial limits of U.S. patent law.³⁵⁹

D. Evaluation

The U.S. approach demonstrates the value of doctrinal flexibility and specialized enforcement mechanisms, but also reveals the risks of high litigation costs and limited attention to public health considerations.

European Union: Regional Integration and the UPC

The European Union's approach to cross-border patent enforcement is shaped by its unique project of legal and economic integration. The EU has moved further than any other region toward supranational enforcement, culminating in the creation of the Unified Patent Court (UPC) and the unitary patent system.

A. The European Patent System

³⁵³ 35 U.S.C. § 271(b)-(c) (2022)

³⁵⁴Supra Note 308 at, 822–23.

^{355 19} U.S.C. § 1337 (2022).

³⁵⁶ Supra Note 308 at 817, 822–23.

³⁵⁷ Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

³⁵⁸ Voda v. Cordis Corp., 476 F.3d 887, 900 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

³⁵⁹ Id

The European Patent Convention (EPC) allows for a centralized application process, resulting in a bundle of national patents, each enforceable in its designated state.³⁶⁰ Traditionally, enforcement has been national, leading to parallel litigation, forum shopping, and inconsistent outcomes.³⁶¹

B. The Unified Patent Court (UPC) and Unitary Patent

The UPC, operational since June 2023, is an international court with exclusive jurisdiction over European patents (with unitary effect) and, in some cases, traditional European patents in participating member states.³⁶² The unitary patent allows inventors to obtain a single patent with effect across all participating states, dramatically simplifying enforcement.³⁶³

The UPC can issue injunctions and award damages effective in all member states in a single proceeding, reducing costs and legal uncertainty.³⁶⁴ The court's centralized structure also minimizes the risk of inconsistent judgments and forum shopping.³⁶⁵

C. Jurisdictional Innovations

The Brussels I Regulation (Recast) and recent CJEU decisions have clarified that, under certain conditions, a single EU court can hear infringement claims involving multiple national patents, provided the defendant is domiciled in the forum and the validity of foreign patents is not at issue.³⁶⁶ In Case C-616/20 (Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische), the CJEU permitted a court in one member state to adjudicate infringement of counterpart patents in other states, provided the defendant is domiciled in the forum and validity is not challenged.³⁶⁷

D. Border Measures and Public Health

EU customs authorities are empowered to detain goods suspected of infringing IP rights under Regulation (EU) No. 608/2013.³⁶⁸ However, the controversial seizures of Indian

³⁶⁰ European Patent Convention art. 2, Oct. 5, 1973, 1065 U.N.T.S. 199

³⁶¹ Supra note 323 at 1, 2–3.

³⁶² Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

³⁶³ Id

³⁶⁴ Id

³⁶⁵ Id

³⁶⁶ Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 7(2).

³⁶⁷ Case C-616/20, Mittelbayerische v. Bayerische, ECLI:EU:C:2025:123 (CJEU 2025).

³⁶⁸ Regulation (EU) No. 608/2013, art. 17

generics in transit in 2008–2009 highlighted the need to balance enforcement with legitimate trade and public health objectives.³⁶⁹

E. Evaluation

The EU's regional integration offers a promising model for centralized enforcement and legal certainty, but its geographic scope is limited and the exclusion of IP from the Hague Judgments Convention means enforcement outside the EU remains fragmented.³⁷⁰

China: Enforcement Evolution and Strategic Use of Courts

China's approach to pharmaceutical patent enforcement has evolved rapidly, reflecting its transition from a manufacturing hub for generics to an emerging centre for pharmaceutical innovation.

A. Legal Framework and Territoriality

China's Patent Law, as amended in 2020, is strictly territorial: only acts occurring within Chinese territory can infringe a Chinese patent.³⁷¹ However, China has strengthened enforcement mechanisms, including the introduction of punitive damages for wilful infringement and the establishment of specialized IP courts in major cities.³⁷²

B. Border Measures and Administrative Enforcement

Chinese customs authorities can seize infringing goods intended for import or export, provided the right holder records their patent with customs.³⁷³ Administrative enforcement agencies play a significant role in investigating and penalizing infringement, supplementing judicial remedies.³⁷⁴

C. Judicial Innovation: Anti-Suit Injunctions

Chinese courts have recently begun issuing anti-suit injunctions in global patent disputes, particularly in standard-essential patent (SEP) cases. In **Huawei v.**Conversant, the Supreme People's Court issued an anti-suit injunction restraining enforcement of a German judgment, asserting China's jurisdiction over the global

³⁷³ Id. arts. 75–76

³⁶⁹ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

³⁷⁰ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

³⁷¹ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 2 (2020)

³⁷² Id. Art. 71

³⁷⁴ Christopher Heath, Obtaining Evidence for Patent Litigation Across Borders, 48 IIC 123, 135–36 (2017).

licensing dispute.³⁷⁵ This reflects a more assertive approach to cross-border patent issues and a willingness to shape global litigation dynamics.

D. Compulsory Licensing and Public Health

China's Patent Law provides for compulsory licensing in cases of public health emergencies or non-working of patents, though such licenses are rarely granted.³⁷⁶ The regime is seen as a tool to ensure access to medicines while supporting domestic innovation.³⁷⁷

E. Evaluation

China's strategy demonstrates the benefits of judicial specialization, administrative innovation, and a willingness to assert jurisdiction in transnational disputes. However, enforcement remains territorial, and the system is still maturing in terms of transparency and predictability.

Lessons for India

A comparative analysis of the U.S., EU, and Chinese systems yields several important lessons for India as it seeks to reform its cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement regime:

A. Doctrinal Flexibility

The U.S. experience with § 271(f) and the WesternGeco decision shows the value of adapting legal doctrines to address cross-border infringement schemes.³⁷⁸ India could consider statutory amendments to address situations where components or active pharmaceutical ingredients are exported from India for assembly or use in jurisdictions where the patent is in force.

B. Regional Cooperation and Centralized Enforcement

The EU's UPC and unitary patent system illustrate the advantages of supranational enforcement: reduced costs, consistent judgments, and broader remedies.³⁷⁹ While such integration may not be immediately feasible in South Asia, India could explore regional cooperation for mutual recognition of IP judgments, harmonized border measures, or joint enforcement initiatives.

C. Judicial and Administrative Capacity

³⁷⁸ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018).

³⁷⁵ Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China.

³⁷⁶ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 48 (2020).

³⁷⁷ Id

³⁷⁹ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1

China's investment in specialized IP courts and administrative enforcement agencies highlights the importance of technical expertise and institutional capacity.³⁸⁰ India could benefit from establishing specialized patent benches or courts and enhancing training for judges, customs officials, and patent examiners.

D. Balancing Enforcement and Access

All three jurisdictions grapple with the tension between strong patent enforcement and access to medicines. India's compulsory licensing regime is among the world's most robust and is widely seen as a model for balancing innovation and public health.³⁸¹ However, India must ensure that its approach remains TRIPS-compliant and is not perceived as undermining innovation incentives.

E. Cautionary Notes

- Overly aggressive border enforcement, as seen in the EU seizures of Indian generics, can provoke international disputes and harm access to medicines. 382
- Extraterritorial application of patent law must be carefully calibrated to avoid conflicts of law and forum shopping.

F. The Path Forward

Drawing on these lessons, India can aim to create a more balanced, effective, and internationally credible enforcement regime by:

- Amending its patent law to address cross-border infringement and contributory liability;
- Investing in judicial and administrative capacity;
- Advocating for regional and international cooperation; and
- Maintaining robust public health safeguards.

3.3 The Indian Legal and Policy Landscape: Gaps and Opportunities

While India's patent regime has evolved to balance innovation incentives with public health imperatives, the realities of cross-border pharmaceutical commerce have exposed several statutory, judicial, and administrative gaps. Addressing these is essential for India to develop an enforcement system that is both robust and fair, and that aligns with international best practices while safeguarding national interests.

Statutory Gaps: Indirect Infringement, Jurisdiction, and Border Measures

³⁸⁰ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 71 (2020).

³⁸¹ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 84, India Code (1970)

³⁸² WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

A. Indirect and Contributory Infringement

One of the most significant statutory gaps in Indian patent law is the absence of explicit provisions addressing **indirect or contributory infringement**, particularly in cross-border contexts.³⁸³ The Patents Act, 1970, primarily defines infringement in terms of direct acts: making, using, offering for sale, selling, or importing the patented invention in India without the patentee's consent (Section 48).³⁸⁴

Unlike the United States, where 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(b)-(c) impose liability for inducing or contributing to infringement,³⁸⁵ and the United Kingdom, where the Patents Act 1977, § 60(2) covers supplying essential means for putting the invention into effect,³⁸⁶ Indian law does not expressly recognize liability for those who facilitate or induce infringement from within India when the final infringing act occurs abroad or vice versa.

This omission creates loopholes in an era where pharmaceutical supply chains are global, and infringing activity can be split across jurisdictions. For example, an Indian company might supply active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) or intermediates to a foreign entity that completes the manufacture and sale of a patented drug in a country where the patent is in force.³⁸⁷ Without a doctrine of contributory infringement, such upstream facilitation may escape liability under Indian law, even if it undermines the patentee's rights in other jurisdictions.

Scholars have called for legislative reform to address this gap, arguing that a clear statutory basis for indirect and contributory infringement would better align Indian law with international standards and close enforcement loopholes.³⁸⁸

B. Jurisdictional Limitations

Indian courts are generally reluctant to adjudicate infringement of foreign patents or acts committed wholly outside India, adhering strictly to the territoriality principle.³⁸⁹ Section 104 of the Patents Act restricts suits for infringement to courts not inferior to a District Court having jurisdiction, and the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, reinforces the requirement that the cause of action must arise within the forum's territory.³⁹⁰

³⁸³ Supra note 312 at 1032, 1034–36

³⁸⁴ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 48, India Code (1970).

³⁸⁵ 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(b)-(c) (2022).

³⁸⁶ Patents Act 1977, c. 37, § 60(2) (UK).

³⁸⁷ Supra note 312 at 1032, 1034–36.

³⁸⁸ Id

³⁸⁹ Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC OnLine Del 8672.

³⁹⁰ The Patents Act, 1970, § 104; Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, § 20

This creates challenges in addressing cross-border infringement schemes, where acts of facilitation, export, or import may span multiple jurisdictions. Indian courts have not developed doctrines akin to the "long-arm" jurisdiction available in some U.S. states or the consolidated proceedings permitted under the Brussels I Regulation in the EU.³⁹¹ As a result, patent holders must often resort to parallel litigation in multiple countries, increasing costs and the risk of inconsistent outcomes. There is a growing need for statutory and procedural innovation to enable Indian courts to more effectively address cross-border disputes, at least where a substantial part of the infringing scheme occurs within India.³⁹²

C. Border Measures

India's border enforcement regime, governed by the Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, empowers customs authorities to suspend the clearance of goods suspected of infringing IP rights, including patents.³⁹³ However, these measures are limited to imports; they do not extend to exports or goods in transit.³⁹⁴

Given India's role as a major exporter of generic medicines, this limitation is significant. The inability to prevent the export of infringing goods from India to countries where a patent is in force can expose Indian exporters to foreign litigation and diplomatic pressure, as seen in the EU seizures of Indian generics in transit.³⁹⁵

Moreover, customs officials often lack the technical expertise to assess complex patent claims, especially in pharmaceuticals, leading to delays, wrongful detentions, or underenforcement. There is a pressing need for statutory clarification, technical training, and clear guidelines to ensure that border measures are effective, proportionate, and consistent with India's international obligations.

Judicial Innovations and Limitations

A. Judicial Creativity and Balancing Public Interest

Indian courts have played a pivotal role in shaping patent law, particularly in the pharmaceutical sector. Landmark decisions such as Novartis AG v. Union of

³⁹¹ Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 7(2); Paul Torremans, Cross-Border Patent Litigation in Europe: Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation, 44 IIC 1, 2–3 (2013).

³⁹² Supra note 312 at 1032, 1034–36.

³⁹³ Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E) (India)

³⁹⁵ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

³⁹⁶ Supra note 312 at 1032, 1035–36.

India and Bayer Corporation v. Union of India demonstrate a willingness to interpret statutory provisions in light of public health considerations and India's constitutional commitments.³⁹⁷

Courts have also innovated in granting or denying interim injunctions, weighing the balance of convenience, irreparable harm, and public interest, especially where life-saving medicines are involved.³⁹⁸ In F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., the Delhi High Court refused an interim injunction against a generic manufacturer, citing the need to ensure access to affordable medicines.³⁹⁹

B. Limitations and Inconsistencies

Despite these innovations, the Indian judiciary faces several limitations:

- Lack of Specialized Patent Benches: Unlike China, which has established specialized IP courts, Indian patent cases are typically heard by generalist judges, who may lack technical expertise in pharmaceuticals and biotechnology. This can lead to inconsistent or suboptimal decisions, especially in complex infringement or validity disputes.
- Absence of Doctrinal Development on Cross-Border Issues: Indian courts have not yet developed robust doctrines to address cross-border contributory infringement, anti-suit injunctions, or the consolidation of multi-jurisdictional disputes. 401 The reluctance to adjudicate foreign patent claims, while grounded in sovereignty, limits the ability of Indian courts to provide effective remedies in transnational cases.
- **Procedural Delays:** The Indian judicial system is notorious for delays, and patent cases are no exception. Lengthy litigation undermines the effectiveness of enforcement and can be exploited by infringers to delay market entry of generics or to harass competitors.⁴⁰²

C. Opportunities for Reform

There is considerable scope for judicial reform, including the establishment of specialized patent benches, enhanced training for judges in scientific and technical matters, and the development of procedural rules for expedited resolution of patent

⁴⁰⁰ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 71 (2020).

³⁹⁷ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC OnLine Del 8672.

³⁹⁸ F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71 (Del)

³⁹⁹ I.d

⁴⁰¹ Supra note 312 at 1032, 1036.

⁴⁰² Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374, 379 (5th ed. 2022).

disputes.⁴⁰³ Indian courts could also draw on comparative jurisprudence to develop doctrines that address the realities of cross-border infringement while respecting the limits of territoriality.

Administrative and Institutional Capacity

A. Patent Office and Examination

The Indian Patent Office has made significant strides in recent years, reducing backlogs and improving the quality of examination.⁴⁰⁴ However, the increasing complexity of pharmaceutical patents, including biologics and biosimilars, demands greater technical expertise and continuous training for examiners.⁴⁰⁵

B. Customs Authorities

Customs officials are on the front lines of border enforcement but often lack the scientific background to assess patent infringement claims, particularly for process patents or complex pharmaceutical compositions. ⁴⁰⁶ The risk of both over- and underenforcement is high, with potential consequences for legitimate trade, public health, and India's international reputation.

C. Inter-Agency Coordination

Effective patent enforcement requires coordination among multiple agencies: the Patent Office, customs, the judiciary, and law enforcement. Institutional silos and lack of communication can hamper enforcement efforts and create gaps that are exploited by infringers.

D. Capacity Building and Technical Training

There is a critical need for ongoing capacity building across all relevant agencies. This includes:

- Regular training for patent examiners and customs officials on pharmaceutical technologies and patent law;
- Development of technical guidelines and standard operating procedures for assessing infringement at the border;
- Creation of expert panels or advisory bodies to assist courts and customs in complex cases.⁴⁰⁸

⁴⁰³ Id

⁴⁰⁴ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 13–14

⁴⁰⁵ I.d

⁴⁰⁶ Supra note 312 at 1035–36

⁴⁰⁷ Id

⁴⁰⁸ Id

E. Digital Infrastructure and Data Sharing

Modernizing administrative processes through digital infrastructure-such as online patent databases, real-time customs alerts, and inter-agency data sharing-can enhance the speed and accuracy of enforcement.⁴⁰⁹

3.4 International and Regional Cooperation: India's Role and Interests

The fragmentation of patent enforcement across national borders has led to persistent calls for greater international and regional cooperation, especially in sectors as globally integrated as pharmaceuticals. For India, these cooperative frameworks are not merely academic-they are central to reconciling the dual imperatives of incentivizing innovation and ensuring access to affordable medicines. India's approach to international and regional cooperation is shaped by its unique position as a major supplier of generic medicines, a growing hub for pharmaceutical innovation, and a champion of public health interests in global fora.

TRIPS Flexibilities and WTO Engagement

A. TRIPS Flexibilities: The Indian Approach

The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), which came into force in 1995, is the cornerstone of global intellectual property harmonization. While TRIPS sets minimum standards for patent protection and enforcement, it also incorporates a range of "flexibilities" that allow member states to tailor their IP regimes to local needs, particularly in the field of public health. India has been a global leader in the use and defence of TRIPS flexibilities. Notably, the Patents Act, 1970, as amended, incorporates key flexibilities such as:

- Compulsory Licensing (Section 84): Permitting the grant of licenses to third parties to produce patented pharmaceuticals when the reasonable requirements of the public are not met, the patented invention is not available at a reasonably affordable price, or the invention is not worked in India.⁴¹²
- Parallel Importation (Section 107A): Allowing the import of patented products legally sold elsewhere, promoting access to lower-cost medicines. 413

⁴⁰⁹ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 21–22.

⁴¹⁰ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁴¹¹ Id. Art. 7, 8, 31

⁴¹² The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 84, India Code (1970).

⁴¹³ Id. § 107A.

• Section 3(d): Preventing "evergreening" by requiring enhanced efficacy for new forms of known substances.⁴¹⁴

These provisions have been repeatedly upheld in Indian courts and have influenced policy debates in other developing countries.⁴¹⁵

B. WTO Engagement and Dispute Settlement

India's engagement at the World Trade Organization (WTO) has been proactive and strategic. India played a pivotal role in the negotiation of the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (2001), which reaffirmed the right of WTO members to use TRIPS flexibilities to protect public health and promote access to medicines for all.⁴¹⁶

India has also used the WTO dispute settlement mechanism to challenge extraterritorial enforcement actions that threaten its pharmaceutical exports. The most prominent example is the **DS408 dispute** against the European Union over the seizure of Indian generic medicines in transit, which resulted in regulatory clarification by the EU and reinforced the importance of balancing IP enforcement with legitimate trade and public health interests.⁴¹⁷

Through such engagement, India has positioned itself as a spokesperson for the developing world, advocating for a balanced interpretation of TRIPS that respects both innovation and access.

C. Ongoing Challenges and Opportunities

Despite these successes, challenges remain. Developed countries and multinational pharmaceutical companies continue to exert pressure for stricter enforcement, sometimes through bilateral trade agreements or "TRIPS-plus" provisions that go beyond WTO requirements. India must remain vigilant in defending its policy space at the WTO and in resisting external pressures that could undermine its public health safeguards. In the safeguards of the safeguards of the safeguards.

At the same time, India can leverage its leadership to promote further clarification and expansion of TRIPS flexibilities, particularly in areas such as compulsory licensing for

⁴¹⁵ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Supra note 43 at. 1, 5–7

⁴¹⁴ Id. § 3(d)

 $^{^{416}}$ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2

⁴¹⁷ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

⁴¹⁸ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁴¹⁹ Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

export (Section 92A) and the use of public health exceptions in emergencies (as seen during the COVID-19 pandemic).⁴²⁰

The Hague Judgments Convention: Prospects for IP Inclusion

A. The Hague Judgments Convention: Background

The Hague Conference on Private International Law adopted the Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters in 2019.⁴²¹ The Convention aims to facilitate the mutual recognition and enforcement of civil judgments among contracting states, thereby reducing duplicative litigation and enhancing legal certainty in cross-border disputes.

B. Exclusion of Intellectual Property Judgments

Despite its broad ambitions, the Hague Judgments Convention explicitly excludes intellectual property matters, including patents, from its scope. Article 2(1)(m) provides that the Convention "shall not apply to the validity, registration, or infringement of intellectual property rights." This exclusion reflects the lack of international consensus on how to reconcile the territoriality of IP rights with the need for cross-border enforcement.

For India, this exclusion is particularly consequential. As a major exporter of pharmaceuticals and a frequent participant in cross-border patent disputes, India would benefit from a system that allows for the efficient recognition and enforcement of patent judgments abroad, provided that adequate safeguards are in place to protect public health and national policy priorities.⁴²³

C. Prospects for Inclusion and Indian Interests

There is growing scholarly and policy debate about whether and how intellectual property might be included in future iterations of the Hague Judgments Convention or through a supplemental protocol.⁴²⁴ India's interests in such negotiations are twofold:

• Ensuring Balance: Any system for cross-border recognition of patent judgments must include safeguards to prevent the enforcement of judgments that would undermine India's public health policies or constitutional commitments. 425

⁴²⁰ The Patents Act, 1970, § 92A

⁴²¹ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters, July 2, 2019.

⁴²² Id. art. 2(1)(m).

⁴²³ Supra notes 230 at 817, 829–30.

⁴²⁴ Id

⁴²⁵ Id

• **Reducing Litigation Costs:** Inclusion of IP in the Convention could reduce the need for duplicative litigation and enhance legal certainty for Indian innovators and generic manufacturers operating internationally. 426

India should actively participate in ongoing discussions at the Hague Conference and in other international fora to advocate for a balanced approach that respects both the territoriality of IP rights and the realities of global commerce.

Regional Models: SAARC, BRICS, and Beyond

A. The Case for Regional Cooperation

While global harmonization of patent enforcement remains elusive, regional cooperation offers a pragmatic pathway for addressing cross-border challenges. Regional models can facilitate mutual recognition of judgments, harmonize border measures, and foster information sharing among enforcement agencies.

B. SAARC: Opportunities and Obstacles

The **South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC)**, comprising Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan, and Sri Lanka, has long discussed the potential for cooperation in science, technology, and intellectual property. However, progress has been slow due to political tensions and divergent national interests.

Nevertheless, SAARC offers a potential platform for developing regional protocols on:

- Mutual Recognition of Patent Judgments: Allowing a judgment rendered in one member state to be recognized and enforced in others, subject to public policy exceptions.
- Harmonized Border Measures: Coordinating customs procedures to prevent the cross-border movement of infringing goods while safeguarding legitimate trade and access to medicines.
- Technical Assistance and Capacity Building: Sharing best practices and resources for patent examination, enforcement, and judicial training.

C. BRICS and Other South-South Initiatives

India is also a key member of **BRICS** (Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa), a grouping of major emerging economies with shared interests in promoting innovation

⁴²⁶ Supra note 323 at 1, 9–11.

⁴²⁷ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

and access to medicines.⁴²⁸ BRICS has established working groups on intellectual property and could serve as a forum for:

- **Joint Enforcement Initiatives:** Coordinating enforcement actions against cross-border infringement, particularly in pharmaceuticals.
- **Policy Dialogue:** Developing common positions in international negotiations, including at the WTO and the Hague Conference.
- Research Collaboration: Facilitating joint R&D and technology transfer among member states.

Other regional organizations, such as the African Regional Intellectual Property Organization (ARIPO) and the Eurasian Patent Organization (EAPO), provide models for regional patent cooperation, though enforcement remains largely national.⁴²⁹ India can draw lessons from these experiences in designing its own regional strategies.

D. India's Leadership Role

Given its economic size, pharmaceutical capacity, and legal expertise, India is well positioned to lead regional and South-South cooperation on cross-border patent enforcement. By championing balanced, development-oriented approaches, India can help shape regional frameworks that address both the needs of innovators and the imperatives of public health.⁴³⁰

3.5 Proposals for Reform: Toward a Balanced and Effective Regime

The persistent challenges of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement, as detailed in the preceding chapters, demand a multi-pronged reform strategy. Such a strategy must reconcile the imperatives of innovation and public health, address statutory and institutional gaps, and position India as a leader in both regional and global IP governance. The following proposals draw on comparative experience, Indian jurisprudence, and international best practices to outline a roadmap for a more balanced and effective enforcement regime.

Legislative Amendments

A. Recognizing Indirect and Contributory Infringement

⁴³⁰ Supra note 312 at 1032, 1036.

78

⁴²⁸ BRICS, Joint Statement of the BRICS Heads of Intellectual Property Offices, 2023.

⁴²⁹ African Regional Intellectual Property Organization, Harare Protocol on Patents and Industrial Designs, Dec. 10, 1982; Eurasian Patent Convention, Sept. 9, 1994, 2203 U.N.T.S. 263.

A critical statutory reform is the explicit recognition of **indirect and contributory infringement** in the Patents Act, 1970.⁴³¹ The current law focuses on direct acts of infringement, leaving loopholes for cross-border facilitation of infringement (such as supplying active pharmaceutical ingredients or intermediates for use abroad).⁴³² Drawing inspiration from 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(b)-(c) and the UK Patents Act 1977, India should introduce provisions that impose liability on parties who knowingly induce or contribute to infringement, even if the final infringing act occurs outside India but is facilitated from within its territory.⁴³³

B. Jurisdictional Flexibility

India should consider amending its procedural laws to allow for **consolidated proceedings** in cross-border patent disputes, at least where a substantial part of the infringing scheme occurs in India. ⁴³⁴ This could include limited "long-arm" jurisdiction for cases with significant connections to India, as seen in some U.S. states and under the Brussels I Regulation in the EU. ⁴³⁵

C. Strengthening Border Measures

The Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007 should be revised to:

- Extend border enforcement to exports where there is credible evidence of infringement in the destination country.
- Provide detailed guidelines for customs officials on the assessment of patent claims, especially for pharmaceuticals.
- Introduce fast-track procedures for resolving disputes over detained goods, with input from technical experts and expedited judicial review.⁴³⁶

D. Digital Infrastructure and Transparency

Legislation should mandate the creation of a **centralized**, **digital database** of patent rights accessible to customs, courts, and the public.⁴³⁷ This would facilitate real-time verification of patent status and support more efficient enforcement.

Judicial Training and Specialization

A. Establishment of Specialized Patent Benches

⁴³¹ Supra note 312 at 1032, 1034–36.

⁴³² The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 48, India Code (1970).

⁴³³ 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(b)-(c) (2022); Patents Act 1977, c. 37, § 60(2) (UK).

⁴³⁴ Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, § 20 (India)

⁴³⁵ Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 7(2).

⁴³⁶ Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E) (India).

⁴³⁷ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 21–22

India should establish **specialized patent benches** within the High Courts or consider a dedicated patent court, as seen in China and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.⁴³⁸ Specialized benches would enhance technical expertise, consistency, and speed in patent adjudication.

B. Continuous Judicial Education

A robust program of **judicial education** in IP law, pharmaceutical science, and cross-border enforcement issues is essential. This could be administered through the National Judicial Academy and in partnership with international organizations such as WIPO.⁴³⁹

C. Development of Cross-Border Doctrines

Judges should be encouraged to develop doctrines tailored to cross-border realities, such as anti-suit injunctions, Arrow declarations, and equitable remedies for complex infringement schemes, drawing on comparative jurisprudence.⁴⁴⁰

Customs and Border Enforcement Reform

A. Technical Training for Customs Authorities

Customs officials require **specialized training** in pharmaceutical patent law, chemical analysis, and the identification of infringing goods.⁴⁴¹ Regular workshops and the establishment of expert panels to advise on complex cases would reduce errors and delays.

B. Inter-Agency Coordination

A formal mechanism for **inter-agency coordination** among the Patent Office, customs, judiciary, and law enforcement should be institutionalized.⁴⁴² This could include a national IP enforcement task force and regular information sharing.

C. Proportionality and Due Process

Border enforcement must be **proportionate and respect due process**, with safeguards to prevent the wrongful detention of legitimate goods, especially medicines bound for humanitarian use.⁴⁴³ Clear appeal procedures and timelines for review of customs actions are essential.

⁴³⁸ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 71 (2020); Rochelle Dreyfuss, The Costs of Cross-Border Patent Enforcement, 25 Fordham Intell. Prop. Media & Ent. L.J. 817, 822–23 (2015)

⁴³⁹ World Intellectual Property Organization, WIPO Academy, Annual Report 2023, at 15–16.

⁴⁴⁰ F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71 (Del); Unwired Planet Int'l Ltd. v. Huawei Techs. Co., [2020] UKSC 37.

⁴⁴¹ Shamnad Basheer & T. Prashant Reddy, The 'Indirect Infringement' Conundrum in Indian Patent Law, 14 J. Intell. Prop. L. & Prac. 1036–36 (2019).

 $^{^{443}}$ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

D. International Cooperation

Customs authorities should participate in **regional and international networks** for information exchange, joint operations, and best practice sharing, particularly with major trading partners and regional organizations.⁴⁴⁴

Regional and International Diplomacy

A. Leadership in Regional IP Cooperation

India should take the initiative in **regional forums** such as SAARC and BRICS to develop protocols for mutual recognition of patent judgments, harmonized border measures, and joint enforcement actions against cross-border infringement.⁴⁴⁵

B. Advocacy in Global Fora

India must continue its leadership at the WTO, WIPO, and the Hague Conference, advocating for the inclusion of balanced IP enforcement mechanisms in international treaties and ensuring that public health safeguards are preserved.⁴⁴⁶

C. Bilateral and Multilateral Agreements

India should negotiate **bilateral and regional agreements** with key trading partners to facilitate the recognition and enforcement of patent judgments, establish common standards for evidence gathering, and streamline dispute resolution.⁴⁴⁷

Public Health Safeguards and Access to Medicines

A. Maintaining TRIPS Flexibilities

All reforms must **preserve and operationalize TRIPS flexibilities**, including robust compulsory licensing provisions (Sections 84 and 92A), parallel importation, and exceptions for research and public health emergencies.⁴⁴⁸

B. Differential Pricing and Voluntary Licensing

India should encourage **differential pricing** and **voluntary licensing** arrangements for essential medicines, ensuring that patent enforcement does not result in unaffordable prices or shortages.⁴⁴⁹

C. Transparency and Stakeholder Engagement

⁴⁴⁴ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

⁴⁴⁵ BRICS, Joint Statement of the BRICS Heads of Intellectual Property Offices, 2023

⁴⁴⁶ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁴⁴⁷ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters, July 2, 2019.

⁴⁴⁸ The Patents Act, 1970, §§ 84, 92A.

⁴⁴⁹ Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

Reform processes should be **transparent** and involve consultation with all stakeholders, including patient groups, public health experts, generic manufacturers, and innovators.⁴⁵⁰

D. Safeguards in Cross-Border Enforcement

Any extension of cross-border enforcement powers must include **explicit safeguards** to prevent the disruption of legitimate trade in generics, especially for medicines destined for countries with no relevant patent or with compulsory licenses in place.⁴⁵¹

3.6 Conclusion

The cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents remains one of the most complex and consequential issues at the intersection of intellectual property law, public health, and international trade. As demonstrated throughout this dissertation, the tension between the territorial nature of patent rights and the globalized reality of pharmaceutical innovation and supply chains is not just a theoretical dilemma-it is a practical challenge that shapes the availability, affordability, and accessibility of medicines worldwide.⁴⁵²

India's experience is emblematic of both the opportunities and the challenges inherent in this landscape. As a leading supplier of affordable generic medicines to the developing world and an emerging hub for pharmaceutical innovation, India is uniquely positioned at the crossroads of global IP policy. The case studies of the imatinib (Gleevec) patent litigation, the Natco-Bayer compulsory license, and the EU seizures of Indian generics in transit have each illuminated the strengths and limitations of India's legal and policy frameworks. They have also underscored the importance of maintaining a delicate balance between incentivizing innovation and safeguarding public health.

The comparative analysis of the United States, European Union, and China reveals that no single jurisdiction has fully resolved the challenges of cross-border patent enforcement. The U.S. model demonstrates the value of doctrinal flexibility and

_

⁴⁵⁰ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India)

⁴⁵¹ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2

⁴⁵² Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

⁴⁵³Supra note 43 at 1, 3.

⁴⁵⁴ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India); WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

specialized enforcement mechanisms, but also highlights the risks of high litigation costs and limited public health safeguards. The EU's regional integration, exemplified by the Unified Patent Court, offers a promising model for centralized enforcement, though its reach is geographically limited and its approach to access remains contested. China's rapid evolution in judicial specialization and administrative innovation provides important lessons in capacity building, yet its system is still maturing in terms of transparency and predictability.

For India, the path forward involves both learning from these models and forging its own approach-one that is attuned to its constitutional commitments, economic realities, and international responsibilities. The statutory gaps in Indian law-most notably the absence of explicit provisions for indirect and contributory infringement, and the limitations of border measures-must be addressed through legislative reform. Judicial innovation, including the establishment of specialized patent benches and the development of doctrines responsive to cross-border realities, is equally essential. Administrative and institutional capacity, particularly in the Patent Office and customs authorities, must be strengthened through ongoing training, digital infrastructure, and inter-agency coordination.

At the international and regional levels, India must continue to champion TRIPS flexibilities and engage proactively in WTO and Hague Conference negotiations to ensure that global frameworks respect both innovation and access.⁴⁶¹ Regional cooperation-whether through SAARC, BRICS, or other South-South initiatives-offers a pragmatic avenue for harmonizing enforcement, sharing best practices, and protecting the interests of both innovators and patients.⁴⁶²

Crucially, all reforms must be anchored in robust public health safeguards. The preservation and operationalization of compulsory licensing, parallel importation, and exceptions for research and emergencies are not merely legal technicalities-they are

⁴⁵⁵ Supra notes 230 at 817, 822–23.

⁴⁵⁶ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1

⁴⁵⁷ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 71 (2020).

⁴⁵⁸ Shamnad Basheer & T. Prashant Reddy, The 'Indirect Infringement' Conundrum in Indian Patent Law, 14 J. Intell. Prop. L. & Prac. 1032, 1034–36 (2019).

⁴⁵⁹ F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71 (Del).

⁴⁶⁰ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 13–14.

⁴⁶¹ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁴⁶² South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998; BRICS, Joint Statement of the BRICS Heads of Intellectual Property Offices, 2023

lifelines for millions who depend on affordable medicines.⁴⁶³ India's leadership in this domain has set important precedents for the developing world and must not be relinquished in the pursuit of stronger enforcement.

In sum, the future of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement in India-and globally-will be shaped by the ability of lawmakers, judges, administrators, and diplomats to navigate a rapidly changing landscape. The goal must be to build a system that is not only effective in protecting legitimate patent rights but also fair, accessible, and aligned with the broader imperatives of public health and social justice. 464

India stands at a pivotal moment. By embracing legislative innovation, judicial specialization, administrative modernization, and international cooperation, it can create a patent enforcement regime that is both globally credible and nationally responsive. Such a regime will not only serve the interests of innovators and the pharmaceutical industry but, more importantly, will uphold the constitutional promise of the right to health and the global commitment to access to medicines for all.⁴⁶⁵

⁴⁶³ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 84, 92A, India Code (1970).

⁴⁶⁴ Supra note 123 at 317, 319–20.

⁴⁶⁵ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2

CHAPTER 4: EMERGING CHALLENGES AND FUTURE TRAJECTORIES IN CROSS-BORDER PHARMACEUTICAL PATENT ENFORCEMENT

4.1 Introduction

The global pharmaceutical sector today is emblematic of the paradoxes and tensions that define contemporary intellectual property law. On the one hand, pharmaceutical patents are indispensable for incentivizing innovation, protecting massive investments in research and development, and ensuring that new medicines reach patients worldwide. On the other hand, the territorial nature of patent rights-rooted in the Paris Convention and reaffirmed by the TRIPS Agreement-creates an enforcement landscape that is fundamentally fragmented, often inefficient, and, at times, at odds with public health imperatives. 467

India, as both a major source of affordable generic medicines and an emerging centre for pharmaceutical innovation, sits at the epicentre of these global debates. The Indian pharmaceutical industry supplies over 60% of the global demand for vaccines and is a critical supplier of antiretroviral drugs for HIV/AIDS treatment in Africa and beyond. The country's patent regime, governed by the Patents Act, 1970, has evolved to reflect a careful balance between protecting innovation and ensuring access to medicines, most notably through the introduction of Section 3(d) and robust compulsory licensing provisions. The Supreme Court's decision in *Novartis AG v. Union of India* (2013) stands as a landmark affirmation of India's commitment to preventing evergreening and prioritizing public health, even in the face of international pressure.

Yet, as the previous chapters have demonstrated, the realities of modern pharmaceutical commerce have outpaced the capacity of traditional legal frameworks. The territoriality principle-whereby patents are enforceable only within the jurisdiction of grant-was less problematic in an era of localized markets.⁴⁷¹ Today, however, innovation,

⁴⁶⁶ Rochelle Dreyfuss, The Costs of Cross-Border Patent Enforcement, 25 Fordham Intell. Prop. Media & Ent. L.J. 817, 820 (2015).

⁴⁶⁷ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305; Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 1, 28, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁴⁶⁸ Frederick M. Abbott, The WTO Medicines Decision: World Pharmaceutical Trade and the Protection of Public Health, 99 Am. J. Int'l L. 317, 319 (2005).

⁴⁶⁹ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, India Code (1970); id. § 3(d), § 84.

⁴⁷⁰ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁴⁷¹ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

manufacturing, and distribution are globalized: a single drug may be invented in the United States, patented in Europe, manufactured in India or China, and shipped to markets across continents.⁴⁷² This global integration of supply chains means that acts of infringement are often dispersed across multiple jurisdictions, rendering enforcement a complex, costly, and sometimes Sisyphean task.⁴⁷³

The challenges of cross-border enforcement are further exacerbated by the lack of a "world patent" or any supranational authority with the power to adjudicate and enforce patent rights globally.⁴⁷⁴ The principle of national independence of patents, codified in the Paris Convention, means that the grant, refusal, or termination of a patent in one country has no bearing on the fate of corresponding applications elsewhere.⁴⁷⁵ As a result, it is not uncommon for a pharmaceutical patent to be upheld in one jurisdiction and invalidated in another, as illustrated by the divergent treatment of the imatinib (Gleevec) patent in India and other countries.⁴⁷⁶

The fragmentation of enforcement mechanisms is not merely a matter of legal theory; it has profound practical consequences. Patent holders must often initiate parallel litigation in multiple countries, each with its own legal standards, procedural rules, and evidentiary requirements.⁴⁷⁷ This multiplicity increases costs, introduces uncertainty, and can lead to inconsistent or even conflicting outcomes.⁴⁷⁸ For generic manufacturers and public health advocates, the patchwork of enforcement regimes can create barriers to access, as seen in the controversial seizures of Indian generics in transit through Europe in 2008–2009-a dispute that ultimately reached the WTO.⁴⁷⁹

Efforts to harmonize or streamline cross-border enforcement have met with mixed success. The TRIPS Agreement, while establishing minimum standards for patent protection and enforcement, leaves actual enforcement to national courts and authorities.⁴⁸⁰ The 2019 Hague Judgments Convention, which aims to facilitate mutual

⁴⁷² Shamnad Basheer & T. Prashant Reddy, The 'Indirect Infringement' Conundrum in Indian Patent Law,

¹⁴ J. Intell. Prop. L. & Prac. 1032, 1034 (2019)

⁴⁷³ Supra note 323 at 1, 2–3.

⁴⁷⁴ Supra note 466 at 817, 821.

Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305; Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights arts. 1, 28, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁴⁷⁶ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁴⁷⁷ Supra note 466 at 817, 822.

⁴⁷⁸ I.d

⁴⁷⁹ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

⁴⁸⁰ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, arts. 41–61.

recognition of civil judgments, explicitly excludes intellectual property from its scope, perpetuating the need for duplicative litigation. Regional initiatives, such as the European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC), offer promising models for supranational enforcement but remain geographically limited and are not directly replicable in the Indian or broader Asian context. Regional initiatives, such as the

At the same time, technological and geopolitical shifts are introducing new complexities. The rise of biologics and biosimilars, the increasing use of artificial intelligence in drug discovery, and the advent of decentralized manufacturing technologies like 3D printing are all testing the boundaries of existing patent doctrines. The COVID-19 pandemic has further underscored the limitations of the current system, with India and South Africa's call for a TRIPS waiver highlighting the need for greater flexibility in times of global health emergencies. 484

Against this backdrop, India faces a dual challenge: how to strengthen its own enforcement mechanisms to protect domestic innovation and comply with international obligations, while also preserving its role as a champion of access to medicines for the developing world. This requires not only legislative and judicial reform but also active engagement in regional and international fora, strategic use of TRIPS flexibilities, and the development of new models for cooperation and capacity building. This chapter seeks to address these emerging challenges and future trajectories in crossborder pharmaceutical patent enforcement, with a particular focus on the Indian context. It will examine the impact of technological disruptions, evolving jurisprudence, and regional cooperation models on enforcement strategies. It will also explore the ethical and normative debates that underpin the ongoing tension between patent rights and the right to health. By doing so, the chapter aims to provide a roadmap for India to navigate the complexities of 21st-century patent governance-one that is globally credible, nationally responsive, and firmly anchored in the principles of equity and justice.

_

⁴⁸¹ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019

⁴⁸² Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

⁴⁸³ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 17–19.

⁴⁸⁴ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁴⁸⁵ Shamnad Basheer, Compulsory Licensing in India: A Silver Bullet for Access to Medicines?, 1 Indian J. L. & Tech. 1, 3 (2012).

4.2 Emerging Trends in Global Pharmaceutical Patent Enforcement

The landscape of pharmaceutical patent enforcement is being reshaped by technological advances, evolving scientific paradigms, and global health emergencies. These emerging trends are not only testing the adaptability of existing legal frameworks but are also compelling lawmakers, courts, and policymakers-especially in India-to rethink the very foundations of patent law, enforcement mechanisms, and the balance between innovation and public health.

Digitalization and AI in Drug Development

A. The Rise of AI and Digital Technologies

Digitalization and artificial intelligence (AI) are revolutionizing pharmaceutical R&D. AI-driven algorithms now enable the rapid identification of drug candidates, prediction of molecular interactions, and optimization of clinical trial designs. 486 The use of big data analytics and machine learning has accelerated the pace of drug discovery, reduced costs, and opened new frontiers for precision medicine.

B. Patentability and Inventorship Challenges

The deployment of AI in drug development raises novel questions regarding patentability and inventorship. Under Section 2(1)(s) of the Indian Patents Act, 1970, an "inventor" must be a natural person. 487 This mirrors the position in the United States, where the USPTO and courts have held that only human inventors can be named on a patent application. 488 In 2021, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia affirmed the USPTO's rejection of a patent application listing an AI system (DABUS) as the inventor.⁴⁸⁹

For India, this means that pharmaceutical inventions generated autonomously by AI may fall into a legal grey area, potentially undermining incentives for AI-driven innovation and complicating cross-border enforcement where other jurisdictions may develop sui generis protections.⁴⁹⁰

C. Enforcement and Jurisdictional Complexities

Digitalization also complicates enforcement. The use of cloud-based platforms for collaborative drug development can result in inventive steps and data storage occurring

⁴⁸⁶ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 17–19; Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374 (5th ed. 2022).

⁴⁸⁷ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 2(1)(s), India Code (1970).

⁴⁸⁸ Thaler v. Hirshfeld, 558 F. Supp. 3d 238 (E.D. Va. 2021).

⁴⁹⁰ Supra note 472 at 1032, 1034–36

across multiple jurisdictions.⁴⁹¹ Determining where infringement occurs-and which court has jurisdiction-becomes increasingly complex, especially when AI-generated inventions are commercialized globally.

D. Data Exclusivity and Digital Health

The rise of digital health technologies, including telemedicine and mobile health apps, adds another layer of complexity. While India has resisted adopting data exclusivity provisions in its patent law,⁴⁹² the proliferation of digital clinical trial data raises questions about the protection of regulatory data and the potential for new forms of exclusivity that may impact generic competition.

Biologics, Biosimilars, and Patent Complexity

A. The Shift Toward Biologics

Biologic medicines-complex molecules derived from living cells-have become dominant in the global pharmaceutical market, accounting for a growing share of new drug approvals and sales. ⁴⁹³ Unlike traditional small-molecule drugs, biologics present unique patent challenges due to their structural complexity, manufacturing processes, and the difficulty of establishing bio similarity.

B. Patent Thickets and Evergreening

Biologics are often protected by multiple overlapping patents on the molecule, manufacturing methods, formulation, and delivery devices-a phenomenon known as "patent thickets." This strategy can delay biosimilar entry and prolong market exclusivity beyond the original patent term. In India, Section 3(d) of the Patents Act has been used to challenge evergreening attempts, but the sheer number and complexity of biologics patents make enforcement and invalidation proceedings more resource-intensive. 495

C. Regulatory Exclusivity and Biosimilar Approval

Unlike the United States (which offers 12 years of data exclusivity for biologics under the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act) and the European Union (which provides 8+2+1 years of exclusivity), India does not grant regulatory data exclusivity

⁴⁹¹ Supra note 466 at 817, 820–21.

⁴⁹² The Patents Act, 1970, § 135; Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁴⁹³ Supra note 486 at 317, 319.

⁴⁹⁴ Paul Torremans, Cross-Border Patent Litigation in Europe: Forum Shopping and Parallel Litigation, 44 IIC 1, 2–3 (2013).

⁴⁹⁵ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

for biologics. 496 This policy supports early biosimilar entry but can create friction in trade negotiations and complicate cross-border enforcement when Indian biosimilars are exported to jurisdictions with longer exclusivity periods. 497

D. Recent Indian Jurisprudence

The Delhi High Court's decision in *Roche Products (India) Pvt. Ltd. v. Drugs Controller General of India* (2021) exemplifies the challenges of biosimilar patent enforcement. The court allowed Biocon and Mylan to market a biosimilar of Roche's trastuzumab (Herceptin) despite ongoing patent disputes, emphasizing the need for patient access and affordable medicines. ⁴⁹⁸ This reflects India's policy of prioritizing public health but also highlights the legal uncertainties facing innovators and biosimilar manufacturers alike.

E. Cross-Border Enforcement Issues

The global nature of biologics manufacturing-where cell lines, processes, and know-how may be transferred across borders-complicates enforcement. Indian companies exporting biosimilars to the U.S. or EU may face patent infringement suits or regulatory barriers, while foreign biologics patent holders may struggle to enforce their rights in India due to the high bar for patentability and the absence of data exclusivity. 499

Pandemic-Driven Shifts: Compulsory Licensing and TRIPS Waivers

A. The COVID-19 Pandemic and Patent Flexibilities

The COVID-19 pandemic triggered a seismic shift in the global discourse on pharmaceutical patents. The urgent need for vaccines, diagnostics, and therapeutics highlighted the limitations of the existing IP regime in responding to global health emergencies. ⁵⁰⁰ India, in partnership with South Africa, spearheaded a proposal at the WTO for a temporary waiver of certain TRIPS obligations for COVID-19-related products. ⁵⁰¹

B. Compulsory Licensing in Practice

Section 92 and Section 92A of the Indian Patents Act, 1970, provide for compulsory licensing in cases of national emergency, extreme urgency, or public non-commercial

⁴⁹⁶ Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, 42 U.S.C. § 262 (2018); Directive 2001/83/EC, 2001 O.J. (L 311) 67 (EU).

⁴⁹⁷ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁴⁹⁸ Roche Products (India) Pvt. Ltd. v. Drugs Controller General of India, 2021 SCC OnLine Del 5432. ⁴⁹⁹ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 26–27.

⁵⁰⁰ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁵⁰¹ WTO, Waiver from Certain Provisions of the TRIPS Agreement for the Prevention, Containment and Treatment of COVID-19, IP/C/W/669 (Oct. 2, 2020).

use, as well as for export to countries with insufficient manufacturing capacity.⁵⁰² While India did not issue a compulsory license for COVID-19 vaccines during the pandemic, the legal framework was invoked as a bargaining tool and a demonstration of India's commitment to public health.⁵⁰³

Globally, only a handful of compulsory licenses were issued for COVID-19 treatments, reflecting both the procedural hurdles and the political pressures that surround their use.⁵⁰⁴ The pandemic exposed the need for more streamlined and coordinated mechanisms to ensure timely access to essential medicines during crises.

C. The TRIPS Waiver Debate

The India-South Africa TRIPS waiver proposal sought to suspend certain IP protections for COVID-19 vaccines, treatments, and diagnostics for the duration of the pandemic. While the WTO adopted a limited waiver in June 2022 (focusing only on vaccines), the outcome was criticized as insufficient by many developing countries and public health advocates. The debate underscored the limitations of existing TRIPS flexibilities and the need for greater international solidarity in times of global emergencies.

D. Implications for Cross-Border Enforcement

The pandemic-driven debates over compulsory licensing and TRIPS waivers have lasting implications for cross-border patent enforcement. They highlight the tension between national sovereignty, global public health, and the interests of multinational pharmaceutical companies.⁵⁰⁷ For India, these developments reinforce the importance of maintaining robust legal tools for compulsory licensing and advocating for more flexible international norms that prioritize access to medicines in emergencies.

4.3 Technological Disruptions and Enforcement Challenges

The rapid evolution of technology is fundamentally reshaping the pharmaceutical sector-not only in how drugs are discovered and manufactured, but also in how intellectual property rights are enforced and circumvented. As digital and decentralized technologies proliferate, traditional enforcement paradigms face new and complex

⁵⁰² The Patents Act, 1970, §§ 92, 92A.

⁵⁰³ Supra note 485 at 1, 3.

⁵⁰⁴ Id

⁵⁰⁵ WTO, Waiver from Certain Provisions of the TRIPS Agreement for the Prevention, Containment and Treatment of COVID-19, IP/C/W/669 (Oct. 2, 2020).

⁵⁰⁶ WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022).

⁵⁰⁷ Supra note 486 at 324-25.

challenges, particularly in the context of cross-border pharmaceutical patent protection. This section examines three of the most significant technological disruptions: 3D printing and decentralized manufacturing, blockchain-based supply chain tracking, and the tension between data exclusivity and open-source drug discovery.

3D Printing and Decentralized Manufacturing

A. The Rise of 3D Printing in Pharmaceuticals

Three-dimensional (3D) printing, or additive manufacturing, is revolutionizing the production of pharmaceuticals by enabling the precise fabrication of complex drug formulations, personalized medicines, and even medical devices at the point of care⁵⁰⁸ The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first 3D-printed drug, Spritam (levetiracetam), in 2015, signalling the potential for this technology to disrupt conventional manufacturing and distribution models⁵⁰⁹

B. Legal and Enforcement Challenges

3D printing introduces profound enforcement challenges for patent holders:

- Decentralized Production: With 3D printers, drugs can be manufactured locally-by hospitals, pharmacies, or even individuals-using digital blueprints.⁵¹⁰ This decentralization makes it difficult to monitor and control infringement, as the locus of manufacturing shifts away from large, regulated facilities to dispersed, often unregulated, sites.
- Digital Blueprints and Secondary Liability: Patent infringement may occur not only through the unauthorized manufacture of a patented drug but also through the distribution of digital files containing the design or formulation.⁵¹¹ The current Indian Patents Act, 1970, does not explicitly address the liability of those who create, share, or host such files, creating a statutory gap similar to the early days of peer-to-peer file sharing in copyright law.
- Jurisdictional Ambiguity: If a digital file is uploaded in one country, downloaded in another, and the drug is printed in a third, it becomes exceedingly difficult to determine where infringement occurs and which court has jurisdiction.⁵¹²

C. Regulatory and Policy Implications

⁵⁰⁸ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 17–19.

⁵⁰⁹ U.S. Food and Drug Administration, FDA Approves First 3D Printed Drug Product, 2015.

⁵¹⁰ Supra note 472 at 1032, 1034–36.

⁵¹² Supra notes 466 at 817, 820–21.

India's regulatory framework, governed by the Drugs and Cosmetics Act, 1940, does not yet contemplate 3D-printed medicines, leaving a legal vacuum concerning quality control, safety, and intellectual property enforcement.⁵¹³ Policymakers must consider whether to regulate digital blueprints as controlled items, require registration of 3D printers for pharmaceutical use, or impose liability on intermediaries who facilitate infringement.

D. International Dimensions

Given the ease with which digital files cross borders, international cooperation is essential. Harmonizing standards for digital file regulation, evidence collection, and enforcement will be crucial to prevent the proliferation of infringing activity and to protect public health.⁵¹⁴

Blockchain in Supply Chain Tracking

A. Blockchain and Pharmaceutical Supply Chains

Blockchain technology, a form of distributed ledger, offers a promising solution to the perennial problem of counterfeit and substandard medicines in global supply chains. By enabling transparent, tamper-evident tracking of pharmaceuticals from manufacturer to end-user, blockchain can enhance both regulatory compliance and patent enforcement. 515

B. Enforcement Benefits

- Traceability and Authentication: Blockchain enables real-time verification of product provenance, making it easier to detect and intercept counterfeit or infringing goods at the border or in the marketplace. 516
- Evidence for Litigation: Immutable blockchain records can serve as reliable evidence in infringement proceedings, supporting claims of unauthorized manufacturing, diversion, or parallel importation.⁵¹⁷

C. Implementation Challenges

• Interoperability and Standardization: For blockchain-based tracking to be effective across borders, countries must agree on technical standards and protocols.⁵¹⁸ India's Track-and-Trace initiative for pharmaceutical exports is a

⁵¹³ Drugs and Cosmetics Act, No. 23 of 1940, India Code (1940)

⁵¹⁴ Supra note 494 at 1, 2–3.

⁵¹⁵ Supra note 486 at 317, 319.

⁵¹⁶ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 21–22.

⁵¹⁷ Id

⁵¹⁸ Id

step in this direction, but participation remains voluntary and integration with global systems is limited.

• **Privacy and Data Protection:** The use of blockchain raises concerns about the protection of sensitive commercial and patient data, especially under India's evolving data protection regime. 519

D. Policy Recommendations

India should accelerate the adoption of blockchain in pharmaceutical supply chains, mandate participation for high-risk products, and collaborate with major trading partners to harmonize standards.⁵²⁰ This will not only improve enforcement but also bolster India's reputation as a reliable exporter of safe, high-quality medicines.

Data Exclusivity vs. Open-Source Drug Discovery

A. Data Exclusivity: The Global Debate

Data exclusivity refers to the period during which generic manufacturers are prohibited from relying on the originator's clinical trial data to obtain regulatory approval for a generic version of a drug.⁵²¹ The United States and European Union provide significant periods of data exclusivity (five years for new chemical entities in the U.S.; eight years plus two years of market exclusivity in the EU), which can extend effective market monopoly beyond the patent term.⁵²²

India, by contrast, has resisted incorporating data exclusivity into its patent and regulatory regimes, arguing that it is not required under Article 39(3) of TRIPS and would undermine access to affordable medicines.⁵²³ Indian courts have consistently upheld this position, most notably in *Novartis AG v. Union of India* (2013), where the Supreme Court rejected arguments for data exclusivity as contrary to public health interests.⁵²⁴

B. Open-Source Drug Discovery

The open-source movement in pharmaceuticals, exemplified by initiatives such as the Medicines Patent Pool and the Open COVID Pledge, seeks to accelerate innovation by sharing data, research tools, and even patent rights.⁵²⁵ Open-source drug discovery

⁵¹⁹ Personal Data Protection Bill, 2019, Bill No. 373 of 2019 (India).

⁵²⁰ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 23.

⁵²¹ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights art. 39(3), Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁵²² Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, 42 U.S.C. § 262 (2018); Directive 2001/83/EC, 2001 O.J. (L 311) 67 (EU).

⁵²³ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁵²⁴ Id

⁵²⁵ Medicines Patent Pool, Annual Report 2023, at 5–7.

platforms leverage collaborative networks to lower barriers to entry, reduce duplication of effort, and promote the rapid development of treatments for neglected diseases.

C. Enforcement and Policy Tensions

- Balancing Incentives and Access: Data exclusivity is justified as a reward for
 costly clinical trials, but it can delay generic entry even after patent expiry.
 Open-source models, while promoting access, may struggle to attract private
 investment without some form of exclusivity or reward.⁵²⁶
- Cross-Border Challenges: Indian generic manufacturers seeking to export to
 jurisdictions with strong data exclusivity laws may face delays or litigation,
 even if their products are lawful in India. Conversely, open-source drugs
 developed in India may be blocked from certain markets due to regulatory or
 exclusivity barriers.⁵²⁷

D. India's Strategic Position

India's refusal to adopt data exclusivity has been a cornerstone of its pro-access policy, but it faces ongoing pressure in free trade negotiations, particularly with the EU and U.S.⁵²⁸ Policymakers must weigh the benefits of open-source innovation and access against the realities of global regulatory environments and the risk of retaliatory trade measures.

4.4 India's Legal and Policy Evolution

India's legal and policy landscape on pharmaceutical patent enforcement has undergone significant transformation in the past decade. This evolution is shaped by landmark judicial decisions, legislative amendments, and India's assertive stance in international forums. The country's approach reflects a conscious effort to balance the imperatives of innovation, trade, and public health, while responding to emerging global challenges such as pandemics and technological disruption.

Post-2013 Jurisprudence: Strengthening Public Health Protections

The Supreme Court's decision in *Novartis AG v. Union of India* (2013) marked a watershed moment in Indian patent jurisprudence, particularly for pharmaceuticals.⁵²⁹ By denying patent protection for the beta crystalline form of imatinib mesylate (Gleevec), the Court upheld the strict requirements of Section 3(d) of the Patents Act,

⁵²⁶Supra note 485 at 1, 3.

⁵²⁷ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁵²⁸ Id

⁵²⁹ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

1970, which mandates that new forms of known substances must demonstrate "enhanced efficacy" to qualify for patent protection.⁵³⁰

This ruling not only prevented "evergreening" but also set a precedent for subsequent cases involving incremental pharmaceutical innovations. The judiciary has since consistently interpreted Section 3(d) and other provisions in a manner that prioritizes access to medicines and public health over the extension of monopoly rights.⁵³¹

For example, in *Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Glenmark Pharmaceuticals Ltd.* (2015), the Delhi High Court addressed the balance between patent rights and public interest by granting an injunction against an infringing generic, but only after considering the availability and affordability of the drug for Indian patients. Similarly, in *F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd.* (2008), the Delhi High Court refused an interim injunction, emphasizing the need to ensure public access to affordable cancer medication. Similarly in F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd. (2008) the Delhi High Court refused an interim injunction, emphasizing the need to ensure public access to

These decisions collectively reinforce a judicial philosophy that views patents not as absolute rights, but as privileges subject to reasonable restrictions in the interest of public welfare.⁵³⁴ The Indian judiciary's willingness to scrutinize patent claims rigorously and to weigh public health considerations has made India a global reference point for balancing innovation and access.

Recent Amendments to the Patents Act, 1970

In response to evolving technological and public health challenges, India has periodically amended its patent legislation. The most significant changes since 2013 include:

A. Expedited Examination and Public Health

The Patents (Amendment) Rules, 2016 and subsequent amendments introduced provisions for expedited examination of patent applications relating to sectors of public interest, including pharmaceuticals and vaccines.⁵³⁵ This reform aims to reduce delays in granting patents for critical health technologies, while maintaining rigorous scrutiny of patentability criteria.

B. Stricter Penalties for Wilful Infringement

⁵³⁰ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 3(d), India Code (1970).

⁵³¹ Supra note 485 at 1, 6–8.

⁵³² Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Glenmark Pharmaceuticals Ltd., 2015 SCC OnLine Del 13707.

⁵³³ F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71 (Del)

⁵³⁴ Novartis AG, (2013) 6 SCC 1, at ¶ 191–99.

⁵³⁵ Patents (Amendment) Rules, 2016, G.S.R. 359(E) (India).

Recent proposals, such as the Patents (Amendment) Bill, 2022, seek to introduce stricter penalties for wilful infringement and to clarify the remedies available to patentees, including enhanced damages and the possibility of criminal sanctions in egregious cases. These measures are intended to deter deliberate infringement, especially by entities engaged in large-scale counterfeiting or unauthorized exports.

C. Addressing Cross-Border and Contributory Infringement

Despite these advances, Indian law still lacks explicit provisions addressing cross-border contributory infringement. The absence of statutory language on indirect infringement creates enforcement gaps, particularly in cases where Indian entities supply intermediates or APIs for patented drugs manufactured and sold abroad.⁵³⁷ The need for legislative reform in this area is increasingly recognized, especially as India's pharmaceutical industry becomes more integrated into global supply chains.

D. Data Exclusivity and Biosimilars

India has consistently resisted pressure to introduce data exclusivity provisions, arguing that such measures are not required under TRIPS Article 39(3) and would undermine access to generics.⁵³⁸ The regulatory pathway for biosimilars has been clarified through guidelines issued by the Central Drugs Standard Control Organization (CDSCO), but the lack of data exclusivity continues to be a contentious issue in trade negotiations with the EU and U.S.⁵³⁹

India's Position on TRIPS Waivers and Global Vaccine Equity

The COVID-19 pandemic brought the issue of global access to medicines and vaccines into sharp relief. India, in partnership with South Africa, led the call for a temporary waiver of certain TRIPS obligations for COVID-19-related products, arguing that existing flexibilities were insufficient to address the scale and urgency of the crisis.⁵⁴⁰

A. The TRIPS Waiver Proposal

The India-South Africa proposal at the WTO sought to suspend patent, copyright, industrial design, and trade secret protections for COVID-19 vaccines, treatments, and diagnostics for the duration of the pandemic.⁵⁴¹ This initiative was supported by over

⁵³⁶ Patents (Amendment) Bill, 2022 (India).

⁵³⁷ Supra note 472 at 1032, 1034–36.

⁵³⁸ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁵³⁹ Central Drugs Standard Control Organization, Guidelines on Similar Biologics, 2016.

⁵⁴⁰ WTO, Waiver from Certain Provisions of the TRIPS Agreement for the Prevention, Containment and Treatment of COVID-19, IP/C/W/669 (Oct. 2, 2020).
⁵⁴¹ Id

100 countries and a broad coalition of civil society organizations, but faced strong opposition from several developed countries and the pharmaceutical industry.

Despite intense negotiations, the WTO Ministerial Conference in June 2022 adopted only a limited waiver focused on vaccines, with procedural hurdles that many critics argue render it largely symbolic.⁵⁴² Nonetheless, India's leadership in this debate reaffirmed its commitment to global health equity and its willingness to challenge the status quo in international IP governance.

B. Compulsory Licensing and Export

India's legal framework for compulsory licensing, particularly Section 92A of the Patents Act, 1970, allows for the manufacture and export of patented pharmaceuticals to countries with insufficient manufacturing capacity.⁵⁴³ While India did not issue a compulsory license for COVID-19 vaccines during the pandemic, the existence of this legal tool served as leverage in negotiations with multinational companies and as a model for other developing countries.

C. Advocacy for Technology Transfer and Local Production

India has also advocated for technology transfer and local production of vaccines and essential medicines as part of its broader strategy for global health security. In forums such as the Quad Vaccine Partnership, COVAX, and the G20, India has emphasized the need for equitable access, voluntary licensing, and the sharing of know-how to ensure timely and affordable supply.⁵⁴⁴

D. Ongoing Challenges

Despite these efforts, significant challenges remain. The limited scope of the TRIPS waiver, the slow pace of technology transfer, and persistent barriers to local production in many countries have highlighted the need for more robust international mechanisms to ensure vaccine equity in future pandemics.⁵⁴⁵ India's continued advocacy for reforming global IP rules and strengthening South-South cooperation will be critical in addressing these gaps

⁵⁴⁴ BRICS, Joint Statement of the BRICS Heads of Intellectual Property Offices, 2023; G20 Health Working Group, 2022.

⁵⁴² WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022)

⁵⁴³ The Patents Act, 1970, § 92A.

⁵⁴⁵ WTO, TRIPS Council, IP/C/M/102 (Mar. 2022).

4.5 Regional and Bilateral Cooperation Models

The limitations of territorial patent enforcement underscore the growing importance of regional and bilateral cooperation in addressing cross-border pharmaceutical patent challenges. For India, regional frameworks such as SAARC and BRICS, as well as bilateral negotiations with major trading partners like the European Union, offer both opportunities and obstacles. These cooperative models are crucial not only for harmonizing enforcement standards but also for safeguarding India's public health priorities and maintaining its leadership role as a supplier of affordable medicines.

SAARC: Potential for Harmonized IP Frameworks

A. The Promise of Regional Integration

The South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC) brings together Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan, and Sri Lanka-countries with shared economic, social, and public health challenges.⁵⁴⁶ Regional harmonization of intellectual property (IP) frameworks within SAARC could significantly reduce transaction costs, enhance legal certainty, and facilitate the movement of pharmaceuticals across borders.

B. Current Status and Challenges

Despite the potential, SAARC's progress on IP harmonization has been slow. The SAARC Agreement on Trade in Services (SATIS) and discussions on a SAARC Intellectual Property Rights Organization (SIPRO) have not yet yielded a binding regional IP regime.⁵⁴⁷ Political tensions, divergent levels of economic development, and varying national priorities have hindered substantive cooperation.

C. Opportunities for Patent Enforcement Cooperation

Nevertheless, SAARC remains a promising platform for:

- Mutual Recognition of Judgments: Establishing protocols for the recognition
 and enforcement of patent judgments across member states, subject to public
 policy exceptions.
- Regional Exhaustion Regimes: Adopting a regional exhaustion principle would allow parallel imports of patented pharmaceuticals within SAARC, increasing access and reducing prices.⁵⁴⁸

_

⁵⁴⁶ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

⁵⁴⁷ Supra note 485 at 1, 15–17.

⁵⁴⁸ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2

- Capacity Building: Joint training programs for patent examiners, customs officials, and judges to foster best practices and technical expertise.
- **Shared Databases:** Creating a regional patent database to improve transparency and reduce duplication in examination and enforcement.

D. India's Leadership Role

India, as the largest economy and pharmaceutical producer in SAARC, is well placed to drive these initiatives. By championing harmonized standards and mutual recognition mechanisms, India can help create a more predictable and equitable patent enforcement landscape in South Asia-one that balances innovation incentives with access to medicines.

BRICS and South-South Collaboration

A. BRICS IPR Cooperation Mechanism

BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa) is an influential bloc of emerging economies with a shared interest in promoting innovation, technology transfer, and access to medicines. In recent years, BRICS has established working groups on intellectual property, aiming to harmonize patent examination procedures, combat counterfeit drug trafficking, and facilitate technology transfer among member states.⁵⁴⁹

B. Joint Enforcement and Information Sharing

BRICS cooperation offers several advantages:

- Patent Examination Harmonization: Sharing search and examination reports can reduce duplication and improve patent quality.
- Compulsory Licensing Database: A joint database of compulsory licenses issued by BRICS countries could enhance transparency, reduce duplication in generic production, and support coordinated responses to public health emergencies.
- Cross-Border Enforcement: Joint enforcement actions against transnational counterfeiting and infringement networks can be more effective than isolated national efforts.

C. South-South Solidarity and Access to Medicines

BRICS and other South-South partnerships offer a counterweight to TRIPS-plus demands from developed countries. By developing common negotiating positions and

_

⁵⁴⁹ BRICS Framework Agreement on Intellectual Property Cooperation, 2022.

sharing best practices, these alliances can resist external pressures to adopt stricter IP standards that may undermine access to medicines.⁵⁵⁰

D. Challenges and Limitations

Despite these opportunities, differences in national IP laws, economic interests, and patent office capacities persist among BRICS members. Sustained political will and institutional investment are required to translate cooperation into concrete outcomes.

India-EU FTA Negotiations: Patent Enforcement Clauses

A. The Strategic Importance of the India-EU Relationship

The European Union is one of India's largest trading partners and a key market for Indian pharmaceuticals. Negotiations for an India-EU Free Trade Agreement (FTA) have been ongoing for over a decade, with IP protection and enforcement as central points of contention.⁵⁵¹

B. EU's Demands and India's Red Lines

The EU has consistently pushed for TRIPS-plus provisions in the FTA, including:

- Data Exclusivity: Demanding that India provide regulatory data exclusivity for pharmaceuticals, which would delay generic entry even after patent expiry.
- Patent Term Extensions: Seeking extensions to compensate for regulatory delays in patent grant or drug approval.
- Border Enforcement: Proposing stronger border measures, including the power to detain goods suspected of patent infringement in transit, similar to the controversial EU seizures of Indian generics in 2008–2009.
- Accession to the Unified Patent Court (UPC): Pressuring India to recognize the UPC system or adopt similar supranational enforcement mechanisms. 552

India has resisted these demands, arguing that they would undermine access to affordable medicines, violate constitutional commitments to public health, and exceed TRIPS obligations.⁵⁵³ India's counterproposals have included:

Public Health Carve-Outs: Explicit exceptions for compulsory licensing, parallel importation, and other TRIPS flexibilities.

⁵⁵⁰ Supra note 486 at 317, 324–25.

⁵⁵¹ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁵⁵² Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

⁵⁵³ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

- Safeguards Against Over-Enforcement: Mechanisms to prevent wrongful detention of legitimate generics in transit and to protect exports to countries with no relevant patent.
- Recognition of Indian Patent Standards: Insisting that Indian courts retain jurisdiction over patent disputes involving Indian exports and that Section 3(d) and other safeguards remain non-negotiable.

C. Implications for Cross-Border Patent Enforcement

The outcome of the India-EU FTA negotiations will have far-reaching consequences for cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement:

- If TRIPS-plus standards are adopted, Indian generic manufacturers could face new barriers to exporting to the EU and other markets with similar FTAs.
- Conversely, strong public health carve-outs would reinforce India's leadership in balancing innovation and access, and could serve as a model for other developing countries.

D. The Path Forward

India's negotiating strategy must continue to prioritize access to medicines, resist undue expansion of enforcement measures, and leverage its market power to secure a balanced agreement. At the same time, India should remain open to cooperation on anti-counterfeiting, patent quality, and regulatory harmonization-areas where mutual interests align.

4.6 Ethical and Normative Debates

The enforcement of pharmaceutical patents is not merely a technical or economic issue; it is deeply intertwined with fundamental ethical questions and normative frameworks. The debates around human rights, environmental sustainability, and equitable access have become increasingly prominent in the global discourse, especially as India asserts its role as both a pharmaceutical innovator and a champion of public health. This section explores three major ethical and normative debates shaping the future of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement.

Human Rights vs. Patent Monopolies

A. The Right to Health and Access to Medicines

The right to health is enshrined in international human rights instruments, including Article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), and is recognized as a fundamental right under Article 21 of the Indian Constitution.⁵⁵⁴ This right encompasses access to essential medicines, as affirmed by the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the World Health Organization.⁵⁵⁵

Patent monopolies, by granting exclusive rights to inventors, can lead to high prices and restricted access to life-saving medicines, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. The ethical tension arises when the pursuit of innovation and profit by pharmaceutical companies conflicts with the imperative to ensure affordable access for all. The landmark *Novartis AG v. Union of India* (2013) decision exemplifies India's commitment to prioritizing public health over patent monopolies, with the Supreme Court explicitly invoking the right to life and health in its reasoning. 557

B. International Norms and TRIPS Flexibilities

The Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (2001) reaffirmed the primacy of public health over intellectual property in international law, stating that "the TRIPS Agreement does not and should not prevent members from taking measures to protect public health."⁵⁵⁸ India has consistently invoked TRIPS flexibilities, such as compulsory licensing and parallel importation, to fulfil its human rights obligations and resist external pressures to adopt TRIPS-plus standards that could undermine access.

C. Ongoing Ethical Dilemmas

Despite these safeguards, ethical dilemmas persist. Patent holders argue that without robust protection, there is little incentive to invest in costly and risky pharmaceutical R&D.⁵⁵⁹ Public health advocates counter that the social value of medicines should override private monopolies, especially during health emergencies. The COVID-19 pandemic reignited these debates, with calls for a TRIPS waiver to ensure global vaccine equity facing resistance from countries and companies prioritizing IP rights.

Climate Change and Access to Green Pharmaceuticals

A. The Intersection of Health, Environment, and IP

⁵⁵⁴ India Const. art. 21; International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights art. 12, Dec. 16, 1966, 993 U.N.T.S. 3.

⁵⁵⁵ U.N. Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No. 14, U.N. Doc. E/C.12/2000/4 (Aug. 11, 2000); World Health Organization, Access to Medicines and the Right to Health, 2016.

⁵⁵⁶ Supra note 485 at 1, 3.

⁵⁵⁷ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁵⁵⁸ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁵⁵⁹ Supra note 466 at 817, 820–21.

Climate change is increasingly recognized as a public health crisis, with rising temperatures and environmental degradation contributing to the spread of infectious diseases, malnutrition, and other health challenges.⁵⁶⁰ The development of "green pharmaceuticals"-drugs and vaccines designed to address climate-related diseases or produced through environmentally sustainable processes-has become a new frontier in both innovation and ethics.

B. Patent Thickets and Barriers to Green Technology

Patent thickets on green technologies, including climate-sensitive pharmaceuticals such as mRNA-based vaccines for vector-borne diseases, can hinder technology transfer and limit access in developing countries.⁵⁶¹ The concentration of patents in the hands of a few multinational corporations risks replicating the access barriers seen in traditional pharmaceuticals.

India's National Green Tribunal and environmental policy frameworks have begun to address the intersection of IP and environmental sustainability, but there is a need for clearer legal mechanisms-such as compulsory licensing for green technologies-to ensure that patent rights do not impede the diffusion of climate-adaptive health solutions.⁵⁶²

C. Ethical Imperatives for Global Cooperation

The ethical imperative to address climate change and its health impacts requires a rethinking of IP norms to facilitate the rapid dissemination of green pharmaceuticals. International agreements, such as the Paris Agreement, encourage technology transfer, but stronger legal and policy tools are needed to operationalize these commitments in the context of pharmaceutical patents.⁵⁶³

Ethical Licensing and Equitable Access Frameworks

A. The Rise of Ethical Licensing

Ethical licensing refers to the incorporation of access-oriented conditions in patent and technology licensing agreements. This may include provisions that waive or reduce royalties for low-income countries, require licensees to supply affordable generics, or mandate technology transfer to local manufacturers.⁵⁶⁴ Initiatives like the Medicines

⁵⁶² National Green Tribunal Act, No. 19 of 2010, India Code (2010).

⁵⁶⁰ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Summary for Policymakers (2022)

⁵⁶¹ Supra note 486 at 317, 324–25.

⁵⁶³ Paris Agreement, Dec. 12, 2015, T.I.A.S. No. 16-1104

⁵⁶⁴ Medicines Patent Pool, Annual Report 2023, at 5–7.

Patent Pool and the Open COVID Pledge have popularized ethical licensing as a tool for balancing innovation incentives with public health needs.⁵⁶⁵

B. India's Policy Initiatives

India's Department of Pharmaceuticals has explored the development of a model ethical licensing framework for public-private partnerships, particularly in the context of pandemic preparedness and neglected diseases. ⁵⁶⁶ By encouraging or requiring publicly funded research to be licensed on terms that promote access in low- and middle-income countries, India can set a precedent for responsible IP stewardship.

C. Equitable Access and Global Health Governance

The World Health Organization and United Nations have called for the adoption of equitable access frameworks in global health governance, emphasizing the need for transparency, accountability, and fairness in the allocation of medical innovations.⁵⁶⁷ India's advocacy for equitable access in international forums, including the WTO and G20, reflects its commitment to these principles.

D. Challenges and the Way Forward

Implementing ethical licensing on a wide scale faces challenges, including resistance from patent holders, the complexity of negotiating multi-jurisdictional agreements, and the need for robust monitoring and enforcement mechanisms.⁵⁶⁸ Nonetheless, the growing acceptance of ethical licensing and equitable access frameworks signals a shift toward a more socially responsible approach to pharmaceutical patent enforcement.

4.7 Strategic Pathways for India

India's unique position as a global supplier of affordable medicines and an emerging pharmaceutical innovator demands a strategic approach to cross-border patent enforcement. To address the challenges of territoriality, technological disruption, and public health imperatives, India must adopt a three-pronged strategy: legislative reform, institutional capacity building, and leadership in global intellectual property (IP) governance. These pathways will enable India to balance innovation incentives with equitable access while safeguarding its constitutional commitment to public health.

Legislative Reforms for Cross-Border Infringement

⁵⁶⁵ Open COVID Pledge, Model License, 2021.

⁵⁶⁶ Department of Pharmaceuticals, Government of India, National Pharmaceutical Policy 2023, at 18–19.

⁵⁶⁷ World Health Organization, Equitable Access to COVID-19 Tools, 2022; United Nations, Political Declaration of the High-level Meeting on Universal Health Coverage, 2019 ⁵⁶⁸ Supra note 494 at 1, 9–11.

Statutory Recognition of Indirect and Contributory Infringement India's Patents Act, 1970, lacks explicit provisions for indirect infringement, such as supplying components for patented inventions or facilitating infringement across borders. ⁵⁶⁹ To close this gap, India should amend Section 107A to include liability for:

- Cross-Border Contributory Infringement: Imposing liability on entities that knowingly supply APIs, intermediates, or manufacturing tools from India for use in infringing activities abroad.⁵⁷⁰
- **Digital Infringement:** Addressing the distribution of 3D-printable drug blueprints or AI-generated formulations that circumvent territorial patents.

B. Jurisdictional Expansion

Amend the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, to allow Indian courts to adjudicate crossborder disputes where:

- A substantial part of the infringing activity occurs in India (e.g., API production for export to patent-protected markets)⁵⁷¹
- The defendant is domiciled in India, and the infringement impacts global supply chains.⁵⁷²

C. Border Measures Reform

Revise the Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, to:

- Empower customs authorities to detain exports infringing foreign patents, provided the destination country has a valid patent.⁵⁷³
- Establish expert committees to assess technical patent claims and prevent wrongful seizures of legitimate generics.⁵⁷⁴

D. Public Health Safeguards

Codify TRIPS flexibilities into domestic law by:

Expanding Section 92A to streamline compulsory licensing for export during health emergencies.

⁵⁷⁰ 35 U.S.C. § 271(f) (2022).

⁵⁶⁹ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 107A, India Code (1970)

⁵⁷¹ Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, § 20 (India); Bayer Corp. v. Union of India, 2017 SCC OnLine Del 8672.

⁵⁷² Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 (Brussels I Recast), art. 7(2)

⁵⁷³ Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E) (India)

⁵⁷⁴ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in *Transit* (2012)

• Introducing a public interest defence to infringement for drugs addressing neglected tropical diseases or climate-sensitive ailments.⁵⁷⁵

Building Institutional Capacity

A. Specialized Patent Benches

Establish **dedicated IP divisions** in High Courts, modelled after the Delhi High Court's Intellectual Property Appellate Board (IPAB), to handle complex cross-border cases.⁵⁷⁶ These benches should:

- Include judges with technical expertise in pharmaceuticals and biotechnology.
- Adopt fast-track procedures for public health-related disputes.

B. Training and Technical Expertise

- Judicial Training: Partner with organizations like WIPO and the National Judicial Academy to conduct workshops on global patent trends, AI in drug development, and biologics.⁵⁷⁷
- **Customs Modernization:** Train officials to identify infringing goods using blockchain-tracked supply chain data and AI-powered authentication tools. ⁵⁷⁸

C. Digital Infrastructure

Launch a National Patent Enforcement Portal to:

- Centralize patent registrations, litigation statuses, and compulsory licenses.
- Integrate with international databases (e.g., WIPO's PATENTSCOPE) to reduce duplication in patent examinations. ⁵⁷⁹

D. Inter-Agency Coordination

Create a Pharmaceutical IP Task Force under the Department of Pharmaceuticals to coordinate between:

- The Indian Patent Office, Customs, and Drug Controller General of India (DCGI).
- International agencies like INTERPOL to combat counterfeit drug networks.⁵⁸⁰

Leadership in Global IP Governance

A. Advocating TRIPS Flexibilities

_

⁵⁷⁵ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁵⁷⁶ Delhi High Court Intellectual Property Division Rules, 2021.

⁵⁷⁷ World Intellectual Property Organization, WIPO Academy Annual Report 2023, at 15–16.

⁵⁷⁸ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 21–22

⁵⁷⁹ Id. at 23.

⁵⁸⁰ INTERPOL, Operation Pangea XVI (2023).

- WTO Engagement: Lead a coalition of developing nations to expand the 2022
 TRIPS waiver to cover therapeutics and diagnostics, ensuring equitable access in future pandemics.⁵⁸¹
- Model Legislation: Share India's compulsory licensing framework (Section 84) as a blueprint for low-income countries through the World Health Assembly.⁵⁸²

B. Regional Cooperation

- **SAARC** Harmonization: Propose a SAARC Patent Protocol for mutual recognition of judgments and regional exhaustion of patent rights.⁵⁸³
- **BRICS Initiatives:** Establish a BRICS Patent Pool for climate-sensitive pharmaceuticals, enabling shared R&D and equitable licensing.⁵⁸⁴

C. Ethical Licensing Frameworks

- Global Vaccine Equity: Partner with the Medicines Patent Pool to negotiate ethical licenses for Indian-manufactured generics, waiving royalties for Least Developed Countries (LDCs).⁵⁸⁵
- Open-Source Collaboration: Launch an Open Pharma Initiative to crowdsource drug discovery for neglected diseases, with IP rights vested in public trusts.⁵⁸⁶

D. Countering TRIPS-Plus Pressures

- FTA Negotiations: Resist data exclusivity and patent term extensions in trade deals with the EU and U.S., leveraging India's market size to secure public health carve-outs.⁵⁸⁷
- **Diplomatic Advocacy:** Mobilize the G77 coalition at WIPO to oppose stringent enforcement measures that undermine access to medicines. ⁵⁸⁸

⁵⁸¹ WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022).

⁵⁸² World Health Assembly, *Global Strategy and Plan of Action on Public Health, Innovation and Intellectual Property*, WHA61.21 (2008).

⁵⁸³ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, *SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology*, 1998.

⁵⁸⁴ BRICS, Joint Statement on Climate-Sensitive Pharmaceuticals, 2023.

⁵⁸⁵ Medicines Patent Pool, *Annual Report 2023*, at 5–7.

⁵⁸⁶ Open COVID Pledge, *Model License*, 2021.

⁵⁸⁷ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁵⁸⁸ WIPO, Proposal by the Group of 77 and China for a Development Agenda, WO/GA/49/12 (2023).

4.8 Conclusion

India's strategic pathways-legislative reform, institutional strengthening, and global leadership-are interdependent. By closing statutory gaps, investing in technical expertise, and championing equitable IP norms, India can transform its dual role as a generic supplier and innovator into a global model for balanced patent enforcement. These reforms will not only enhance India's domestic enforcement regime but also solidify its position as a moral authority in the global quest for health equity.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION SYNTHESIZING THE CROSS-BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT DILEMMA: AN INDIAN PERSPECTIVE ON GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND PATHWAYS FORWARD

5.1 Revisiting the Hypothesis: Territoriality vs. Globalization

The dissertation's central hypothesis posited that the territorial patent system-a relic of 19th-century sovereignty principles-is fundamentally incompatible with the realities of a globalized pharmaceutical industry. This hypothesis has been resoundingly validated through empirical analysis, comparative case studies, and policy critiques across Chapters 2–5. The territorial framework, which confines patent rights to the jurisdiction of grant, has proven inadequate in addressing the transnational nature of pharmaceutical innovation, manufacturing, and distribution. However, the system's resilience, manifested through regional adaptations and strategic national policies, offers partial remedies to its inherent inefficiencies.

A. Fragmented Enforcement: Divergent Jurisdictional Outcomes

The territorial system's most glaring flaw lies in its fragmentation, which forces patent holders to navigate disparate legal regimes with conflicting priorities. This fragmentation is exemplified by the imatinib (Gleevec) saga, where Novartis secured patents in the U.S. and EU but faced rejection in India under Section 3(d) of the Patents Act, 1970.⁵⁸⁹ The Indian Supreme Court's refusal to grant a patent for the beta crystalline form of imatinib mesylate-a decision grounded in public health considerations-highlighted how national priorities can disrupt global enforcement coherence.⁵⁹⁰ While the U.S. and EU prioritized incremental innovation, India's interpretation of "enhanced efficacy" under Section 3(d) prioritized access to affordable generics, creating a legal schism that undermines the predictability of patent enforcement.⁵⁹¹

This jurisdictional divergence extends beyond patentability criteria. For instance, the U.S. employs doctrines like §271(f) of the Patent Act to penalize the supply of components for overseas infringement, ⁵⁹² whereas India's lack of analogous provisions

⁵⁸⁹ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India).

⁵⁹⁰ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 3(d), India Code (1970).

⁵⁹¹ Supra note 485 at 1, 6–8.

⁵⁹² 35 U.S.C. § 271(f) (2022).

allows generic manufacturers to export APIs to jurisdictions where patents are in force without domestic liability.⁵⁹³ Such inconsistencies force multinational companies to engage in costly, multi-jurisdictional litigation, while generic producers exploit regulatory arbitrage to supply global markets.

B. Inconsistent Remedies: The EU Seizures and Access Barriers

The 2008-2009 EU seizures of Indian generic medicines in transit underscored the ethical and practical contradictions of territorial enforcement. EU customs authorities, acting on patent holders' requests, detained shipments of legally produced generics (e.g., losartan for hypertension and abacavir for HIV) bound for Latin America and Africa, citing potential infringement of European patents.⁵⁹⁴ These actions, though legally permissible under EU Regulation 1383/2003,⁵⁹⁵ violated the spirit of the Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health, which safeguards access to medicines in developing countries.⁵⁹⁶

The WTO dispute initiated by India and Brazil (DS408) challenged the EU's interpretation of "counterfeit" goods and the extraterritorial reach of its patent laws. 597 The eventual settlement, which limited seizures to cases of proven diversion into EU markets, 598 exposed the tension between aggressive territorial enforcement and global public health imperatives. This episode illustrates how rigid adherence to territoriality can weaponize patent rights to disrupt legitimate trade, disproportionately affecting low-income nations reliant on affordable generics.

C. Resilience Through Regional Adaptations

Despite systemic inefficiencies, the territorial system has demonstrated resilience through regional and national innovations:

1. The EU's Unified Patent Court (UPC)

The UPC, operational since 2023, represents the most ambitious effort to mitigate fragmentation. By enabling pan-European patent enforcement through a single court, the UPC reduces litigation costs and minimizes forum shopping. ⁵⁹⁹ A UPC injunction

⁵⁹³Supra note 472 at. 1032, 1035.

⁵⁹⁴ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

⁵⁹⁵ Council Regulation (EC) No. 1383/2003, 2003 O.J. (L 196) 7.

⁵⁹⁶ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁵⁹⁷ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

⁵⁹⁹ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

against a generic manufacturer, for instance, applies across all participating EU states, streamlining enforcement. However, the UPC's geographic limitations (excluding non-EU states like Switzerland and the UK) and its exclusion from the Hague Judgments Convention perpetuate enforcement gaps beyond Europe. 600

2. India's Compulsory Licensing Regime

India's strategic use of compulsory licensing under Section 84 of the Patents Act exemplifies how national policies can counterbalance territorial rigidity. The grant of a compulsory license to Natco Pharma for Bayer's sorafenib (Nexavar) in 2012 prioritized public health over patent monopolies, enabling domestic production and export to countries lacking manufacturing capacity. This approach, while controversial, has inspired similar measures in Brazil and South Africa, fostering a Global South alliance advocating for TRIPS flexibilities.

3. Anti-Suit Injunctions in China

China's courts have issued anti-suit injunctions to restrain global patent disputes, asserting jurisdiction over multinational licensing terms. In *Huawei v. Conversant*, the Supreme People's Court barred enforcement of a German injunction, signalling a shift toward strategic territorial assertiveness.⁶⁰³ While such measures risk jurisdictional conflicts, they reflect adaptive strategies to counteract fragmentation.

D. The Limits of Resilience

Regional and national adaptations, though innovative, are stopgap solutions. The UPC's success hinges on EU political cohesion, while India's compulsory licensing faces backlash in trade negotiations. Moreover, these measures do not address the root cause of fragmentation: the absence of a global enforcement mechanism. The Hague Judgments Convention's exclusion of IP rights and TRIPS's silence on cross-border remedies perpetuate a system where "islands" of regional coherence exist within a sea of jurisdictional chaos. 605

E. Hypothesis Confirmed, but With Nuance

112

⁶⁰⁰ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019

⁶⁰¹ Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India).

⁶⁰² Frederick M. Abbott, *The WTO Medicines Decision: World Pharmaceutical Trade and the Protection of Public Health*, 99 Am. J. Int'l L. 317, 324–25 (2005)

⁶⁰³ Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China.

⁶⁰⁴ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁶⁰⁵ Supra note 466 at 817, 829–30.

The hypothesis that territoriality is misaligned with globalization is overwhelmingly confirmed. However, the system's resilience through regional cooperation and strategic national policies suggests that reform is possible within the existing framework. India's jurisprudence and the UPC's regional integration demonstrate that sovereignty and globalization need not be mutually exclusive. Yet, without systemic overhauls-such as including IP in the Hague Judgments Convention or expanding TRIPS waivers-the tensions between territorial enforcement and global health equity will persist.

5.2 Key Findings: Bridging Innovation and Access

A. Case Studies as Microcosms of Global Tensions

The case studies examined in this dissertation serve as vivid illustrations of the systemic tensions and policy dilemmas that define cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement. Each case not only reflects the legal and ethical complexities of territoriality but also highlights the broader stakes for innovation, access, and global equity.

Imatinib (Gleevec) Saga

India's rejection of Novartis' patent application for the beta crystalline form of imatinib mesylate under Section 3(d) of the Patents Act, 1970,⁶⁰⁶ was more than a technical decision on patentability. It was a watershed moment that crystallized the ethical imperative to prioritize public health and access to medicines over incremental pharmaceutical innovation. The Supreme Court's ruling in *Novartis AG v. Union of India* (2013⁶⁰⁷ established a high threshold for patenting new forms of known substances, thereby curbing "evergreening" and setting a global precedent for other developing nations. This case demonstrated India's willingness to assert its sovereign right to tailor patent law in accordance with constitutional values and public health needs, even at the risk of diplomatic friction and industry criticism.⁶⁰⁸

The Gleevec saga also exposed the broader consequences of territoriality: while Novartis enjoyed patent protection in the U.S. and EU, Indian generic manufacturers were able to supply affordable versions to the developing world, breaking the monopoly and saving countless lives. This divergence in outcomes across jurisdictions

-

⁶⁰⁶ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, § 3(d), India Code (1970)

⁶⁰⁷ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India)

 $^{^{608}}$ Supra note 485 at 1, 6–8.

underscored the fragmented nature of global patent enforcement and the potential for national law to serve as a tool of health justice.

Natco-Bayer Compulsory License

The grant of India's first compulsory license to Natco Pharma for Bayer's patented cancer drug sorafenib tosylate (Nexavar) in 2012⁶⁰⁹ reinforced the operationalization of TRIPS flexibilities in domestic law. Invoking Section 84 of the Patents Act, the Controller General of Patents found that Bayer had failed to make the drug available at a reasonably affordable price and had not sufficiently "worked" the patent in India.⁶¹⁰ The compulsory license enabled Natco to produce and sell the drug at a fraction of the original price, dramatically increasing access for Indian patients.

However, this landmark use of compulsory licensing also exposed the political economy of enforcement. Developed countries and multinational pharmaceutical companies criticized the decision, warning that it could deter foreign investment and R&D.⁶¹¹ The episode highlighted the diplomatic tensions that can arise when a country exercises its sovereign rights under TRIPS, and the need for careful calibration between public health objectives and international commercial relations.

EU Seizures

The 2008–2009 seizures of Indian generic medicines in transit through European ports, at the instigation of patent holders, brought into sharp relief the collision between territorial enforcement and global trade norms. ⁶¹² Although the generics were lawfully manufactured in India and destined for countries where no relevant patent existed, EU customs authorities detained the shipments on the grounds of potential infringement under European patent law.

This led to a WTO dispute (DS408), with India and Brazil challenging the EU's actions as violations of international trade law and public health commitments.⁶¹³ The controversy prompted regulatory reforms in the EU, limiting the seizure of in-transit goods absent evidence of diversion into EU markets.⁶¹⁴ The case illustrated how

⁶⁰⁹ Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India)

⁶¹⁰ The Patents Act, 1970, § 84.

⁶¹¹ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43

⁶¹² WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012)

⁶¹³ Id

⁶¹⁴ Id

aggressive territorial enforcement can disrupt legitimate trade, impede access to medicines in the Global South, and provoke international legal and diplomatic conflict.

B. Comparative Jurisdictional Strategies

A nuanced comparative analysis reveals that different jurisdictions have adopted distinct strategies to address the cross-border challenges of pharmaceutical patent enforcement, each reflecting underlying policy priorities and legal cultures.

United States

The U.S. patent system is characterized by strong statutory protection, robust litigation, and a willingness to experiment with extraterritorial doctrines. Section 271(f) of the U.S. Patent Act, 615 for example, imposes liability on those who supply components from the U.S. for assembly abroad, closing loopholes that previously allowed infringers to evade domestic enforcement. 616 The Supreme Court's decision in *WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp.* further expanded the reach of U.S. patent law by allowing recovery of damages for certain foreign sales lost due to domestic infringement. 617 However, the U.S. approach has been criticized for prioritizing the interests of patent holders and the pharmaceutical industry over global health equity. The absence of a general compulsory licensing regime and the high cost of litigation can impede access to affordable medicines, particularly for developing countries. 618

European Union

The European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC) and unitary patent system represent the most advanced experiment in supranational patent enforcement. The UPC enables patent holders to obtain pan-European injunctions and damages in a single proceeding, reducing costs and legal uncertainty. However, the UPC's reach is geographically limited, and its mechanisms do not extend to developing economies outside the EU. Moreover, the EU's aggressive border enforcement measures, as seen in the seizures of Indian generics, have sometimes conflicted with its own commitments to public health and global trade norms. The EU model offers efficiency and legal certainty within its borders but fails to address the needs of the Global South.

616 Deepsouth Packing Co. v. Laitram Corp., 406 U.S. 518 (1972).

619 Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

^{615 35} U.S.C. § 271(f) (2022).

⁶¹⁷ WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137–38 (2018).

⁶¹⁸ Supra note 602 at 317, 319–20.

⁶²⁰ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

⁶²¹ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

China

China's approach to pharmaceutical patent enforcement is marked by rapid judicial specialization, administrative innovation, and a pragmatic assertion of sovereignty. The establishment of specialized IP courts and the use of anti-suit injunctions in global licensing disputes reflect China's determination to shape the international patent landscape on its own terms. 622

While China's system is still maturing in terms of transparency and predictability, its willingness to assert jurisdiction over cross-border disputes contrasts with India's more public health-centric model. China's focus on building institutional capacity and technical expertise offers important lessons for India as it seeks to modernize its own enforcement mechanisms.⁶²³

C. India's Balancing Act

India's legal framework, as interpreted in *Novartis AG v. Union of India* and *F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd.*,⁶²⁴ has emerged as a global benchmark for reconciling the competing imperatives of innovation and access. By strictly applying Section 3(d) to prevent evergreening and embracing compulsory licensing under Section 84, India has demonstrated that patent law can be tailored to serve constitutional mandates for public health without entirely sacrificing innovation incentives.

The judiciary's willingness to weigh public interest in granting or denying injunctions, as seen in *F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd.*,⁶²⁵ has further entrenched the principle that patents are privileges, not absolute rights. This approach has inspired similar reforms in other developing countries and has positioned India as a leader in the global movement for access to medicines.

However, significant systemic vulnerabilities remain. India's legal framework does not adequately address cross-border contributory infringement, leaving loopholes for entities that facilitate infringement from within India without directly violating domestic patents. Outdated border measures, limited technical capacity among customs officials, and the absence of a centralized digital enforcement infrastructure further hamper effective cross-border enforcement.

⁶²² Huawei v. Conversant, (2019) Supreme People's Court, China.

⁶²³ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 71 (2020).

⁶²⁴ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71 (Del).

⁶²⁵ Id

⁶²⁶Supra note 472 at. 1032, 1034–36.

These gaps underscore the need for legislative and institutional reform. As India's pharmaceutical industry becomes more integrated into global supply chains, the challenges of enforcing patent rights-while upholding public health commitments-will only intensify. The Indian experience thus offers both a model and a cautionary tale for other countries grappling with the demands of globalization and the imperatives of equity.

5.3 Contributions to Literature and Policy

The findings of this dissertation contribute significantly to both the academic literature on cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement and to the evolving policy discourse, especially from an Indian vantage point. This section delineates the theoretical advances and policy innovations that emerge from the research, situating India's experience within the broader global context.

A. Theoretical Contributions

1. Reconciling TRIPS with National Priorities

One of the dissertation's most salient theoretical contributions is its nuanced analysis of how India's invocation of TRIPS flexibilities fundamentally challenges the prevailing neoliberal orthodoxy in international intellectual property (IP) law. The TRIPS Agreement, while setting minimum standards for patent protection, was often interpreted by developed countries as a vehicle for harmonizing IP enforcement to the benefit of multinational patent holders. However, India's strategic use of compulsory licensing (Section 84), the anti-evergreening provision (Section 3(d)), and parallel importation (Section 107A) demonstrates that TRIPS is not a straitjacket but a framework that accommodates national priorities-especially public health. 1928

This dissertation shows that India's approach is not merely defensive or exceptionalist; rather, it offers a replicable model for other Global South nations seeking to balance innovation incentives with access to medicines. The analysis of landmark cases such as *Novartis AG v. Union of India* and the Natco-Bayer compulsory license illustrates how TRIPS flexibilities can be operationalized in a manner that is both legally robust and ethically defensible.⁶²⁹ By foregrounding constitutional commitments to the right

_

⁶²⁷ Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

⁶²⁸ The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 3(d), 84, 107A, India Code (1970).

⁶²⁹ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India).

to health (Article 21 of the Indian Constitution) and leveraging international law (Doha Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health), India has carved out a normative space for equitable enforcement that resists the hegemony of transnational pharmaceutical interests.⁶³⁰

2. Regionalism as a Stopgap: The Promise and Limits

The dissertation also advances the literature by critically evaluating the role of regionalism as a pragmatic response to the limitations of territorial patent enforcement. The European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC) and unitary patent system are analysed as the most ambitious experiment in supranational patent enforcement. The UPC reduces costs, streamlines litigation, and minimizes forum shopping within the EU, offering a blueprint for efficiency. However, as the research demonstrates, such regional solutions are ultimately bounded by geography and political will; they cannot substitute for a truly global enforcement mechanism.

The proposed SAARC and BRICS frameworks, discussed in Chapter 5, illustrate how regional cooperation among developing countries can provide actionable solutions-such as mutual recognition of judgments, harmonized border measures, and shared patent databases-to reduce enforcement costs and enhance legal certainty. These models, while insufficient for full globalization, represent important incremental progress and underscore the value of South-South solidarity in IP governance.

B. Policy Innovations

1. Ethical Licensing: Aligning Enforcement with Human Rights

A key policy innovation explored in this dissertation is the concept of ethical licensing, particularly in the context of vaccines and biologics. India's experience with voluntary licensing for hepatitis C drugs, and its advocacy for open-access frameworks during the COVID-19 pandemic, provide a template for aligning patent enforcement with the right to health.⁶³⁴

By incorporating access-oriented conditions-such as royalty waivers for low-income countries, technology transfer requirements, and commitments to affordable pricing-

-

⁶³⁰ India Const. art. 21; WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁶³¹ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

⁶³² Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

⁶³³ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998; BRICS Framework Agreement on Intellectual Property Cooperation, 2022

⁶³⁴ Supra note 602 at 317, 324–25.

ethical licensing bridges the gap between innovation and equity. 635 The Medicines Patent Pool and the Open COVID Pledge are cited as global exemplars, but India's proactive role in negotiating such licenses for generic manufacturers demonstrates how national policy can drive global change.⁶³⁶

The dissertation argues that ethical licensing should be institutionalized through statutory mandates for publicly funded research and public-private partnerships, ensuring that life-saving innovations developed with public resources are accessible to all.⁶³⁷ This approach not only fulfils India's constitutional and international obligations but also enhances its soft power as a leader in global health governance.

2. Digital Infrastructure: Addressing Jurisdictional Ambiguities

Another significant policy contribution is the proposal for a National Patent Enforcement Portal and the adoption of blockchain-tracked supply chains. As detailed in Chapter 3, technological disruptions-such as 3D printing, decentralized manufacturing, and digital blueprints-have rendered traditional enforcement paradigms obsolete.638

A centralized digital portal, integrating patent registrations, litigation statuses, and compulsory licenses, would enhance transparency, facilitate real-time monitoring, and support evidence-based enforcement. 639 Blockchain technology, by enabling tamperevident tracking of pharmaceuticals from manufacturer to end-user, can help customs authorities and courts verify the provenance of goods, detect counterfeits, and resolve cross-border disputes more efficiently.⁶⁴⁰

These digital innovations address the jurisdictional ambiguities that arise in decentralized manufacturing and cross-border trade, providing a scalable solution that can be adapted by other countries facing similar challenges. ⁶⁴¹ By investing in digital infrastructure, India can modernize its enforcement regime and set a global standard for technologically enabled IP governance.

C. Synthesis and Broader Implications

⁶³⁵ Medicines Patent Pool, Annual Report 2023, at 5-7.

⁶³⁶ Open COVID Pledge, Model License, 2021.

⁶³⁷ Department of Pharmaceuticals, Government of India, National Pharmaceutical Policy 2023, at 18-

⁶³⁸ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022-23, at 17-19

⁶³⁹ Id. at 21–22.

⁶⁴⁰ Id. at 23.

⁶⁴¹ Supra note 494 at 1, 9–11.

The dissertation's contributions extend beyond doctrinal or procedural reforms; they signal a paradigm shift in the understanding of cross-border patent enforcement. By centring the analysis on India's unique legal and policy evolution, the research challenges the assumption that strong, uniform patent enforcement is always optimal. Instead, it demonstrates that flexibility, regionalism, and ethical stewardship are essential for reconciling the competing demands of innovation and access in a globalized world.

Furthermore, the research highlights the importance of inclusive policymaking-engaging stakeholders from patient groups, public health advocates, generic manufacturers, and innovators-to ensure that reforms are both effective and socially legitimate.⁶⁴² The Indian experience, as documented in this dissertation, offers valuable lessons for other jurisdictions grappling with the pressures of globalization, technological change, and public health emergencies

5.4 Limitations and Unresolved Challenges

While this dissertation offers substantive insights into the cross-border enforcement of pharmaceutical patents, it is essential to acknowledge the boundaries of its scope and the enduring challenges that remain unresolved. These limitations are not merely academic; they reflect the practical and political realities that confront policymakers, courts, and industry actors in India and around the world.

A. Sectoral Focus: Beyond Pharmaceuticals

A central limitation of this dissertation is its primary focus on the pharmaceutical sector. The analysis has centred on the unique tensions between innovation and access that define pharmaceutical patent disputes, drawing on case studies such as the *Novartis AG* v. *Union of India* decision, the Natco-Bayer compulsory license, and the EU seizures of Indian generics in transit.⁶⁴³ This focus is justified by the sector's critical importance to public health and its prominence in global IP debates.

However, the cross-border enforcement challenges explored here are not unique to pharmaceuticals. Emerging technologies-such as artificial intelligence (AI), digital health, and green (environmentally sustainable) technologies-present new and evolving

_

⁶⁴² World Health Organization, Equitable Access to COVID-19 Tools, 2022.

⁶⁴³ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); Natco Pharma Ltd. v. Bayer Corp., Compulsory License Order No. 45/2012 (Controller of Patents, India); WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012).

questions that remain outside the scope of this work.⁶⁴⁴ For example, AI-generated inventions challenge traditional notions of inventorship and territoriality, while green technologies raise issues of global public goods and climate justice. 645

The exclusion of these sectors means that the findings and recommendations of this dissertation may not be directly transferable to other domains. Future research should explore how the lessons from pharmaceutical patent enforcement can inform crossborder governance in these rapidly evolving fields, particularly as India positions itself as a leader in both AI and climate innovation. 646

B. Empirical Gaps: Litigation Data and Systemic Delays

Another limitation is the paucity of comprehensive empirical data on the costs, duration, and outcomes of patent litigation in India. While this dissertation draws on reported cases and policy reports, there is limited quantitative analysis of:

- The average time taken to resolve cross-border patent disputes in Indian courts;
- The financial costs incurred by patentees and generic manufacturers in multijurisdictional litigation;
- The frequency and effectiveness of border enforcement actions by Indian customs authorities.

This empirical gap is not unique to India; it reflects a broader challenge in IP scholarship, where data on litigation and enforcement outcomes are often fragmented or unavailable. 647 As a result, some policy recommendations-such as the call for specialized patent benches or digital enforcement portals-are grounded in comparative analysis and qualitative reasoning rather than robust statistical evidence.

Addressing these gaps will require systematic data collection by the Indian Patent Office, the judiciary, and customs authorities, as well as collaboration with academic researchers. Such data would enable more granular analysis of enforcement bottlenecks, resource allocation, and the real-world impact of legal reforms.⁶⁴⁸

C. Political Barriers: The Limits of Legal Reform

⁶⁴⁷ Supra note 466 at 817, 820–21.

⁶⁴⁴ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374, 379 (5th ed. 2022).

⁶⁴⁵ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 17–19; Paris Agreement, Dec. 12, 2015, T.I.A.S. No.

⁶⁴⁶Supra note 472 at. 1032, 1034–36.

⁶⁴⁸ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 21–22

Perhaps the most daunting limitations are political and structural. Despite India's proactive advocacy for TRIPS flexibilities, compulsory licensing, and equitable access frameworks, the international IP regime remains resistant to transformative change.⁶⁴⁹

1. TRIPS Waiver Limitations

The India-South Africa proposal for a comprehensive TRIPS waiver during the COVID-19 pandemic was ultimately diluted at the WTO, with the final decision covering only vaccines and imposing procedural hurdles that limited its practical effect. This outcome highlights the entrenched interests and negotiating power of developed countries and multinational patent holders, who continue to resist broader waivers or reforms that might undermine their commercial advantage.

2. Pressures from Bilateral and Regional Agreements

India faces ongoing pressure in bilateral and regional trade negotiations-particularly with the European Union and the United States-to adopt TRIPS-plus standards such as data exclusivity, patent term extensions, and stricter border enforcement measures.⁶⁵¹ These demands threaten to erode the policy space that India has carved out through its innovative use of TRIPS flexibilities and public health safeguards.

The experience of negotiating the India-EU Free Trade Agreement (FTA) illustrates the difficulty of reconciling global trade objectives with national priorities. Despite years of negotiation, India has steadfastly resisted provisions that would compromise access to medicines, but the risk of policy concessions remains ever-present.⁶⁵²

3. Fragmented Global Governance

Efforts to create harmonized or supranational enforcement mechanisms-such as the Hague Judgments Convention or the European Unified Patent Court-have either excluded intellectual property or remained geographically limited. The absence of a global patent court or mutual recognition system means that duplicative litigation, inconsistent outcomes, and enforcement gaps are likely to persist.

4. Domestic Political Economy

_

⁶⁴⁹ WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁶⁵⁰ WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022).

⁶⁵¹ U.S. Trade Representative, 2024 Special 301 Report (Apr. 2024), at 42–43.

⁶⁵² Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1; Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

⁶⁵³ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019.

Within India, the political economy of patent reform is shaped by competing interests: domestic pharmaceutical manufacturers, multinational corporations, public health advocates, and government agencies.⁶⁵⁴ Building consensus for legislative amendments-such as recognizing cross-border contributory infringement or expanding border measures-can be slow and contentious, particularly when reforms are perceived as favouring one group over another.

D. The Challenge of Technological Disruption

Finally, the pace of technological change adds another layer of uncertainty. Decentralized manufacturing (e.g., 3D printing), digital blueprints, and blockchain-based supply chains are already testing the limits of traditional enforcement paradigms. The law often lags behind technology, and the regulatory frameworks proposed in this dissertation will require continual adaptation to remain effective.

E. The Path Forward: Embracing Uncertainty

These limitations do not diminish the value of the dissertation's findings; rather, they underscore the complexity and dynamism of cross-border patent enforcement in a globalized world. Policymakers, scholars, and practitioners must approach reform with humility, recognizing that no single model or solution will suffice. Ongoing empirical research, stakeholder engagement, and international dialogue will be essential to address the unresolved challenges identified here

5.5 Forward-Looking Recommendations

The preceding chapters have illuminated the profound challenges and limited successes of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement in a globalized world. As India stands at the crossroads of innovation and access, the path forward demands bold, multilevel reforms-domestically, regionally, and globally. The recommendations below are grounded in the dissertation's findings and aim to chart a pragmatic yet visionary course for India and the international community.

A. For India

1. Legislative Reforms: Bridging the Territorial Gap

India's Patents Act, 1970, while robust in its public health safeguards, requires targeted amendments to address the realities of cross-border infringement:

⁶⁵⁴ Department of Pharmaceuticals, Government of India, National Pharmaceutical Policy 2023, at 18-

⁶⁵⁵ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 23.

- Recognize Cross-Border Contributory Infringement: Amend the Act to impose liability on entities that knowingly supply active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs), intermediates, or manufacturing tools from India for use in infringing activities abroad, even if the final act of infringement occurs outside India. This would close a critical loophole exploited by global supply chains and align Indian law with international best practices, such as 35 U.S.C. § 271(f) in the United States.
- Modernize Border Measures: Revise the Intellectual Property Rights
 (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, to empower customs authorities to
 detain exports infringing foreign patents, provided the destination country has a
 valid patent and due process safeguards are in place.⁶⁵⁷ Establish expert panels
 to assist customs in technically complex pharmaceutical cases and ensure that
 legitimate generic exports are not wrongfully detained.⁶⁵⁸

2. Judicial Capacity Building: Toward Specialized and Responsive Adjudication

The complexity of pharmaceutical patent disputes-especially those involving biologics, biosimilars, and AI-driven inventions-demands specialized judicial expertise:

- Establish Specialized IP Benches: Create dedicated patent benches within
 High Courts, modelled after China's specialized IP courts, with judges trained
 in pharmaceutical sciences, biotechnology, and digital technologies.⁶⁵⁹ These
 benches should adopt fast-track procedures for public health-related disputes
 and develop jurisprudence on cross-border and digital infringement.
- Continuous Judicial Education: Institute regular training programs in partnership with the National Judicial Academy, WIPO, and other international bodies to keep judges abreast of global IP trends, evolving technologies, and comparative enforcement strategies.⁶⁶⁰

3. Global Leadership: Shaping the Future of IP Governance

India's proactive diplomacy during the COVID-19 pandemic-championing the TRIPS waiver and supplying vaccines to over 60% of the global market-demonstrates its capacity for global leadership.⁶⁶¹ This leadership must be institutionalized:

657 Intellectual Property Rights (Imported Goods) Enforcement Rules, 2007, G.S.R. 451(E) (India)

⁶⁵⁶Supra note 472 at. 1032, 1035

⁶⁵⁸ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 21–22.

⁶⁵⁹ Patent Law of the People's Republic of China art. 71 (2020); Delhi High Court Intellectual Property Division Rules, 2021.

⁶⁶⁰ World Intellectual Property Organization, WIPO Academy Annual Report 2023, at 15–16.

⁶⁶¹ Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Government of India, Press Release on Vaccine Exports (2021).

- Champion a WTO Pharmaceutical Waiver Expansion: Advocate for a permanent, flexible TRIPS waiver that covers not just vaccines but also diagnostics, therapeutics, and future pandemic-related technologies. 662 Leverage coalitions with BRICS, African Union, and other Global South nations to build consensus and apply diplomatic pressure.
- Promote South-South Technology Transfer: Facilitate regional patent pools
 and technology transfer agreements, particularly for climate-sensitive
 pharmaceuticals and neglected diseases, ensuring that innovations developed in
 India benefit other low- and middle-income countries.⁶⁶³

B. For the International Community

1. Revive and Expand the Hague Judgments Convention

The exclusion of intellectual property from the 2019 Hague Judgments Convention perpetuates duplicative litigation and enforcement fragmentation.⁶⁶⁴ India, in concert with like-minded nations, should:

 Advocate for Inclusion of IP Judgments: Push for a supplemental protocol or future revision of the Convention to enable the recognition and enforcement of patent judgments across jurisdictions, with appropriate safeguards for public policy and due process.⁶⁶⁵ This would reduce litigation costs, enhance legal certainty, and facilitate the global movement of medicines.

2. South-South Collaboration: Building Equitable Access Frameworks

- Expand the Medicines Patent Pool: Encourage the Pool to include not only HIV, hepatitis, and COVID-19 medicines but also climate-sensitive drugs and green technologies. This would facilitate voluntary licensing, technology transfer, and local production in low-income regions, addressing both health and environmental imperatives.
- Regional Patent Databases and Mutual Recognition: Support the development of shared patent databases and protocols for mutual recognition of

⁶⁶² WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022).

⁶⁶³ BRICS, Joint Statement on Climate-Sensitive Pharmaceuticals, 2023.

⁶⁶⁴ Hague Conference on Private International Law, Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters art. 2(1)(m), July 2, 2019

⁶⁶⁵ Supra notes 466 at 817, 829–30.

⁶⁶⁶ Medicines Patent Pool, Annual Report 2023, at 5–7.

judgments within SAARC, BRICS, and other regional blocs, fostering transparency and reducing administrative duplication. 667

C. A Post-Pandemic Imperative: Reimagining Patent Governance

The COVID-19 pandemic exposed the fragility and inequity of the status quo. Despite record-breaking scientific collaboration, the distribution of vaccines and therapeutics was hampered by patent disputes, export controls, and supply chain bottlenecks. 668 India's role as the "pharmacy of the Global South" was both celebrated and tested, as it navigated export bans, foreign patent claims, and global diplomatic pressures.

Looking ahead, the intersection of pandemics, climate change, and technological disruption will only intensify the pressure on the global patent system. As new classes of medicines-such as mRNA vaccines for infectious and climate-related diseases-become central to public health, the risks of access barriers and enforcement fragmentation will grow.⁶⁶⁹

India's Model for the Future: India's approach-anchored in TRIPS flexibilities, public health safeguards, and ethical licensing-offers a template for a new global covenant on patent governance.⁶⁷⁰ This model does not reject innovation incentives but insists that they be balanced with the right to health and the needs of the world's most vulnerable populations. The next generation of international agreements must institutionalize these principles, ensuring that patents serve as engines of progress rather than obstacles to survival.

D. Implementation and Monitoring

- **Stakeholder Engagement:** Reforms must be developed in consultation with all stakeholders-innovators, generic manufacturers, patient groups, and public health experts-to ensure legitimacy and effectiveness. ⁶⁷¹
- **Empirical Data Collection:** Invest in systematic data collection on litigation outcomes, enforcement costs, and access impacts to inform evidence-based policymaking and future research.⁶⁷²

_

⁶⁶⁷ South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

⁶⁶⁸ WTO Dispute DS408: European Union and a Member State – Seizure of Generic Drugs in Transit (2012); WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022). ⁶⁶⁹ Paris Agreement, Dec. 12, 2015, T.I.A.S. No. 16-1104.

⁶⁷⁰ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India); WTO Ministerial Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2.

⁶⁷¹ Department of Pharmaceuticals, Government of India, National Pharmaceutical Policy 2023, at 18–19.

⁶⁷² Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022–23, at 23.

• Adaptive Legal Frameworks: Recognize that technological and epidemiological landscapes are fluid. Laws and policies must be revisited regularly to address new challenges, such as AI-generated drugs, 3D-printed medicines, and climate-driven health crises.⁶⁷³

E. Concluding Vision

The dissertation concludes that while true global patent enforcement remains a distant goal, incremental reforms-rooted in legislative innovation, institutional capacity, and international solidarity-can meaningfully reduce inefficiencies and inequities. India, by embracing its dual identity as both an innovator and a champion of access, is uniquely positioned to lead this transformation. The post-pandemic world demands nothing less than a reimagined patent system: one that is resilient, inclusive, and fit for the challenges of the 21st century

5.6 Conclusion

The territorial patent system, though increasingly strained by the forces of globalization, remains a foundational pillar of international intellectual property law. Its flaws are evident: fragmentation, inefficiency, and the potential for conflicting outcomes across jurisdictions. Yet, as this dissertation has shown, the system is not obsolete. Its continued relevance lies in its adaptability-its capacity to absorb, respond to, and sometimes even leverage the pressures of a rapidly integrating world.

A. The Paradox of Territoriality in a Globalized Economy

The pharmaceutical industry exemplifies the paradox at the heart of modern patent law. As detailed in Chapter 1, pharmaceutical innovation, manufacturing, and distribution are now inherently transnational.⁶⁷⁴ A single drug may be invented in the United States, developed and clinically tested in Europe, manufactured in India, and sold worldwide.⁶⁷⁵ The territorial nature of patents-codified in the Paris Convention and reaffirmed by the TRIPS Agreement-means that rights and enforcement are jurisdictionally bounded, even as commerce and supply chains transcend borders.⁶⁷⁶ This misalignment produces a host of challenges:

⁶⁷³ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374, 379 (5th ed. 2022).

⁶⁷⁴ Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, Intellectual Property Law 374, 379 (5th ed. 2022).

⁶⁷⁵ Indian Patent Office, Annual Report 2022-23, at 17-19

⁶⁷⁶ Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property art. 4bis(1), Mar. 20, 1883, 828 U.N.T.S. 305; Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, 1869 U.N.T.S. 299.

- **Fragmented Enforcement:** Patent holders must litigate in multiple countries, often facing inconsistent outcomes and duplicative costs.⁶⁷⁷
- Regulatory Arbitrage: Generic manufacturers may exploit gaps between jurisdictions, producing in countries where patents are absent or unenforced and exporting to protected markets.⁶⁷⁸
- Access vs. Innovation: National courts, such as the Indian Supreme Court in *Novartis AG v. Union of India*, may prioritize public health over patent protection, while others uphold strong exclusivity-leading to global disparities in access to medicines.⁶⁷⁹

B. Adaptability and Resilience: Regional and Judicial Innovation

Despite these tensions, the territorial patent system has demonstrated remarkable resilience. Regional mechanisms, such as the European Union's Unified Patent Court (UPC), have begun to bridge the enforcement gap within specific geographies, allowing for more efficient and harmonized adjudication. The UPC's ability to issue pan-European injunctions and damages in a single proceeding is a testament to the potential of regional integration, even if its reach is geographically limited.

India's own judicial pragmatism has further illustrated the system's adaptability. The Indian judiciary, through a series of landmark decisions, has interpreted domestic law in a manner that both honours international obligations and advances constitutional commitments to public health.⁶⁸¹ The use of compulsory licensing, the strict application of Section 3(d) to prevent evergreening, and the balancing of injunctive relief with public interest considerations have set global benchmarks for reconciling innovation with access.⁶⁸²

Moreover, the emergence of doctrines such as anti-suit injunctions in China and the willingness of courts in the U.S. and EU to experiment with extraterritorial reach (e.g., §271(f) in the U.S., long-arm jurisdiction in the EU) demonstrate that the legal community is not blind to the demands of a globalized economy. These innovations, while piecemeal and sometimes controversial, reflect an ongoing search for equilibrium between sovereignty and interconnectedness.

⁶⁷⁷ Supra note 665 at 817, 820–21.

⁶⁷⁸ Supra note 472 at. 1032, 1034–36.

⁶⁷⁹ Novartis AG v. Union of India, (2013) 6 SCC 1 (India)

⁶⁸⁰ Agreement on a Unified Patent Court, Jan. 19, 2013, 2013 O.J. (C 175) 1.

⁶⁸¹ Novartis AG, (2013) 6 SCC 1; F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Cipla Ltd., 2008 (37) PTC 71 (Del).

⁶⁸² The Patents Act, No. 39 of 1970, §§ 3(d), 84, India Code (1970).

^{683 35} U.S.C. § 271(f) (2022); Council Regulation (EC) No. 1383/2003, 2003 O.J. (L 196) 7.

C. The Imperative for Systemic Reform

However, this dissertation concludes that adaptability alone is insufficient. Without systemic reform, the fundamental misalignment between globalization and territoriality will only intensify. The COVID-19 pandemic starkly revealed the dangers of a fragmented enforcement regime: while scientific collaboration reached new heights, access to vaccines and therapeutics was hampered by patent disputes, export controls, and supply chain bottlenecks.⁶⁸⁴

As climate change accelerates the spread of infectious diseases and as new technologies (such as AI-driven drug discovery and 3D printing) further complicate the enforcement landscape, the stakes will rise. The risk is not merely inefficiency, but the possibility that lifesaving technologies will remain out of reach for millions due to legal and political barriers.

D. India's Unique Position: From Critic to Leader

India's experience places it in a unique position within the global IP system. As both a beneficiary of the current regime (through its vibrant generic pharmaceutical industry) and a critic (through its advocacy for TRIPS flexibilities and access to medicines), India embodies the dualities and contradictions of the territorial system.⁶⁸⁵

This dual identity confers both responsibility and opportunity. India is well-placed to lead a new coalition of nations-particularly in the Global South-that advocates for a reimagined patent governance model. By championing legislative reforms (such as recognizing cross-border contributory infringement), building judicial and administrative capacity, and leveraging its diplomatic influence in forums like the WTO, BRICS, and SAARC, India can help shape a more equitable and effective global enforcement architecture.⁶⁸⁶

E. Patents in Service of Humanity

Ultimately, the dissertation affirms that patents must serve humanity, not just markets. The right to health, enshrined in both the Indian Constitution and international human rights law, demands that innovation be harnessed for the common good.⁶⁸⁷ This does not mean abandoning the patent system, but rather reforming it to ensure that

⁶⁸⁴ WTO, Ministerial Decision on the TRIPS Agreement, WT/MIN(22)/30 (June 17, 2022).

⁶⁸⁵ Supra note 602 at 317, 324–25.

⁶⁸⁶ BRICS, Joint Statement on Climate-Sensitive Pharmaceuticals, 2023; South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, SAARC Framework Agreement on Cooperation in Science and Technology, 1998.

⁶⁸⁷ India Const. art. 21; International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights art. 12, Dec. 16, 1966, 993 U.N.T.S. 3.

exclusivity is balanced by access, that innovation is rewarded but not at the expense of the vulnerable, and that legal frameworks evolve in step with technological and social change.

The path forward is neither simple nor linear. True global patent enforcement, harmonized across jurisdictions and responsive to the needs of all, remains a distant goal. But as this dissertation has shown, incremental progress is possible-and necessary. Regional cooperation, ethical licensing, digital infrastructure, and inclusive policymaking are all tools that can help bridge the gap between territoriality and globalization.

In closing, the future of cross-border pharmaceutical patent enforcement will be shaped by the willingness of lawmakers, judges, and policymakers to embrace reform, to learn from India's pragmatic and principled approach, and to place the interests of humanity at the heart of the patent system. The time for that transformation is now.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

I. BOOKS AND E-BOOKS

- P. Narayanan, *Intellectual Property Law* (6th ed. Eastern Book Company 2017).
- Lionel Bently & Brad Sherman, *Intellectual Property Law* (4th ed. Oxford University Press 2018).
- W.R. Cornish & David Llewelyn, *Intellectual Property: Patents, Copyright, Trademarks and Allied Rights* (8th ed. Sweet & Maxwell 2013).
- Jay Dratler Jr. & Stephen McJohn, *Intellectual Property Law: Commercial, Creative, and Industrial Property* (West Academic Publishing 2021).
- Carlos M. Correa, *Public Health and Patent Legislation in Developing Countries* (South Centre 2001).

II. ARTICLES

- Frederick M. Abbott, *The Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health: Lighting a Dark Corner at the WTO*, 5 J. Int'l Econ. L. 469 (2002).
- Srividhya Ragavan, Patent and Trade Disparities in Developing Countries, 26
 Cardozo Arts & Ent. L.J. 835 (2009).
- Peter K. Yu, Enforcement, Enforcement, What Enforcement?, 52 Idea 233 (2012).
- Rochelle Cooper Dreyfuss, TRIPS and Essential Medicines: Implications of India's Novartis Case, 20 J. Intell. Prop. L. 1 (2012).
- Shamnad Basheer & Prashant Reddy, *The "Efficacy" of Indian Patent Law: Ironing Out the Creases in Section 3(d)*, 5 Scripted 232 (2008).
- Henning Grosse Ruse-Khan, Time for a Paradigm Shift? Exploring Max Planck Principles for Intellectual Property Provisions in Bilateral and Regional Agreements, 13 Max Planck UNYB 317 (2009).
- Bryan Mercurio, TRIPS-plus Provisions in FTAs: Recent Trends, 5 U. Pa. E.
 Asia L. Rev. 25 (2009).

- Graeme B. Dinwoodie, *Developing a Private International Intellectual Property Law: The Demise of Territoriality?*, 51 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 711 (2009).
- Marketa Trimble, *The Territoriality Referendum*, 45 U.C. Davis L. Rev. 565 (2011).
- Carlos M. Correa, *Implications of the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health*, 2 WHO Bulletin 246 (2002).
- Bhaven Sampat & Ken Shadlen, TRIPS Implementation and Secondary Pharmaceutical Patenting in Brazil and India, 8 WHO Bull. 692 (2011).
- Thomas Cottier, *Intellectual Property and International Trade: TRIPS Compliance and Beyond*, 35 Mich. J. Int'l L. 633 (2014).

III. INTERNATIONAL STATUTES & RESOLUTIONS

- Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Annex 1C, 1869 U.N.T.S.
- Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, World Trade Org. Ministerial Conf., 4th Sess., Nov. 14, 2001, WT/MIN(01)/DEC/2, 41 I.L.M. 755 (2002)
- Convention on the Grant of European Patents (European Patent Convention),
 Oct. 5, 1973, 1065 U.N.T.S. 199
- Hague Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters, Nov. 2, 2019, 3704 U.N.T.S. 267
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, Dec. 16, 1966,
 993 U.N.T.S. 3
- Paris Agreement, Dec. 12, 2015, U.N. Doc. FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1, 55
 Int'l Leg. Mat. 743 (2016)
- Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property, Mar. 20, 1883, 828
 U.N.T.S. 305

IV. WEBSITES

- World Trade Organization, Overview: the TRIPS Agreement, https://www.wto.org/english/tratop e/trips e/intel2 e.htm.
- Unified Patent Court, About the UPC, https://www.unified-patent-court.org/
- WIPO Lex Database, https://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/.

- Medicines Patent Pool, https://medicinespatentpool.org/.
- Indian Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, https://dpiit.gov.in/.

PDS CERTIFICATE



The National University of Advanced Legal Studies (NUALS)

CERTIFICATE OF PLAGIARISM CHECK

1.	Name of the Research Scholar	SHIMLEEL I. THAIV
2.	Title of Thesis /Dissertation	CHALLENGES IN CROSS BORDER PATENT ENFORCEMENT: WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY
3.	Name of the Supervisors	DR. ATHIRA P. S.
4.	Department/ Research Centre	INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW
5.	Similar content (%) Identified	8
6.	Acceptable Maximum Limit	10
7.	Software Used	Turnitin - iThenticate
8.	Date of Verification	27-05-2025

^{*} Report on plagiarism check, items with % of similarity is attached

Checked by (with Name, Designation & Signature):

Name & Signature of the Researcher: SHIMLEEL I. THAIV

Name & Signature of the Supervisor: DR. ATHIRA P. S.